

Scottish Public Health Network (ScotPHN) An Overview of Local Authority Powers Relating to Public Health Lead Author: Julie Arnot September 2019

# Contents

Acknowledgements	1
Preface	2
1. Introduction	3
2. Powers, Duties and Local Authorities	6
2.1. The Powers and Duties of Local Authorities	6
2.2. Barriers and Facilitators in the Use of Powers	7
2.3. Austerity, Financial and Staffing Challenges	9
3. The Powers	11
3.1. Advancing Well-being	12
3.2. Air Quality, Active Travel and Transport	14
3.2.1. Air Quality	18
3.2.2. Road Use	27
3.2.3. Cycling	30
3.2.4. Parking	31
3.2.5. Speed, Traffic Calming and Footways	34
3.2.6. Housing, Active Travel and Public Transport	37
3.2.7. Street Design	37
3.3. Public Transport: Bus Provision	38
3.4. Open Space, Greenspace and Land Access	41
3.5. Environment: Litter, Fly Tipping, Dog Fouling and Noise	48
3.6. Recreation and Culture	54
3.7. Heat and Electricity: Generation and Sale	55
3.8. Alcohol Licensing	60
3.9. Gambling	64
3.10. Sexual Entertainment Venues	69
3.11. Housing	70
3.12. Local Food Environment	78
3.13. Economic Development, Regeneration and Procurement	82
3.14. Welfare and Financial Inclusion	89
3.15. Children and Young People	91
3.16. Carers	96
3.17. Miscellaneous	97
References	99

# Acknowledgements

Julie Arnot would like to thank the following individuals for contributing information or advice, opinion or clarification of the powers to support this work:

- Glasgow City Council Legal Services
- John Alexander (Dundee City Council)
- Shaw Anderson (Glasgow City Council)
- Duncan Booker (Glasgow City Council)
- Lisa Borthwick (Shelter Scotland)
- Katharine Brough (Cycling Scotland)
- Fiona Crawford (GCPH)
- Nicky Coia (Glasgow City HSCP)
- John Donnelly (Go Bike)
- Suzanne Connolly (NHS Health Scotland)
- Ian Findley (Paths for All)
- Colin Hegarty (Keep Scotland Beautiful)
- Colin Howden (Transform Scotland)
- Sandra McDermott (Glasgow City Council)
- Louise MacKenzie (Glasgow City Council)
- Linda Morris (Glasgow City HSCP)
- Julie Procter (Greenspace Scotland)
- Jill Muirie (GCPH)
- Paul Moseley (Scottish Futures Trust)
- Anna Richardson (Glasgow City Council)
- Peter Rawcliffe (Scottish Natural Heritage)
- Lynne Short (Dundee City Council)
- Elaina Smith (Glasgow City HSCP)
- Nichola Brown (Glasgow City HSCP)
- Gavin Thomson (Friends of the Earth)
- Alexander Quayle (Sustrans)
- Sara Spencer (CPAG)
- Kimi Smith (Scottish Government)

# Preface

From its earliest years, the practice of effective public health has been in the business of understanding how the civil (and criminal) law helps to create and maintain the health of the public we serve. Over time, such laws have become less the business of professionals who contribute to the public's health and more the responsibilities of the agencies – especially local authorities – and their officers.

As a result of which the people who work in public health have become less knowledgeable about the statutory frameworks and the duties and powers they contain. At the same time, as public health in Scotland is seeking to become more focussed on a whole system approach to public health, with a renewed emphasis on the contributions of our local authority partners in community planning, and integration authorities.

This document is intended to help busy public health professionals understand better some of the key powers that are vested by statute in Scottish local authorities which help protect and improve the health of local populations. It is not exhaustive, nor can it be treated as an authoritative statement on what must be done, but it does help us to explore what the power is, how it seems to be interpreted, and how it may be used.

But, perhaps most important of all, it provides a way of help us reconnect with the way in which our local authority partners practice and deliver public health.

hde Cachecher

Linda de Caestecker

Director of Public Health, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde

August 2019

# 1. Introduction

## <u>Aim</u>

This document is a snapshot of the powers granted by law to Local Authorities in Scotland that relate to Public Health. It is largely based on information drawn from secondary sources, with wider contextual information provided where possible by local professionals with experience in the use of such powers.

It aims to support public health and health improvement colleagues' understanding of the opportunities and limitations of using such powers in delivering better health and wellbeing. For some colleagues, given their focus on activity in local areas and their practical experience of working with Local Authority staff, it is anticipated that there will be some familiarity with many aspects of this document. However, it is hoped that the report at least brings all of this information into a single place. It may also allow public health and health improvement colleagues to identify and align evidence, data, advice and engagement across some of the themes identified below, when moving towards a greater degree of "whole system" working.

The state of public health or health improvement engagement with Local Authorities is not considered by this work, though making further headway in relation to the use of Local Authority powers is clearly dependent on engagement and on public health and health improvement influence. That public health and health improvement colleagues are shaping and influencing their Local Authority partners is clear. At the local level the picture is bound to be complex, reflecting a wide range of local circumstances, opportunities and the current and historic availability of resources. In this situation it is hoped that the current report would help support more broadly based engagement with colleagues within Local Authorities and amongst community planning partners.

## <u>Scope</u>

This document looks specifically at the powers of Local Authorities across a wide range of policy areas that relate to Public Health. It looks at those powers that, if applied successfully, could positively impact, directly or indirectly, on the environmental, economic and social factors that shape physical and mental health. However there are some important limitations that must be noted.

 Given the range of Local Authority activities, and the challenge of identifying powers across a scattered evidence base, it cannot be assumed that this list of powers is comprehensive. It is also a challenge to determine how, and where, many of the powers listed in this document are used successfully without some attempt to survey all Local Authorities in Scotland, which is beyond the scope of this work.

- 2. Whilst recognising that public health problems and solutions are complex and require a blend of activities at local and national level by various actors working in tandem to achieve change, the report does not consider which of the powers, or combination of powers identified below could, if successfully implemented, be most useful in having a positive impact on a particular public health problem. This might be a worthwhile future iteration or spin off from this work.
- 3. The work does not consider how Local Authorities might use a specific power to fulfil its functions. Nor does it look at the ways in which using a power may vary from Local Authority to Local Authority.
- 4. The report specifically does not attempt to provide legal advice or advice around how the use of certain powers might achieve a particular outcome. Moreover the complexity of the law and the powers contained within the legislation is not easily conveyed in the short paragraphs about each power provided below. How the powers might play out 'on the ground' within the context of ever changing social, physical and commercial environments, would present a significant challenge and is clearly outwith the scope of this work. That is not to say that accessing legal advice that may generate a better understanding of how powers, and duties, may be applied, would clearly be of benefit for public health and health improvement staff for some of the issues highlighted below.

## <u>Method</u>

There is no central repository of Local Authority powers. The powers listed below have been identified from a wide range of secondary sources, particularly legislative, Scottish Government strategy, guidance and policy documents and Glasgow City Council's overview of their duties and powers.<sup>1</sup> These sources do not necessarily tell us if powers are applied, how they work, or why they succeed or fail.

To support this largely desk-based exercise, further information and opinion has been generated by conversations (i.e. not formal qualitative interviewing) with a number of contributors based within Local Authorities, the third sector and 'pressure groups' around the identification of powers, how they think some powers have been or could be used, as well as providing information about the wider context. A number of organisations were e-mailed to introduce this work, and most responded favourably. It was not possible however to identify contributors across all of the topic areas identified below and it would be particularly useful to e.g. explore some of the issues around alcohol licensing and gambling.

### **Document Development and Feedback**

The content of this document is not 'set in stone'. The legislative landscape around powers will always change and it is important to be aware for example that the Transport (Scotland) Bill<sup>2</sup> and the Planning (Scotland) Bill,<sup>3</sup> which proposes major changes to the planning system,<sup>4</sup> are currently working their way through the Scottish Parliament. These could impact on the powers listed below and bolster how Local Authorities pursue activity across a number of policy areas. New legislation, powers and issues or challenges around how powers might or might not be used, can be incorporated into this document as they emerge.

It is hoped that those who receive this document will provide feedback in terms of its usefulness and how it may be developed further. Contributions in terms of information to support its ongoing development and to highlight key gaps or errors are welcome.

# 2. Powers, Duties and Local Authorities

## 2.1. The Powers and Duties of Local Authorities

When a Local Authority in Scotland provides a social care service, or builds a road, creates a new public park, or undertakes any activities, it does so within the scope of a framework of its roles and responsibilities that have been set out in law. These statutory frameworks not only describe the activities (or functions) that the Local Authority provides for local people, they also set out whether the Local Authority must provide the activity or function.

Those services or activities that are set out as a statutory (or sometimes a mandatory) duty, are considered to be a "must do" for the Local Authority. For example, they have a statutory duty that requires them to deliver a range of services. Two common statutory duties are the provision of education for 5 to 16 year olds and of social work services. It should be remembered though, whilst a statutory duty of a Local Authority sets out that something must be provided, it usually does not say how it is provided. That is for the Local Authority to decide.

Local Authorities also have a range of functions that they can provide. These are what statutory frameworks set out as discretionary powers to deliver certain types of services, manage how some activities are undertaken through enforcing legal requirements, or by imposing fines. Powers used in this way are called regulatory powers and include activities such as maintaining trading standards, protecting environmental health and licensing for taxis.<sup>5</sup>

In addition to regulatory powers, Local Authorities also have permissive powers that can be used to make changes across the broader economic, social and physical environment, especially when Local Authorities use their powers to help deliver locally agreed plans: for example, in supporting economic development and regeneration or building a new leisure centre.

As with statutory duties, a power allows the Local Authority to undertake activities for the local public. But it does not describe when or how the power is to be used. Again this is for the Local Authority to decide. A further complication is that how and when a power was set out in law can be a source of uncertainty. Sometimes the nature of the power is clear, but not always. In some cases, Local Authorities have been given 'powers' where it is not clear what the power actually is or how it could be used.

In relation to providing services or activities that can improve, protect, or care for the health of the public, it is important we make best use of these duties and powers. Especially as many of these duties and powers relate more directly to the social, economic and environmental determinants of health and provide opportunities for addressing the types of inequalities that underpin poor health and wellbeing.

## 2.2. Barriers and Facilitators in the Use of Powers

The barriers, and the desire to use powers, will not exist in the same way from Local Authority to Local Authority, and much of this will depend, presumably, on the size of the Local Authority, the blend of urban, rural and remote rural environments, the profile of the local population, the local social, economic and physical context, local need and opinion (and how forcefully this might be articulated) as well as the political context. The latter will shape local decision making, and therefore which powers are used, based on:

- the local political make up, the local political party in power and political aspirations;
- political leadership Local Authorities are not necessarily viewed as lacking in powers, but they might be viewed as lacking the political leadership to apply those powers in certain areas of their work;
- the political party in power at local level is keen to reflect the ambitions of the party in power at national level (of the same political hue) and may be more inclined to use powers to achieve particular outcomes;
- varying levels of support within political parties, locally and nationally, for the use of particular power(s);
- whether those in power at local level can form a majority or minority and the latter, forming a minority, is likely to engender a greater need for negotiation around what may or may not be achieved (Local Authorities in Scotland are currently led primarily by minority administrations or coalitions);
- local needs and how those are defined and prioritised by political leaders;
- the enthusiasm of local elected members, and non-elected council officers, to achieve an outcome;
- the aspirations of those in power at national level;
- how policy and resources are prioritised at national level, which then cascades down to determine, inform and support how policy is prioritised at local level; and
- how the local and national media construe and respond to a problem and the proposed Local Authority 'solutions'.

Moreover, although there are a range of views, the political landscape in Scotland has been perceived by some commentators as one that has centralised power and this continued, long-term pursuance of the concentration of power at government level, has been at the expense of local government autonomy. Devolution, and the ongoing devolvement of power to Scotland is perceived therefore as failing to sufficiently devolve power out to communities,<sup>6</sup> <sup>7 8 9 10</sup> although this perceived tendency is not necessarily unique to Scotland,

within the context of the UK.<sup>11 12</sup> The most recent Scottish Government Budget might be viewed, however, as seeking to reverse this to some extent by handing further powers to local government e.g. in the form of the proposed workplace parking levy (see below), the 'tourism tax' and increasing the cap on council tax increases.<sup>13</sup>

It may be argued that Local Authorities frequently have the task of seeking to do things, such as the removal of car parking, that make a change at the micro level to achieve the aims of government targets, that sections of the local population and the press object to, and that local councillors and local political party members find hard to sell. This means that as one Local Authority based contributor pointed out, elected representatives often find themselves in the position of having to persuade local populations of the benefits of change, using as compelling a story as possible about a particular action that people understand in order to build support.

In addition to local opinion, there are likely to be a wide range of factors that shape or prevent the use of powers and a non-exhaustive list of these factors might include:

- the current financial situation for Local Authorities, and austerity leading to resource prioritisation and retrenchment where activity, beyond Local Authority duties, is reduced;
- the burden of delivering frontline services, amid rising demand, versus the pursuit of powers, and strategic work, whose benefits may not be realised for some time;
- the application of powers can be staff and time intensive and demand financial resources that Local Authorities do not have or must bid for from various sources (those sources might be deemed inadequate);
- forums that might be supportive, and understand the need for the use of a power are equally strapped for cash and so can offer no financial assistance;
- complexities and time-scales around how the power might be implemented, e.g. Traffic Regulation Orders (see below) that might be slow to implement, street by street, and that are buffeted by public and business objections and that might then lead to the need to hold an inquiry into the proposed TRO;
- the capacity, time and resource to research the potential or real impact of a power;
- the potential negative knock-on effects of applying powers;
- the blend of capacity and prioritisation; if an activity is prioritised then surely capacity should follow this? If it is not prioritised, then capacity will not follow;
- lack of innovative work in order to test the boundaries of the available powers;

- not applying for funding from the available sources, and hence not having the opportunity to test and apply a power;
- lack of control over aspects of the local environment that impact on how a power might be pursued, and its success;
- the need to communicate information about the use of powers to the broader community via various channels, prior to their introduction (and to actively engage with communities around the use of powers);
- tensions inherent in Local Authority policies that seek to generate revenue or that e.g. support arguments around the creation of economically viable spaces (such as the provision of car parking spaces) that do not align with policies and powers that aspire to do something else e.g. reduce the number of cars coming into a town centre and the championing of public transport;
- concerns around the inability of Local Authorities to enforce some of their powers, e.g. that might require their own staff or others such as the police to enforce, and who may lack capacity to do so. Lack of capacity might act as a disincentive to the use of a power - and where powers cannot be enforced this raises questions about how worthwhile it is to seek to apply them in the first instance; and
- the use of Arms-Length Organisations (ALEOs) was mentioned by one contributor as muddying the water.

For several contributors to this work, the problem was not necessarily that the powers were not being applied, the source of their frustration was the wider context around which the Local Authority was deemed to be powerless. As one health improvement specialist pointed out, while the Local Authority could be seen to be using its powers to provide resources and opportunities, the barrier they believed was primarily income related and this included around how those on limited incomes e.g. might pay for public transport to reach those resources. This cannot easily be addressed by Local Authorities.

## 2.3. Austerity, Financial and Staffing Challenges

Local Government funding in Scotland, as in the rest of the UK, is not particularly advantageous with a 6.9% real terms reduction in Scottish Government revenue funding since 2013/14 and a financial outlook that will include further reductions in funding.<sup>14</sup>

It is estimated that there are 30,000 fewer staff working in local government than a decade ago and that 90% of all austerity related job cuts have been in local government, thus placing pressure on existing staff, limiting opportunities for innovation and future planning, within a wider context of rising demand for services and welfare reform. Cuts in spending are estimated to have been greater in more deprived Local Authority areas than in more affluent areas, with increases in Local Authority fees and charges in an attempt to offset budgetary pressures, and thus more likely to impact on those with lower incomes, who are already more dependent on public services.<sup>15</sup> There has been a reduction in spending for non-protected areas of activity (e.g. roads, employment support, economic development) although COSLA indicate that councils have protected services to the most vulnerable where possible.<sup>16 17</sup>

Clearly financial pressures will challenge the extent to which Local Authorities are able to fund and staff the services they must provide (duties) as well as deliver on activity they do not have a statutory duty to provide (powers). The extent to which they choose to pursue the latter will depend on the local context, priorities and the political make-up, and if they are able to pursue the latter, when the financial backdrop is not necessarily positive, may remain a challenge in the long-term, necessitating a change in how some services may be funded and managed.

Where powers are not used or are under-used, the power and any transformative change they could offer is effectively lost. This requires therefore a better understanding of why powers dispensed to Local Authorities by Scottish Government are not used or cannot be used particularly easily or effectively and this might be for a range of demonstrable reasons such as being subject to legal challenge, lack of resource to enforce the powers or because the wider financial and staffing context is not particularly favourable.

# 3. The Powers

## 3.1. Advancing Well-being

#### **Background**

Arguably, all statutory agencies have powers which indirectly contribute towards improving and maintaining well-being.

### Local Authorities

Local Authorities have the power to advance well-being:

• Local Government in Scotland Act 2003

A local authority has power to do anything which it considers is likely to promote or improve the well-being of—

- (a) its area and persons within that area; or
- (b) either of those.<sup>18</sup>

The Scottish Executive stated in 2003 that the power was a wide ranging one to advance well-being and to encourage innovation and closer partnership working between Local Authorities and other bodies to respond to community needs. It would enable Local Authorities to do anything they considered likely to promote or improve the well-being of their area and/or persons in it. The power was a 'first resort' when Local Authorities were in doubt about whether existing powers would enable them to take a particular course of action.

Local Authorities have the power to promote the economic, social and environmental well-being of their areas and communities. Activities might include tackling climate change, poverty, reducing inequalities, promoting equalities, promoting economic development, improving health and enhancing service delivery.

#### Barriers to the Use of Powers

The power appears to be wide, but there are various caveats attached to its use and whatever Local Authorities wish to do must be in accordance with the law. They must not duplicate the legislative functions of other bodies or raise money by levying any form of tax or charge.<sup>19</sup>

Examples of how this power is used are not particularly easy to identify from the literature. Examples provided to this piece of work include around summer school food provision, data gathering exercises and addressing the costs associated with attending school as well as promoting economic development.

As one contributor pointed out, from the perspective of a health improvement practitioner, this power may provide opportunities for practitioners to present

Local Authorities with evidence or data to encourage activity around a particular issue that could not be addressed under any other legislation.

## 3.2. Air Quality, Active Travel and Transport

## <u>Background</u>

At national level, recent statistics on car use, public transport and road building have not necessarily been deemed particularly positive. While train and ferry use has been increasing, bus use has been falling and car traffic increasing, with more licence holders than at any other point. Cycle traffic has decreased but distance cycled has increased.<sup>20</sup> <sup>21</sup> As has been pointed out by Transform Scotland for example, transport investment might be characterised as one that has favoured unsustainable transport options in the form of increased investment in road building (a 34% increase since 2011/12) over public transport use.

This raises questions about how far the Scottish Government has made progress in reducing transport emissions (a 2% fall since 1990) and how this benefits the third of all households in Scotland who do not own cars and depend on public transport. Moreover, motoring costs have fallen as the costs of rail and bus transport have risen for users, deemed socially regressive.<sup>22</sup> <sup>23</sup> <sup>24</sup> It is also worth noting that at national level, the Strategic Transport Projects Review (published in 2009), which sets out the Scottish Government's 29 transport investment priorities over the period to 2032 did not prioritise active travel. A proposed update is set to include active travel.<sup>25</sup> <sup>26</sup>

It is against this background that the Scottish Government is doubling funding for active travel projects to £80m for 2018/19. Much of this is distributed across active travel delivery partners (e.g. Sustrans, Cycling Scotland), who then distribute funds, or match fund, across Local Authorities and other groups,<sup>27</sup> with additional sources of funds for Local Authorities including the European Regional Development fund and the Scottish Government's Cycling, Walking, and Safer Streets grant. Other sources of activity in Local Authority areas might include Transport Scotland's Trunk Road Cycling Initiative, which aims to benefit non-motorised users of road schemes. The Scottish Government's active travel budget however has formed a small proportion of the overall transport budget, 1.9% (when £40m for active travel) of the £2,125m transport budget for 2017/18, with the total expenditure on motorways and trunk roads in 2017/18 estimated at £620m.<sup>28</sup> <sup>29</sup> <sup>30</sup>

## Local Authorities

Local Authorities are tasked with supporting the shift towards active travel and within their powers they may seek to achieve this by e.g. developing local strategies, adapting the local environment, incorporating active travel and public transport options into the planning of new developments, housing and school routes, and using powers to reduce vehicle speed and car use and speed around schools.

A non-exhaustive list of the types of potentially beneficial activity, that are, in the main, within the gift of Local Authorities in seeking to increase active travel and public transport use, and to reduce emissions, includes:

Cycling, walking:

- the creation of more space for cycling and walking, with reduced space for cars
- > networks of safe, segregated cycle lanes
- > full or part pedestrianised streets and thoroughfares

Car ownership:

- housing developments that do not rely on residents to own and travel by car, i.e. that factor in and incorporate active travel and public transport
- ➢ integration of electric vehicle infrastructure, and incentives for use Car parking:
  - removal of car parking spaces
  - removal of free Sunday parking (e.g. as in Aberdeen, Dundee and Glasgow – and to begin in Edinburgh<sup>31</sup>)
  - workplace parking levies, i.e. charging for workplace car parking (proposed)
  - implementation and enforcement of parking restrictions, as a means of e.g. dealing with pavement and road hazards for active travel

Emissions:

- roll out of low emission zones
- > Public transport:
- improvements in bus networks
- the installation of bus lanes
- retrofit of bus engines (Scottish Government led)

Schools:

> car free zones around schools

Speed:

> 20mph speed limits in residential areas, and around schools.

Various powers deal specifically with some of these. The Transport (Scotland) Bill, currently at stage 2 in the Scottish Parliament, and which may be further strengthened in view of criticism of what it proposes to do, could provide greater opportunities for Local Authorities to address some of the activities listed above, such as the workplace parking levy and bus transport. The application of a default 20mph speed limit by Local Authorities has recently been considered by the Scottish Parliament (Restricted Roads (20mph Speed Limit) (Scotland) Bill<sup>32</sup>) but was rejected, although Local Authorities retain an existing power to apply the 20mph speed limit where they wish to do so.

The available evidence indicates that several Local Authority powers that could lead to improved air quality, for example, appear to be under or not used e.g. Fixed Penalty Notices for engine idling, the roadside testing of vehicles by Local Authorities to identify the most polluting vehicles and road congestion charging. (One argument is that Local Authorities should actively seek to generate revenue from their ability to use such powers to support activity that increases active travel and improves public transport networks. The extent to which car parking fines and other motorised transport related penalties might be subsidising active travel or public transport is unclear.)

### Barriers to the Use of Powers

There are bound to be various reasons, as noted in the introduction, for nonuse and under-use of powers. Further barriers to the use of active travel, transport and air quality related powers are likely to include:

- difficulties around time and staff resource attached to applying powers (such as Traffic Regulation Orders). One Local Authority contributor commented that the process of applying such orders, to make changes around who might use a road and for what purpose, was a slow process, and one where change cannot be made as quickly as desired;
- lack of sufficient funding opportunities, and the time and staff resources required to seek funding from various sources;
- opposition from local residents;
- the nature of the urban environment, e.g. the notion that some cities are more compact than others, and so lend themselves better to active travel interventions;
- opposition from commercial interests, such as bus companies;
- possible preference for the use of other powers and mechanisms to achieve local environmental change; and
- reluctance by local politicians, and national government, to sufficiently challenge car users, who comprise a broad swathe of the electorate (those who do not own cars tend to be drawn from lower socio-economic groups), beyond tinkering at the margins of policy.

Additionally, Local Authorities in Scotland have highlighted various barriers around how far they are able to implement national government aspirations to increase active travel at a local level. In summary, these include:

- a need for strong national and local leadership around active travel;
- lack of connectivity between national ambitions and local capacity;
- a cluttered, un-coordinated policy landscape;
- loss of staff with skill sets suited to active travel work;
- lack of prioritisation of this work in some Local Authorities;
- a culture supportive of car use;
- problematic one year funding cycles;
- higher costs of retro-fitting versus building new walking and cycling paths;
- outdated design guidance/ standards for active travel infrastructure;
- onerous processes around the use of Traffic Regulation Orders; and

• inadequate evidence, public consultation and active travel promotion.

Moreover, essential to the provision of active travel is the need for connections into a 'reliable, comfortable, efficient and affordable public transport system', with cycle friendly public transport and infrastructure such as bus shelters.<sup>33</sup>

In terms of public transport, it is worth pointing out that there are aspects of the local environment that are clearly beyond the control of Local Authorities. For example, there are misgivings around the perceived failure of bus companies in Scotland to sufficiently access the Bus Emission Abatement Retrofit (Bear) programme funds (£1.1.m of the £7.9m fund was used 2018/19) to fit retrofit technology measures to reduce emissions to Euro VI standard or better, with bus companies that did not draw on the funds citing the 40% Scottish Government contribution to this (i.e. bus companies contribute the remaining 60%) as inadequate.<sup>34</sup>

Commercial bus companies, as most bus services are, operate beyond Local Authority control as the restrictions around Local Authority bus ownership means that they may only provide subsidy for services that are not provided on a commercial basis. Local Authorities in effect have little control over the priorities and preferences of commercial bus companies, and whose services Local Authorities rely on, requiring a balancing act between environmental aspirations and the aims of private sector transport providers. Moreover bus companies are just one of a number of lobbying groups, whose views must be given weight in Local Authority decision making. How far the needs of particular lobbying groups are given preference over others is a moot point.

Bus use is declining, and fares rising.<sup>35</sup> The Transport (Scotland) Bill<sup>36</sup> is viewed by the Scottish Government as providing, potentially, some opportunity for Local Authorities to have greater control over local bus services although this is disputed by trade unions and political opponents.<sup>37</sup> Changes to the Bill have been proposed to address falling levels of bus travel and bus service provision.<sup>38</sup>

Listed below are a range of Local Authority powers that could make local environments more conducive to active travel, increase public transport use, improve air quality or some combination of these.

## 3.2.1. Air Quality

#### **Background**

Air quality management in Scotland falls primarily on Local Authorities. SEPA regulates industrial emissions and acts in an advisory capacity. Local Authorities can apply for government funding to support the monitoring of air pollutants and the implementation of air quality management plans through several funding schemes, with variation in the funds allocated to Local Authorities, and lack of ring-fencing, allowing Local Authorities to determine how to use these.<sup>39</sup>

Part IV of The Environment Act 1995 requires the UK and devolved administrations to publish an Air Quality Strategy and establishes the system of Local Air Quality Management (LAQM). The air quality objectives set out in the following regulations provide the statutory basis for this:

- Air Quality (Scotland) Regulations 2000
- Air Quality (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2002
- Air Quality (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2016

Under the 1995 Act, Local Authorities are required to regularly review and assess air quality, consider current and likely future air quality in their areas, and assess if objectives will be achieved by the due dates and beyond. They have a duty under section 83(1) of the 1995 Act to designate AQMAs (Air Quality Management Areas) where the air quality objectives are unlikely to be met by or beyond the required date.

AQMAs must be designated officially by means of an order. The authority must prepare and implement an action plan outlining how it intends to tackle the issues identified. Local Authorities are not legally obliged to meet the objectives but they must demonstrate that they are taking all reasonable steps in working towards them. The 1995 Act does not prescribe any timescale for preparing an action plan but the Scottish Government expects them to be completed within 12 months following the designation of any AQMAs.<sup>40</sup>

#### Local Air Quality Strategies

• Part IV of the Environment Act 1995

Local Authorities do not have a statutory obligation to prepare or adopt a local air quality strategy. However, the Scottish Government recommends that all authorities, particularly those that have not had to designate AQMAs but have areas close to the exceedance levels, should consider drawing up a strategy. It expects a multidisciplinary approach to LAQM and co-operation between Local Authorities and other sectors (including the NHS).

It is keen that Local Authorities act as a catalyst and communicate their commitment to delivering cleaner air in a local air quality strategy (e.g. by running some of their own or contractor vehicles on alternative fuels, encouraging staff public transport use, green purchasing policies). Moreover air quality action plans and local air quality strategies should be consistent with, and where appropriate, linked to Local Transport Strategies.<sup>41</sup>

The following are examples of powers that could be or are being used and that could improve local air quality.

## Low Emission Zones

- The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984
- The Transport (Scotland) Bill 2018 (progressing through the Scottish Parliament)

Three mechanisms support the creation of Low Emission Zones:

- The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 enables Local Authorities to make a Traffic Regulation Order to prohibit or restrict the use of certain vehicles on certain roads for certain purposes including air quality management
- The Environment Act 1995 enables Scottish Ministers to make regulations prohibiting or restricting the access of vehicles or mobile equipment to areas prescribed in the regulations
- Air quality related Traffic Regulation Conditions can be attached as licence conditions in respect of buses by the Traffic Commissioner for Scotland, on the application of the Local Authority.<sup>42</sup>

More recently however, the Scottish Government set out plans to create a Low Emissions Zone (LEZ) in one city by the end of 2018 and to work with Local Authorities towards introducing LEZs in the biggest cities by 2020 and to all Air Quality Management Areas by 2023.<sup>43</sup> Following approval by the Traffic Commissioner for Scotland for a Traffic Regulation Condition, the first LEZ is now operating, although some details are yet to emerge, in Glasgow city centre. It currently applies only to the most polluting local bus services, but it will apply to all vehicles by 2022. Glasgow's LEZ will be enforced using automatic number plate recognition cameras rather than the charging scheme applied in London (see Box 1 below) for those vehicles that do not meet emissions criteria, with penalty notices for those who do not comply with the charge.

The emission standards for the Glasgow LEZ are Euro 4 for petrol cars, vans, minibuses etc., Euro 6 for diesel cars, vans and minibuses etc. and Euro VI for lorries, buses and coaches and other heavy diesel engine vehicles.<sup>44</sup>

Critics of the Glasgow LEZ, including Friends of the Earth Scotland, suggest that the initial focus on buses will not significantly impact on levels of air pollution in the immediate future and their preference would be for buses, vans, and lorries to be included at the initial stage of implementation, with taxis and cars included at a later stage (although Friends of the Earth acknowledge that the LEZ is taking place in tandem with other activity in the city including the expansion of the local cycle network).<sup>45 46</sup>

The Transport (Scotland) Bill, introduced and currently at stage 2, aims to create a system allowing Local Authorities, alone or working together, to operate LEZ schemes. LEZ creation will depend on approval by Scottish Ministers and consultation with SEPA, Scottish Natural Heritage, Historic Environment Scotland and representatives of local business and transport providers etc. Local Authorities and Scottish Ministers will have powers to hold an inquiry into a proposed LEZ.<sup>47</sup>

The City of Edinburgh expects to introduce a LEZ by 2020, with enforcement from 2021, with buses, coaches and commercial vehicles affected first (by end of 2021), followed by cars (by end of 2024). LEZ proposals seek to exclude cars from a city centre boundary that do not meet certain emission standards (Euro 4 standard for petrol engines, Euro 6 for diesel engines) with penalties for those vehicles that enter the LEZ, with buses, coaches and commercial vehicles that do not meet emission standards also affected by a city wide boundary, with a grace period to 2023.<sup>48</sup>

#### Box 1:

For comparative purposes the London (Transport for London) schemes include a LEZ (covering most of greater London, 24 hrs, 7 days a week) to encourage activity to address emissions from the most polluting heavy diesel vehicles. From 2020 emission standards for the LEZ will be further tightened.

An ultra LEZ (ULEZ) now also operates in central London, with vehicles required to meet emission standards or pay to drive in the ULEZ zone or risk Penalty Charge Notices of several hundred pounds. The ULEZ (operating 24 hrs, 7 days a week) and a separate congestion charge (which operates on week days, between 7am and 6pm) operate across the same geographical area. The congestion charge is £11.50, the ULEZ charge is £12.50 for cars and vans and £100 for heavier vehicles that do not comply with ULEZ vehicle standards (which are consistent with those for Glasgow, noted above).<sup>49</sup>

## Traffic Regulation Conditions - Air Quality

• Public Service Vehicles (Traffic Regulation Conditions) Amendment (Scotland) Regulations (2008) (an amendment to the Transport Act 1985 by the Transport (Scotland) Act 2001)

Air quality related Traffic Regulation Conditions (TRCs) can be attached as licence conditions in respect of buses by the Traffic Commissioner for Scotland, on the application of the Local Authority. Local Authorities may ask the Traffic Commissioner to attach a TRC to an operator's Public Service Vehicle licence for the purposes of reducing or limiting air pollution. The 2008 regulations do not specify how bus emissions should be regulated, but the most straightforward method would be to specify the minimum Euro standard that vehicles affected by the TRC would have to meet. Any application made by a Local Authority must satisfy the Traffic Commissioner that there is a compelling case for doing so. A transport authority or bus company with services that are, or will be, operated in the area affected by a TRC can ask the Traffic Commissioner to hold an enquiry.<sup>50 51</sup>

## Road User Charges

• The Transport (Scotland) Act 2001

Local Authorities are, under the Roads (Scotland) Act 1984, designated as the roads authority for their area. They are responsible for all aspects of the non-trunk road network within their jurisdiction.<sup>52</sup> They have the power to introduce road user charging (congestion charges) schemes on local roads, excluding trunk roads, under Part 3 of the Transport (Scotland) Act 2001 and Road User Charging Schemes (Keeping of Accounts and Relevant Expenses) (Scotland) Regulations 2004. The charges can be varied according to any of the following: day of the week; time of day; road; distance travelled; purpose of the journey; number of occupants; and class of motor vehicle.<sup>53</sup> (See Box 2 below – there are currently no Scottish road user charging schemes, but there are several in other parts of the UK).

These powers are viewed as providing an additional source of income to fund improvements to local transport. Any revenue raised can be recycled locally. Before schemes can be introduced, Local Authorities must demonstrate that they have improved public transport to ensure that people have good alternatives to car use.<sup>54</sup>

#### Box 2:

Edinburgh City Council developed a charging scheme, leading to an application for 'approval in principle', the first stage of the consultation and approval process set out in Scottish Government guidance, and opted for a local referendum. Approval was granted by Ministers in December 2002. The statutory procedures to promote a charging order were initiated in September 2003, with formal consultation in late 2003. The final proposals (a £2 daily charge to enter the congestion zone) were examined at a public inquiry in Spring 2004. The scheme was rejected by 74% of Edinburgh residents on a turnout of c62%. Congestion charging was abandoned.<sup>55</sup> Glasgow City Council appears to have abandoned plans for congestion charging.<sup>56</sup> The only active UK schemes are in London and Durham.<sup>57 58</sup>

## Electric Vehicles

- The Environment Act 1995
- Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009

The national strategy background for electric vehicle use (Switched On Scotland (2013), a subsequent review (2016) and phase two of the strategy, (2017)<sup>59</sup> <sup>60</sup> aims for communities to be free of the effects of petrol and diesel fuelled vehicles by 2050. To support this the Scottish Government aims to phase out the need for new petrol and diesel cars and vans by 2032 and to promote electric vehicles (EVs), expanding EV charging infrastructure between 2018-2022, creating an 'electric highway' (the A9), accelerating public sector procurement by the mid-2020s and commercial bus fleets by early 2030s, with large scale pilots to encourage private EV use.<sup>61</sup> (There were around 7,831 plug-in electric vehicles, so presumably not including hybrid vehicles, in Scotland at early 2018).<sup>62</sup>

Local Authorities are deemed best placed to support and incentivise EV adoption.<sup>63</sup> As well as drawing on several funding streams<sup>1</sup>, flexibility exists for Local Authorities to make changes (to favour EVs) around parking, planning and building regulations, taxis and private hire vehicles.

Parking may encourage EV uptake via preferential parking spaces (reducing parking spaces for higher emission vehicles) and reduced or free parking costs for EVs e.g. in Edinburgh cheaper parking permits are offered to residents with low emitting vehicles.<sup>64</sup> However, Transport Scotland (as at 2016) has stated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> UK and Scottish Funding streams for Local Authorities include / have included *ChargePlace Scotland* (for charge points), *Switched on Fleets* (funding new vehicles), UK Government Office for Low Emission Vehicles (to install charge points), *Switched on Towns and Cities* (to increase uptake of electric vehicles), The European Regional Development Fund (via Transport Scotland) to support low carbon travel and transport hubs, *Go Ultra Low Cities* (Dundee City has received funding) and UK Government Ultra Low Emission Taxi Infrastructure Scheme (Dundee City has received finding).

that there is considerable potential for Local Authorities to introduce measures to increase the number of EVs on the road.

Traffic Regulation Orders and Experimental TROs (18 month duration)<sup>2</sup> can be used to achieve some of this or at least trial measures (obtaining TROs may prove problematic for less well-resourced or smaller Local Authorities). TROs regulate, restrict or prohibit the use of any road or part of the road by vehicles or pedestrians at all times or certain times. TRO powers are provided under the Road Traffic Regulation Act (1984).<sup>65</sup>

In terms of planning and building regulation, Transport Scotland (as at 2016) have indicated that Local Authorities consider:

- Using the planning system to support EV adoption e.g. developer contributions could fund infrastructure for existing developments;
- Raising EV awareness with developers at the start of the planning process;
- Including consideration of charge points in Local Development Plans; and
- Working with stakeholders to create common guidance on elements of the planning process such as car park zoning and minimum charger standards.

Local Authorities may also provide EV drivers with access to dedicated road space, such as bus lanes (using TROs to do so), although barriers include the availability of appropriate bus lanes, the requirement for ministerial approval to change bus lane signage, enforcement problems, as well as public and political resistance.

Given that Local Authorities are responsible for taxi and private hire licensing as set out in the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 they have discretion to determine licensing arrangements according to local needs. Local Authorities can offer reduced licence fees and offer more licenses (to EVs), stipulate the minimum number of EVs, offer contributions towards the costs of EVs, provide dedicated taxi ranks for EVs and stipulate use of EV taxis and car clubs by the public sector.<sup>66</sup> (See Box 3 below for information about Dundee.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Changing or introducing a TRO is a two-stage statutory process. Firstly, a local consultation phase on the proposed TRO takes place, this is followed by a period of advertising the proposed TRO to the public to allow for formal objections to be lodged. The TRO then goes before an internal Local Authority committee. Successful proposals are subsequently approved by senior management or elected officials before being implemented. Source: https://urbanforesight.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/REP-1409-TS-A-National-Framework-for-Local-Incentives.pdf

Box 3:

Dundee City Council has the largest EV fleet in the UK (c.96 vehicles) and aims to make all of its fleet EV by 2025. Part of the initial interest in EV, in terms of the council's fleet, stemmed from a desire to reduce spend and to rationalise, from non–electric vehicles distributed across various departments to purchasing EVs falling under the auspices of one corporate department. A further incentive was the perception of EVs as less prone to the need for mechanical intervention.

The council is viewed as being at the forefront of EV promotion and adoption in taxi fleets by deploying chargers for taxi use in the city (the '203020' taxi company in Dundee were the most used charging point in Scotland in 2017) and they have changed the local licensing regime to encourage drivers to switch to EVs (there are 112 fully electric taxis and private hire vehicles in Dundee, making up 15% of the city's taxis).<sup>67 68</sup> This is viewed as a product of Local Authority ambition, the use of incentives in the taxi licensing regime, matched by enthusiasm of a local taxi company owner, with funding from several sources (Office For Low Emissions Vehicles (OLEV), Transport Scotland and Air Quality funding).

The council has received funding from various sources including Scottish Government, OLEV (within UK DfT), with OLEV funding approaching £2m. This has been used to develop charging 'hubs' for use by the public and taxis.<sup>69</sup> Access to car parks, and chargers for EVs is free (not for hybrid vehicles) for Dundee residents and to incentivise those with EVs outside Dundee to visit the city. As at late 2018 the council owned 62 charging points at 13 public charging locations.<sup>70</sup>

In terms of how far the council might be able to supply electric chargers, including in tenement buildings (with various logistical problems attached to this) the ambition is to place EVs within a broader ambition of reducing car use, increased public transport use and active travel; hence avoiding mass charger provision. Further plans include developing an EV car club in the Lochee area, for those with low incomes to attend essential appointments. Dundee has been named the most visionary European city by the World Electric Vehicle Association.<sup>71</sup>

#### Vehicle Idling

- Section 88, Environment Act 1995
- The Road Traffic (Vehicle Emissions) (Fixed Penalty) (Scotland) Regulations 2003

Local Authorities have powers to tackle emissions from stationary, idling vehicles (both private and commercial). Local Authorities may apply Fixed Penalty Notices of £20 to those allowing a vehicle to idle.<sup>72</sup>

The Local Authorities which currently undertake idling enforcement are:

- East Dunbartonshire
- East Lothian
- East Renfrewshire
- FalkirkMidlothian

- Glasgow
- North Lanarkshire
- Renfrewshire
- South Lanarkshire
- Stirling

• South Ayrshire

- West Dunbartonshire
- West Lothian.<sup>73</sup>

In Glasgow an FOI request found that in 2017 three fines (Fixed Penalty Notices) were issued; in 2016, one was issued; in 2015, zero fines; in 2014, two; and in 2013, three (most fines were for buses and taxis).<sup>74</sup>

### Roadside Vehicle Emission Testing

 Road Traffic (Vehicle Emissions) (Fixed Penalty) (Scotland) Regulations 2003

The regulations enable authorised persons from Local Authorities to carry out roadside enforcement checks of vehicles to ensure compliance with prescribed emissions limits as set down by Regulation 61 of the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986, as amended. The offence is an existing one but Local Authorities have, since 1 April 2003 been given the power to carry out enforcement of the offence. (The power to stop vehicles however remains with the police).

The Regulations include provisions which specify the format and amount of the Fixed Penalty Notices (£60). The emissions penalty may be waived if the owner of the vehicle rectifies the problem within 14 days of failing the test. The Regulations also include provisions which permit waiving of the FPN.<sup>75</sup>

Local Authorities can determine if this power will form one of the means by which they seek to reduce emissions, and not all have chosen to do so. Less than half of all Local Authorities have sought to hold testing powers under the regulations (they are funded by the Scottish Government to test vehicles). They are as follows:

- Edinburgh City (not currently testing vehicles)
- East Lothian
- Falkirk
- Midlothian
- Renfrewshire
- South Lanarkshire
- West Lothian.<sup>76</sup>

- East Dunbartonshire
- East Renfrewshire
- Glasgow City
- North Lanarkshire
- South Ayrshire
- West Dunbartonshire

Note: Glasgow City Council Glasgow has tested around 3,000 vehicles a year but Edinburgh City Council tests none, although it has the powers to do so (as at 2016). <sup>77</sup>

## 3.2.2. Road Use

The following powers revolve around who may gain access to a road, when and for what purpose.

### Traffic Regulation Orders

- Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984
- The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 1999

A Traffic Regulation Order is a legal instrument used by road authorities to give effect to traffic management measures on roads within their areas, i.e. to make changes to which vehicles and who may gain access to a road, what they may do on that road and when. Under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, Local Authorities can use TROs to apply local restrictions, enforceable when the appropriate road signs or markings are displayed. Restrictions can be applied for various reasons and could cover particular hotspots or larger areas. They can have effect at all times or during specific periods, and certain classes of traffic may be exempt from the TRO.<sup>78</sup> (The Environment Act 1995 added 'improving air quality' as a reason for making TROs under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984.)

Local Authorities may make TROs for the following reasons:

- to create a pedestrianised area;
- to introduce bus lanes and thereby reallocate space and reduce journey times. The use of bus priority lanes appears to have been slow, maintenance ineffective, and the enforcement of lanes piecemeal and few have been installed in Scotland in recent years, possibly because of costs or because of road space conflicts. Transform Scotland have recommended simplification and reduction of costs, encouragement of Local Authorities to use TROs and improved enforcement;<sup>79</sup>
- to introduce cycle lanes and thereby reallocating space to cyclists; and
- to authorise high occupancy vehicle lanes by creating an additional lane or by converting an existing lane. Lanes might in some circumstances be able to share bus lanes. There has been no use of HOV lanes to date in Scotland (at 2018), and little experience elsewhere in the UK.<sup>80</sup> (An internet search indicates that Birmingham,<sup>81</sup> Bradford<sup>82</sup> and Leeds City Council<sup>83</sup> have trialled HOVs).<sup>84</sup>

TROs however can be viewed as process heavy, time consuming and 'fiddly' to apply, currently weighted in favour of the status quo, and overly prone to the impact of those who object to what the TRO intends to do (objections may form around the loading or unloading of vehicles<sup>85</sup>). This might require a need for hearings, and the possibility that objections might lead to ministerial

intervention. This means that seeking to apply TROs can be a long, drawn out process, whose timescales may have to accommodate objections and hearings.

This raises questions therefore (Transport Scotland acknowledges that there are criticisms about TROs<sup>86</sup> and there may be changes afoot) around how far the process might act as a disincentive to their use. The combination of the nature of applying TROs (time consuming), alongside what might be the relatively small numbers of staff employed within local authorities to work specifically on active travel work, is likely to present various barriers around their use.

Moreover, as has been pointed out on several occasions during this work, local politicians are not necessarily keen to push through TRO after TRO for fear of political unpopularity and because the process is onerous. The use of Experimental TROs, in place for up to 18 months, may provide an opportunity to trial a TRO prior to any attempt to introduce a permanent TRO.

### **School Street Closures**

• Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

Local Authorities can use TROs / Experimental TROs to restrict parking around schools or to exclude vehicles at particular times.<sup>87</sup> Several Local Authorities (Edinburgh City, Glasgow City, East Lothian) have been or will be closing streets around a limited number of primary schools.

In Edinburgh, a programme of street closures is now permanent around a number of primary schools to reduce the number of children being dropped off / collected outside schools by car, to increase walking and cycling levels, and to disperse cars across a wider area. At the outset an Experimental TRO (18 months duration) was advertised and progressed for each school, to allow for the legal restriction of motor vehicles, with exemptions, including for local residents, on relevant streets. Signs were used to warn drivers at all entry points. Street closures may only be enforced by the police, not the Local Authority. An evaluation of the pilot scheme indicates that the impacts were variable from school to school but that in general vehicle speed and the number of vehicles was reduced, air quality improved and there were increased levels of walking to school.<sup>88</sup>

In Glasgow, using an Experimental TRO, car free zones are to be trialled at 7 schools to improve road safety, with a range of criteria set for the selection of schools. The scheme will provide temporary pedestrian areas outside the schools for limited periods in the morning and afternoon, for up to 18 months. This is in response to concerns around poor driving, obstructive parking, congestion and emissions. To evaluate effectiveness, before and after counts will be taken of the number of parked / moving cars during school peak times

and to survey children walking / cycling to school, with success focused on a reduction in traffic congestion and speed at school gates, reduced car trips and increased walking and cycling.<sup>89 90</sup>

Perth and Kinross: school exclusion zones have been trialled at 4 primary schools, for 18 months, using an Experimental TRO.<sup>91 92</sup> The pilot, which appears to have not necessarily run entirely smoothly, including issues around enforcement, might become a permanent feature, and be expanded to other schools.<sup>93</sup>

East Lothian: An Experimental TRO to ban traffic from streets around primary schools in Haddington was introduced for 18 months in 2014. A further TRO was re-introduced and the ban may now be permanent.<sup>94 95</sup>

Potential **barriers** to the effective working of school street closures includes:

- flouting of street closure ban by parents;
- lack of police presence to enforce street closures;
- displacement of cars to local streets that are not closed;
- parental concerns about children travelling, walking and cycling, to school in heavily urbanised areas; and
- lack of consultation around, and advertising of, street closures.

#### <u>Home Zones</u>

- Transport (Scotland) Act 2001
- Home Zone (Scotland) (No 2) Regulations 2002

Section 74 of the Transport (Scotland) Act 2001 and the subsequent Home Zone (Scotland) (No 2) Regulations 2002 enable Local Authorities to designate roads as Home Zones, where they are the traffic authority. A Home Zone is a place where the whole of the space is available for a range of different uses. Vehicle speed must be low enough to satisfy the Local Authority that any permitted activities may be enjoyed safely by all.<sup>96</sup>

'The Planning Advice Note 65: Planning and Open Space', suggests that Local Authorities consider their creation to give street space in residential areas back to pedestrians and prevent vehicles from dominating the environment, using sensitive design and high quality materials. Zones may link into the open space network, providing a safe link for pedestrians and cyclists between parks and recreational spaces and community facilities such as schools and shops.<sup>97</sup>

Home Zones were evaluated for the Scottish Executive in 2007.<sup>98</sup> Several examples are provided in this evaluation of completed and non-progressed home zones. Current use is not clear (there is a 2010 example of a Home Zone in Craigmillar, Edinburgh<sup>99</sup>) although reference to this approach is scattered through several current Local Authority plans / briefs.<sup>100</sup> <sup>101</sup> <sup>102</sup>

## 3.2.3. Cycling

### Cycling / Shared Use Cycle-ways

- Roads (Scotland) Act 1984
- Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

The development of cycle paths appears to be relatively well progressed in the major cities particularly in Edinburgh followed by Glasgow (political leadership is generally deemed to be stronger in both cities around the active travel agenda than elsewhere in Scotland) with plans afoot for Dundee, with pockets of activity taking place across other local authorities.

Where cycling infrastructure is developing, this may be perceived however as insufficient and lacking sufficient connectedness. It may be deemed in some places inappropriate e.g. lack of true segregation of cyclists from traffic, use of shared use cycle-ways bringing cyclists into conflict with pedestrians and applying design methods / materials that could better reflect more recent improvements in design.<sup>3</sup> Issues also emerge around: the inability to feed into infrastructure design (before Traffic Regulation Orders are issued, and not after); lack of enforcement of cycle lanes e.g. by targeting parking in cycle lanes; and a perception that cycle infrastructure is more likely to benefit more prosperous groups (who may be keener to engage with and demand cycling opportunities) with, for example, infrastructure deemed poorer in an area of one city where a significant proportion of the population are deprived.

In terms of spending, Edinburgh City Council is committed to spending 5% of its transport capital and revenue budgets on cycling infrastructure and projects, increasing by 1% each year. In contrast, in many other Local Authorities the estimated share is 1% or less of their own funds, with reliance on external funding.<sup>103 104</sup>

Various traffic management measures may support cyclists, e.g. dedicated cycle-ways, one-way streets, contra-flow cycle lanes, road closures and shared cycleway and footpaths, as well as bike stands, bike stations and storage for bikes factored into housing (one respondent to this document pointed out that some housing associations for instance do not allow bike storage in communal areas, making bike ownership more problematic).

For most measures, a Traffic Regulation Order is required under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and is normally dealt with by the appropriate roads authority, e.g. the Local Authority. In some circumstances, the consent of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Transport Scotland guidance document 'Cycling by Design' (2010) sets out desirable minimum design standards:

https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/14173/cycling\_by\_design\_2010\_\_rev\_1\_\_june\_2011\_.p df

Scottish Ministers may be required. One or two objectors can delay or stop the implementation of a scheme even though their views may not reflect those of most residents and other road users, potentially acting as a deterrent for Local Authorities to introduce TROs.

Orders to close or convert an existing right of way by foot into a shared-use cycleway and footpath are made under the Roads (Scotland) Act 1984 and where there are sustained objections, the consent of the Scottish Ministers is required before the order can be confirmed.<sup>105</sup>

Road maintenance: spending on roads in Local Authorities fell by 15% between 2010 to 2017, and of relevance to cyclists among other road users, is the impact of this on road maintenance. Around 30% to 39% of all A, B, C and unclassified roads in Scotland require maintenance, with only unclassified roads improving, with considerable variation across Local Authorities in the proportion of all roads requiring maintenance<sup>106</sup> (For example, Transform Scotland advocate for the use of national level funds for road building to address the estimated £2.25 billion maintenance backlog<sup>107</sup>).

Concerns have also been raised for instance around completed road maintenance work and how those repairs have been carried out, i.e. repairs may be done in such a way as to be suitable for cars, but they may not be completed in a way that is suitable for cyclists in terms of continuing to pose a hazard for those road users.

## 3.2.4. Parking

## No Footway Parking Zone / Pavement Parking

- Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984
- The Roads (Scotland) Act 1984

The Roads (Scotland) Act 1984 states that it is illegal to drive on footways. The position is less clear with regards to casual or occasional parking on footways. Local authorities have powers under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 to restrict or prohibit footway parking ("no footway parking zones") where footway parking is a problem on individual streets by using Traffic Regulation Orders, but this is deemed a costly process.<sup>108</sup> Living Streets suggest that Local Authorities tend not to do so, because of costs associated with consulting on TROs, timescales and the need for signage changes.<sup>109</sup>

In terms of benefits, the Cycling Action Plan for Scotland (2010) indicated that allowing cycling on footways for children under 12 can have significant impacts on the number of children cycling to school (as in Exeter) and where footways are free of parked cars.<sup>110</sup>

Note: The Transport (Scotland) Bill proposes to make parking on the pavement illegal (subject to exemptions such as for loading and unloading – potentially legitimising pavement parking in areas of commercial activity<sup>111</sup>) and to prohibit double parking - this would become a Local Authority duty.<sup>112</sup>

(Around 20 Local Authorities operate decriminalised, on-street parking enforcement (see below) under the provisions of the Road Traffic Act 1991. In Local Authority areas with decriminalised, on-street parking, stationary traffic offences cease to be part of the criminal law enforced by the police and become civil matters enforced by the Local Authority. Enforcement of other parking offences e.g. obstructive or dangerous parking and moving traffic violations remains a police responsibility (section 59 of the Roads (Scotland) Act 1984).<sup>113</sup>)

### Parking (resident parking schemes)

• Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 permits Local Authorities to determine where motorists can park and how much it will cost. They may also restrict parking in other ways. Residents' parking schemes can be one way of encouraging non-residents to find other ways of travelling into town centres. Authorities can also use the planning process to regulate the amount of private non-residential parking associated with a new development.<sup>114</sup> In Edinburgh the price of a parking permit has been linked to the CO2 emissions produced by the vehicle, with lower emitting cars paying less.<sup>115</sup> A parking permit diesel surcharge is being considered.<sup>116</sup>

## Decriminalised Parking Enforcement (DPE)

- Road Traffic Act 1991
- Scottish Statutory Instruments (SSIs) are required to introduce Decriminalised Parking Enforcement in a Local Authority area

DPE allows Local Authorities to administer their own parking penalties, following consultation with a range of stakeholders, and Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) for vehicles, tailoring parking enforcement to meet specific needs and alignment with other policies. Stationary traffic offences cease to be criminal offences enforced by the police and become civil penalties enforced by the Local Authority, who retain the income from PCNs and from parking to finance and enforce the DPE (surpluses can be used to provide and maintain street parking facilities and secondly, for road improvement and public transport purposes).

Enforcement of other parking offences e.g. obstructive or dangerous parking and moving traffic violations remains the responsibility of the police, although some Local Authorities (Edinburgh, Glasgow, Highland) have sought further powers to tackle e.g. obstructive parking at or near schools. DPEs are required to be financially sustainable if possible. Where not, Local Authorities can explore the scope for sharing services with other Local Authorities or for integrating parking attendant responsibilities into existing posts.

The Scottish Government's position is that DPE powers should contribute to a Local Authority's overall transport objectives and should be designed to manage the traffic network effectively, improve road safety and the local environment and encourage, where appropriate, increased use of more sustainable and healthy forms of travel.

Around 21 Local Authorities in Scotland (as at late 2018) apply DPE (Aberdeen City, Angus, Argyll and Bute, Dundee, East Ayrshire, East Dunbartonshire, East Lothian, East Renfrewshire, Edinburgh, Falkirk, Fife, Glasgow, Highland, Inverclyde, Midlothian, North Lanarkshire, Perth and Kinross, Renfrewshire, South Ayrshire, South Lanarkshire, Stirling). North Ayrshire is working towards DPE, the remaining Local Authorities either view DPE as unnecessary or too expensive (Aberdeenshire, Clackmannanshire, Dumfries and Galloway, Moray, Orkney Islands, Shetland Islands, Western Isles, West Lothian, West Dunbartonshire, Scottish Borders). (In terms of number of PCNs issued, 2017/18 statistics indicate that Edinburgh<sup>4</sup> imposed more PCNs than any other Local Authority.)<sup>117</sup> <sup>118</sup> <sup>119</sup>

### Workplace Parking Levies

• Proposed in the Transport (Scotland) Bill

The power for Local Authorities to apply workplace parking levies is yet to be worked out. Recent amendments to the Transport (Scotland) Bill mean that Local Authorities may be able to introduce a levy, if the Bill is passed, if they think it is appropriate (it will not be compulsory). If agreed, this would bring the law in Scotland into line with that in England and Wales (See Box 4 below for information about the Nottingham parking levy).

It is proposed that the levy would be collected by way of a licensing scheme. Employers with on-site parking would be required to apply to their Local Authority for a licence for each car park, and would pay the levy. Employers could then choose to pay the levy or charge staff for all or part of it. The licence cost would be based on the maximum number of vehicles that each workplace car park can hold, with a set charge for each parking space, with smaller workplace car parks exempt. Not all employers would be required to pay (e.g. NHS, GP surgeries, hospices and disabled parking spots). Funds raised would be expected to be spent on activity set out in Local Authority Transport Strategies. (Edinburgh would have c39,000 workplace parking places liable for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 191,563 PCNs (Edinburgh City), 125,505 (Glasgow City), Dundee City (21,837), Aberdeen City (40,392). For other Local Authorities see:

https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/43636/decriminalised-parking-enforcement-income-expenditure-annual-report-2017-18.pdf

the levy.)<sup>120 121</sup> The levy is supported by MSPs but the Transport (Scotland) Bill must be passed for the levy to take effect.<sup>122</sup>

#### Box 4:

Nottingham: All English Local Authorities have the power to introduce workplace parking levies (international examples include Perth, Sydney, Melbourne and Vancouver<sup>123</sup>). Thus far, only Nottingham City Council has applied a parking levy. It charges employers, who can choose to reclaim part or all of the cost from their employees. The charge is £415 per year, with approximately 25,000 workplace parking spaces affected. The levy raises £9m a year, used to fund improvement to public transport in the city and costs around £0.5m a year to run. Public transport use is now among the highest of any UK city, with a reported link between the levy and reduced traffic congestion. There is little evidence that it has had a negative effect on the city's business stock or on inward investment. <sup>124</sup> <sup>125</sup> <sup>126</sup> <sup>127</sup>

## 3.2.5. Speed, Traffic Calming and Footways

## Speed (20mph)

- Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (Amendment) Order 1999 (S.I. 1999/1608)
- Restricted Roads (20mph Speed Limit) (Scotland) Bill (voted down)

Local Authorities have the power to introduce 20mph zones or speed limits where it is deemed appropriate. The power therefore is unevenly applied across Scotland; the process of applying these powers was described by one Local Authority contributor to this work as time consuming and laborious.

Speed limits are regulated under the provisions of Part VI of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. Section 81(1) of the 1984 Act sets a general speed limit applicable to most roads in built-up areas to not exceed 30 miles per hour.<sup>128</sup> Since July 1999, the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (Amendment) Order 1999 (S.I. 1999/1608) has given Traffic Authorities the power to introduce 20mph speed limits and zones without obtaining the consent of Scottish Ministers.<sup>129</sup> Local Authorities may apply 20mph zones or limits and part-time 20mph limits. Transport Scotland's *Good Practice Guide* on 20mph Speed Restrictions (June 2016, V.2) sets out various approaches.<sup>130</sup>

Local Authorities are advised to use the powers to set permanent or part-time 20mph limits around schools where they are able to do so, to divert unnecessary traffic away from school routes in the morning and afternoon, and to use traffic calming measures to reduce average speeds.<sup>131</sup>

A recent UK evaluation of 20mph schemes has indicated that where introduced these tend to be supported by communities and report very modest reductions in mean speeds, possibly greater for faster drivers, and signs of small but significant increases in the use of active travel modes. Evidence of any significant change in collisions and casualties is harder to identify.<sup>132</sup>

The Scottish Parliament provides a further evidence summary<sup>133</sup> and the Rural Economy and Connectivity Committee generated evidence<sup>134</sup> supported the widening of the implementation of 20mph zones but not the 'one size fits all' approach of the recently voted down Restricted Roads (20mph Speed Limit) (Scotland) Bill. The Bill sought to reduce the speed limit on restricted roads to 20mph (from 30mph), generally in residential streets and minor roads in urban areas, thereby making 20mph the norm in built-up areas while allowing a limited network of through-routes in towns and cities which are subject to speed limits higher than 20mph.<sup>135</sup> <sup>136</sup>

## Roads (Humps, traffic calming, footways, paving etc.)

• Roads (Scotland) Act 1984

The Roads (Scotland) Act 1984 requires that Local Authorities, as roads authorities, are responsible for managing and maintaining the public roads within their area.

Of relevance to active travel, pedestrians and cyclists, Local Authorities have the power to:

- construct road humps (for roads with a speed limit of 30mph or less);
- construct traffic calming works;
- provide proper/sufficient footways where necessary and desirable;
- construct, light, and maintain subways/footbridges for pedestrians; and
- provide raised paving, pillars, walls, rails, fences or barriers (e.g. at footways, footpaths, cycle tracks) to safeguard persons using a public road.<sup>137</sup>

## Traffic Calming / Urban Gateways

- Roads (Traffic Calming) (Scotland) Regulations 1994
- Road Humps (Scotland) Regulations 1998

The Roads (Traffic Calming) (Scotland) Regulations 1994 and the Road Humps (Scotland) Regulations 1998 allow Local Authorities to introduce a wide range of physical measures to slow traffic. Local Authorities may also use the Roads (Traffic Calming) (Scotland) Regulations 1994 to create narrow gateways to urban centres. This technique may discourage car access to particular areas, as long as there are suitable alternative routes for through traffic.<sup>138</sup>

The use of humps while potentially useful in terms of reducing speed, is deemed problematic by some cyclists, with other measures to reduce speed preferred.

# 3.2.6. Housing, Active Travel and Public Transport

There appear to be no specific Local Authority powers that relate directly to the provision of public transport or active travel options alongside new housing developments. However Section 75 agreements (Town & Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997) allows Local Authorities, prior to planning permission being granted to the land owner, such as house builders or other forms of development, to include a Section 75 agreement,<sup>139</sup> an obligation on the land owner to provide a financial contribution to e.g. transport, roads, schools or the public domain. How this plays out, in terms of the use of section 75 agreements to support non-car related travel is not clear.

Scottish Planning Policy indicates that new housing developments should be integrated with public transport and access to active travel networks, such as footpaths and cycle routes, rather than encouraging dependence on the car.<sup>140</sup> How well this is working is unclear (a growing evidence base is available for England<sup>141</sup> <sup>142</sup>). However work by Living Streets suggests that housing developments in Scotland are not necessarily creating low car use environments. They suggest that the existing guidance be changed to strengthen policy so that all new housing developments 'must' rather than 'should' support active travel and the use of car clubs.<sup>143</sup>

# 3.2.7. Street Design

A complex set of legislation, polices and guidance applies to street design. Local Authorities are expected to have developed their own street design guidance, to correspond with Scottish Government policy ('Designing Streets' (2010) which sets out national planning, architecture and transport policies as they relate to street design<sup>144</sup>). The guidance states, for example, that Local Authorities seek to achieve the following:

- street user hierarchy should consider pedestrians first, private motor vehicles last;
- streets should be designed to be inclusive, for all ages and abilities;
- design should provide good connectivity for all modes of movement and for all groups of street users;
- design should influence driver behaviour to reduce vehicle speed;
- signs and street markings should be kept to a minimum; and
- street furniture should have a clear function, be located for maximum benefit and reduce pedestrian obstruction.<sup>145</sup>

# 3.3. Public Transport: Bus Provision

- The Transport Act 1985
- Transport (Scotland) Act 2001

## **Background**

The Transport Act 1985 split publicly owned companies into geographical areas which were then sold to private operators, with the exception of Lothian buses. Bus services are provided by the private sector, excluding Lothian Buses (owned primarily by Edinburgh City Council, but operated commercially at arms-length). (Bus operators compete directly for local tendered services, although not all contracts receive bids from more than one operator<sup>146</sup>).

Local Authorities may only provide a subsidy for the operation of services that are socially necessary and that cannot be provided on a commercial basis. Approximately 80% of Scottish local bus services are operated commercially.

Nationally, Transport Scotland sets policy, provides the concessionary fares scheme and the Bus Service Operators Grant, to subsidise commercial and community bus routes comprised of a core payment and an incentive for the operation of green, environmentally friendly buses.<sup>147</sup> The Traffic Commissioner is responsible for Public Service Vehicle operator licensing and regulation. At regional level, 7 Regional Transport Partnerships (created by the Transport (Scotland) Act 2005) comprised of Local Authority councillors, with voting rights and external members appointed by Scottish Ministers, who may only vote in certain circumstances draft regional transport strategy. Locally, Local Authorities provide bus infrastructure, stations, shelters, bus lanes, passenger information and subsidies for socially necessary services.<sup>148</sup> <sup>149</sup> <sup>150</sup>

The Scottish bus industry, comprised of 200 operators of varying size, has been contracting with fewer staff and buses. Operator revenue, in 2017/18 was £684m, 56% from passenger revenue, and the remaining 44% (£299m) from local and central government concessionary travel support (£195m), the Bus Service Operators Grant (£51m) and Local Authority payments to bus operators for supported services (£53m).<sup>151</sup>

Bus use has fallen significantly since the 1960s, before plateauing and then beginning to fall again more recently, primarily in the south west, Strathclyde, North East, Tayside and Central. Bus route loss is around one-fifth,<sup>152</sup> with community take-over filling some gaps.<sup>153</sup> In terms of users, the Scottish Household Survey indicates that women are more likely to use buses, as are younger groups (16-19), those aged 60+ and those in urban areas. Use is lowest for those aged 30-59. 36% of all journeys (2016/17) were concessionary travel journeys.<sup>154</sup>

Head to head bus company competition is rare but where it does exist it is deemed to provide benefits for customers. Bus fares are set by the operator and have risen by almost 19% over the past five years (at 2017), lower than in the rest of the UK, but higher than for all other forms of land transport. Locally, attention has been focussed on very significant bus fare increases, particularly in Glasgow and the West of Scotland, the implication this has for those on lower incomes,<sup>5</sup> as well as potentially exclusionary modes of ticketing (e.g. using smartphones).<sup>155 156</sup>

As the Glasgow Connectivity Commission Report points out, bus use in Glasgow has fallen fastest than in any other UK city in the last decade, while use of its rail network has increased significantly. The report makes broader points about the heavy focus on major road projects in a city with one of the lowest levels of car ownership in the UK, and for those without a car the inequity imposed by reliance on bus services that are characterised by poor information provision, route loss, an old fleet, reduced service frequency, a private / public partnership overseeing bus provision that has 'foundered' and prohibitive ticket prices. In terms of gaining access to the labour market the report states that a quarter of those living on the periphery of the city have to use several buses to get to work. An example cited in the report of a public / private bus partnership deemed to be working is the four year deal between Leeds City Council and bus operators including First West Yorkshire, with funding of £173m for infrastructure improvements and £71m funding for new buses.<sup>157</sup> <sup>158</sup>

## Powers

The Transport (Scotland) Act 2001 gave Local Authorities powers to work with operators in improving bus services, including by establishing Statutory Quality Partnerships (sQPs) and Quality Contracts (QCs).

A Bus Quality Partnership Agreement requires that transport authorities and bus operators commit to improvements within a specific geographical area aimed at increasing quality by e.g. securing better quality bus services, such as around usage, air quality, service quality, vehicle improvement and improved customer service. Guidance has stated that setting up a quality partnership may require significant investment by both the authority and the operator in terms of financial and human resources. There has been limited use of these, but some voluntary arrangements (vQP) to try to attain benefits of the partnership approach without having to agree a legal process or make formal commitments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As the Poverty Alliance point out, as well as cost, low income groups tend to live in areas under-served by bus services and this applies in both rural and urban areas in the form of routes that do not link to services and opportunities for social connections that residents require. Moreover, concessionary travel is not available for many of those on low income (and awareness of the reduced cost rail travel schemes such as Jobcentre Plus Discount Card may be patchy). The changing nature of the labour market, particularly lower paid work, requires flexible working, and public transport that responds to this. This is frequently absent. See http://transformscotland.org.uk/wp/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Rethinking-Transport-Services-to-Tackle-Poverty-Poverty-Alliance-briefing-for-Transform-Scotland-2018-10-16.pdf

Ambitious targets have been set (e.g. around usage, punctuality etc. but targets are rarely delivered).<sup>159</sup>

A Bus Quality Contract is a formal arrangement between a Local Authority and local bus service operators and involves one or more Local Authorities specifying what local bus services should be provided in the area, the standards that should be provided (e.g. frequencies, fares) and other services (e.g. bus shelters). Quality Contracts are a form of franchising (i.e. providing exclusive rights to operate bus services through competition by tender). To date, no Quality Contract schemes have been implemented, with evidence that the Quality Contract system is too burdensome to attempt. <sup>160</sup> <sup>161</sup>

Note: If passed, the Transport (Scotland) Bill would replace the partnerships with Bus Service Improvement Partnerships and contracts with local bus service franchises, amending the Transport Act 1985 to allow a Local Authority or a company formed by a Local Authority or model 3 Regional Transport Partnership (which have a wider range of powers than when set up; there are several in Scotland) to provide local bus services, where services are meeting unmet need and, if commercially operated services are operating without subsidy, a council run service cannot compete with them.<sup>162</sup>

Those critical of some of the proposals, such as Transform Scotland, argue that the focus on bus ownership is misplaced and that the Bill should also seek to address the reasons they suggest are responsible for declining bus use centred on congestion, reliability, cost, the impact of parking, out of town shopping, the relatively low cost of car use and declining revenues from government against a background of rising costs. They suggest that how far Local Authorities may be able, or want to offer bus services given the significant period of time since bus deregulation (1986), loss of transport management experience, staffing and budget cuts, is questionable, and they recommend the adoption of a mechanism to monitor service standards such as around network coverage, fares, frequency and environmental standards etc.<sup>163</sup> <sup>164</sup>

# 3.4. Open Space, Greenspace and Land Access

## Open Space and the Planning System

Planning Advice Note 65 defines 'open space' as greenspace consisting of any vegetated land, water, path or geological feature in or near settlements, and civic space consisting of squares, market places and other paved land etc. This includes parks, gardens, amenity greenspace, play-space, sports areas, green corridors, natural greenspace, allotments and community growing spaces, civic space, burial grounds etc. Open spaces may be self-standing or part of 'green networks' (a green network<sup>165</sup> focuses on delivering social and economic benefits as well as environmental improvements<sup>166</sup>) and planning advice indicates that authorities should try to form, extend and enhance green networks.

Local Authorities are asked to consider open space in development plans. Strategic Development Plans, produced by the four city-regions (Aberdeen, Dundee, Edinburgh, Glasgow), focus on issues such as land for housing, business, retail and infrastructure provision and set the framework for regional green infrastructure planning and delivery.

Local Development Plans, produced by all Local Authorities, set out the local vision, priorities and policies for development – including around the protection and enhancement of open space and the circumstances in which new green or civic spaces will be required as part of new developments. Local Authorities are encouraged to take a strategic, long-term approach to planning and managing open space through the development of open space audits and strategies that take account of the quantity, quality, value and accessibility of the open space resource.

Value and quality: what might constitute value and quality etc. is set out in Scottish Natural Heritage developed guidance. High quality open space is deemed not always easy to define, but consistency and transparency is deemed critical. Key criteria should include accessibility and connectivity, safety and security, maintenance standards and community benefits and might also include contributions to health and well-being, biodiversity and the local economy etc. Local Authorities determine the mix of measures to be applied to the assessment of open space, with a role for stakeholders and communities.

Audits and open space strategies / Local Development Plans: Scottish Planning Policy states that Local Authorities should undertake an audit of the open space resource in their area and how well it meets the needs of the community, and use the information from the audit to prepare an Open Space Strategy to set out the vision for new and improved open space and to address any deficiencies identified (this is not a statutory duty and Local Authorities are not obliged to state their plans and what they intend to achieve). Maintenance: planning advice states that Local Authorities have an important role in ensuring that the existing spaces in their area are maintained to a good standard and enhanced where possible and that they identify any scope for community and voluntary sector engagement in this. The planning system is deemed to have limited control over open space maintenance although it can make provision for this through planning conditions or agreements on planning consents ensuring the provision of new or improved open space as part of development proposals e.g. for housing developments long-term arrangements should be agreed before consent is issued.<sup>167</sup> <sup>168</sup> <sup>169</sup> <sup>170</sup>

### <u>Parks</u>

Under the Local Government and Planning Act (Scotland) 1982 (Section 14):

• Subject to subsection (2) below and to section 19 of this Act, a local authority shall ensure that there is adequate provision of facilities for the inhabitants of their area for recreational, sporting, cultural and social activities.<sup>171</sup>

There is no specific reference to public parks within section 14 of the Act but 'park' is defined in section 19 of the Act. Therefore it might be possible to state that Local Authorities have a duty to provide facilities for the inhabitants of their area for recreational, sporting, cultural and social activities and many local authorities meet that duty by ensuring that there are public parks in their area ('adequate' remains undefined).

There appears to be no specific statutory duty to maintain parks and greenspace. Based on information provided for this document, Local Authorities in Scotland do not necessarily consider that they have a statutory duty to maintain parks, irrespective of the Act. (In England, as funding has fallen and new sources of funds are required, there have been calls for public park provision to be made a statutory duty,<sup>172</sup> and likewise support in Scotland for parks and greenspace to become a statutory service<sup>173</sup>).

As Greenspace Scotland point out provision of parks and greenspace is an example of 'preventative spend' e.g. an Edinburgh City Council study using a social return on investment approach has identified that for every £1 invested in the city's parks and greenspaces, £12 is delivered in return in social and environmental benefits. However whilst most Local Authorities in Scotland have open space strategies in place, as austerity impacts on spending, expenditure on parks and greenspace services has continued to fall (95% of authorities reported reduced budgets in the last 3 years) as have staffing levels, but the picture is likely to be variable.

In terms of park and greenspace quality, the lack of a single method for assessing quality means that several methodologies have been employed by Local Authorities (use of one tool therefore might generate consistency in approach). Public perceptions, as captured by a Greenspace Scotland, indicate that the quality of local greenspaces may be falling, use may be falling and in terms of deprivation, the likelihood of living further away from greenspace is greater for those living in areas of deprivation, with less use of and lower levels of satisfaction reported.<sup>174</sup> <sup>175</sup> Wider questions to be considered might also include those around how well parks and greenspaces are faring in deprived areas versus those in less deprived areas, and is funding more likely to head towards major well-kept parks versus those that might be less well used?

It is anticipated that in the UK, as park staff and skills are lost and volunteering increases, how parks are managed and by who, is likely to undergo some degree of change. External sources of income, the use of which appears to be on the rise, will likely become a means whereby parks are funded.<sup>176</sup> In Scotland there has not necessarily been any transfer of parks from Local Authority control to the friends / community groups attached to many public parks, or the appetite from those groups to manage parks. The perception is however that such groups are not necessarily getting the support and advice that they have received in the past from Local Authorities.

Some Local Authorities in Scotland are generally perceived as being better at generating revenue from their parks or in seeking funding from other sources (this requires sufficient staff to bid for funds and to achieve aims when successful in bidding), or in viewing parks and greenspace as an asset, as a means of addressing climate change<sup>177</sup> or improving health and well-being.<sup>178</sup>

Emerging examples of innovation in parks might include seeking to generate power in parks from renewable sources to then feed that into social housing or public buildings such as Greenspace Scotland's 'ParkPower' initiative. The first ParkPower initiative is at Saughton Park in Edinburgh, where a combination of private, public and charitable funds will be used to support the generation of power from hydro and ground source heat pumps for park facilities.<sup>179</sup> <sup>180</sup> Other sources of revenue might emerge from park use as outdoor kindergartens (as childcare is extended in Scotland<sup>181</sup>) and the Future Parks Accelerator (Heritage Lottery Fund and National Trust), a UK wide initiative to enable 8 Local Authorities or communities to innovate in terms of funding and management of green spaces (Edinburgh is a recipient).<sup>182</sup> How parks are used and why, via the application of technology, is currently the focus of the ParkLife project run by Edinburgh University and Edinburgh City Council<sup>183</sup> and its findings might be central in shaping future use. The following are a range of Local Authority powers that link to greenspace and land access.

## Local Nature Reserves

• National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 (Section 21)

Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) are protected areas of land designated by a Local Authority because of their special natural interest or educational value e.g. a Site of Special Scientific Interest and/or a Natura site (an area of conservation / protection under the EU Habitats and Birds Directives). The Act gives Local Authorities the power to select, acquire, manage and protect LNRs ('LNR' is not used in the Act, this title has become attributed by custom to nature reserves managed by Local Authorities exercising their functions under the Act.) Scottish Natural Heritage must be consulted by a Local Authority when carrying out these functions.<sup>184</sup>

The most recent LNR was established in Orkney in 2017. An area to be designated an LNR must be at least of local importance in terms of its natural heritage, wholly within the Local Authority area and owned or leased by the Local Authority. There are 75 LNRs, usually managed via a countryside ranger service. LNRs may also have a local management committee comprised of community members etc. Local Authorities can make byelaws to regulate inappropriate behaviour within LNRs.<sup>185</sup>

## Country Parks

• Countryside (Scotland) Act 1967 (Section 48)

Local Authorities may designate and manage country parks. They provide and manage almost all of Scotland's 40 country parks.<sup>186</sup> Most are now several decades old, and while they remain locally important, the view is that they have to some extent been subsumed into the wider spectrum of greenspace that Local Authorities provide and manage.

## **Regional Parks**

• Section 48A of the Countryside (Scotland) Act 1967, as amended by Section 8 of the Countryside (Scotland) Act 1981

Local Authorities have the power to designate regional parks within their area, with support from Scottish Natural Heritage, and with Scottish Ministerial agreement. There are currently 3 regional parks - Clyde Muirshiel, the Pentlands and the Lomond Hills.<sup>187</sup> These are extensive peri-urban areas integrating recreation with other land management activities deemed to be comparatively resource-intensive, with a relatively low profile, and all 3 are thought to be under considerable pressure with reductions in funding and dedicated staff.

## Planning: Tree Preservation Orders

- The Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 as amended by the 2006 Act The Planning etc. (Scotland) Act 2006
- Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation Order and Trees in Conservation Areas) (Scotland) Regulations 2010 (SSI 2010/434)

Local Authorities have a duty to ensure, whenever appropriate, that in granting permission for any development, adequate provision is made, by the imposition of conditions, for the preservation or planting of trees. Local Authorities have the power to make a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) if it appears to them to be: expedient in the interest of amenity and/or that the trees, groups of trees or woodlands are of cultural or historical significance. A TPO may make provision for prohibiting the cutting down, topping, lopping, uprooting, wilful damage or destruction of trees and may also secure replanting etc.<sup>188</sup>

Planning policy states that Local Authorities should seek opportunities to create new woodland in association with development and mitigate the severing or impairment of connectivity between important woodland habitats. Where woodland is removed, developers are generally expected to provide compensatory planting and this should be taken into account when preparing Local Development Plans and determining planning applications.<sup>190</sup>

#### Local Landscape Areas

There are no specific Local Authority powers around Local Landscape Areas (formerly Special Landscape Area and Area of Great Landscape Value). Local Authorities have the power to establish and manage these areas, as part of Local Development Plan activity, based on a range of criteria (scenic, cultural, nature, recreation, rarity etc.) drawing on advice e.g. from Scottish Natural Heritage. Local Landscape Areas are deemed to:

- promote a community's sense of pride in its surroundings;
- help to protect a landscape from inappropriate development;
- encourage positive landscape management; and
- play an important role in developing an awareness of the landscape.<sup>191</sup>

## Local Nature Conservation Sites

LNCS are a non-statutory designation given by Local Authorities to areas of locally important nature and landscapes (various alternative names may be used). LNCS identify locally important natural heritage that could be damaged by development. Types of LNCSs include: listed wildlife site; site of importance for nature conservation; and local geodiversity site (of interest for scientific study and education, historical significance and cultural and aesthetic value etc.).<sup>192</sup> <sup>193</sup> <sup>194</sup>

### **Conservation Areas**

• Scottish Planning Policy / Historic Environment Scotland: Policy Statement June 2016 / Historic Environment Circular 1 / Historic Environment Scotland: Managing Change in the Historic Environment

These are areas of special architectural or historic interest. Local Authorities are required to determine which parts of its area are of special architectural or historic interest. This does not place a ban upon all new development within its boundaries but this will only be granted planning permission if it can be demonstrated that it will not harm the character or appearance of the area.<sup>195 196</sup>

### Access to Land

• Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003

Under Part 1 of the Act, Local Authorities have a number of responsibilities. Duties extend to ensuring that they have drawn up a plan for a system of paths (core paths) sufficient for the purpose of giving the public reasonable access throughout their area and in setting up a local access forum to provide advice to the Local Authority. They have the power to maintain and keep core paths free of obstruction and encroachment etc. and provide directions to core paths. Powers allow Local Authorities to serve written notice on land owners who prevent or deter access to land, delineate paths via path orders, acquire land to enable or facilitate exercise of access rights, the power to install and maintain gates and lavatories etc. that contribute to the comfort and convenience of persons exercising their rights to the land. Any person authorised by the Local Authority may gain access to land in connection with exercising functions under the Act.<sup>198</sup>

Part 1 of the Act formalised Scotland's traditional 'right to roam' into a statutory framework of public access rights, based on the principle of responsible access, with obligations on both the access users and the owners of land over which there is public access. Guidance on these responsibilities is set out in the Scottish Outdoor Access Code developed by Scottish Natural Heritage and approved by Scottish Ministers. The Act has been perceived as working well (as at 2014), although there have been tensions (and a need for better guidance for Local Authorities) and these include around access issues that may not be resolved by local access forums and instead might involve taking an issue to the Sheriff Court, deemed a potentially difficult and expensive option.<sup>199</sup>

This raises questions therefore around how well Local Authorities might be able to use their powers if the consequence of this is potentially expensive, time consuming legal action.<sup>6</sup> The current picture is that dwindling Local Authority budgets have impacted on this activity and while some Local Authorities maintain active land access teams, others no longer do so. A similar picture applies to the provision of Local Authority countryside ranger services.<sup>78</sup>

## Rights of Way

• Countryside (Scotland) Act 1967 (Section 46)

Local Authorities can assert, protect and keep open and free from obstruction or encroachment any public right of way which is wholly or partly within their area, and they may take legal proceedings. They have the power to repair and maintain any public right of way within their area, but this power shall not relieve any other authority or person from any liability with respect to such repair or maintenance.<sup>200</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Scotways (Scottish Rights of Way and Access Society) for information about current court cases relating to outdoor access <a href="https://www.scotways.com/court-cases">https://www.scotways.com/court-cases</a> and the following document for court cases up to around 2010:

https://www.scotways.com/scotways\_assets/files/045\_ScotWays%20Case%20Law%20Publication%2 014-09-2010.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Monitoring of the implementation of the Act was last carried out in 2016. See:

https://www.gov.scot/publications/land-access-monitoring-implementation-of-part-1-of-the-land-reform-act/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For further information about access to land see Scottish Natural Heritage: https://www.outdooraccess-scotland.scot/sites/default/files/2018-

<sup>10/</sup>A%20Brief%20Guide%20to%20Laws%20relevant%20to%20Outdoor%20Access%20in%20Scotland.

# 3.5. Environment: Litter, Fly Tipping, Dog Fouling and Noise

### **Background**

Local Authorities, among a range of other stakeholders, are encouraged to develop Litter Prevention Action Plans to then feed into wider Community Litter Prevention Action Plans to cover each Local Authority area.<sup>201</sup> (Note: Towards a Litter-free Scotland (2014) is the national strategy that sets out how litter and fly-tipping may be addressed, with Local Authorities identified, among a range of partners as being responsible for strategy delivery).<sup>202</sup>

The nature of Scotland's litter and fly-tipping problem has been described as one that had improved (e.g. in relation to the use of Fixed Penalty Notices by Local Authorities to address litter and fly-tipping, falling levels of litter, dog fouling and vandalism and graffiti). However Keep Scotland Beautiful have indicated in work published in 2016/17, and based on a range of evidence and data sources, that positive improvements in environmental quality (e.g. litter, dog fouling, weed growth and fly-tipping) have to some extent been reversed, with a widening gap identified in environmental quality between deprived and more prosperous areas with Local Authority budgets cited as one cause of this.<sup>203 204</sup>

In terms of fly-tipping there c.60,000+ incidents in Scotland each year, but the trend is not clear, with substantial costs, in the millions, for Local Authorities. Various factors will impact on the likelihood of fly-tipping including: low number of household waste recycling centres in a Local Authority; long distance to a recycling centre; lack of transport options to reach the centre (e.g. you need a car); inconvenient opening hours of centres; limited free access to centres; perceived adequacy of kerbside collection services and costs; and availability and promptness of Local Authority uplift of bulky waste services.<sup>205</sup> The extent to which Local Authority recycling centres are open in the evening or have reduced opening hours, or have been closed, is unclear (although there is some evidence of this).

In terms of costs for bulky waste uplifts, there has been significant variation in the level of charges across Local Authorities.<sup>206</sup> If all Local Authorities now charge for uplift is not clear, although clearly charges will act as a disincentive for some potential users of this service.

#### **Powers**

Local Authorities have powers to address litter and fly-tipping but the extent to which several of these powers are used is unclear and barriers to use are likely to include the cost of employing wardens to issue Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN) for littering, the challenge of catching individuals 'in the act' of dropping litter, and what might be the relatively limited income to be generated by issuing FPNs. Those in receipt of FPNs may be able to evade payment, with greater likelihood of being taken to court in some Local Authorities versus others, as well as the slow and expensive process of using the justice system to enforce the payment of fines, or to prosecute fly-tippers (see below).

Some attention has focused on the low, and falling, numbers of prosecutions for fly-tipping in Scotland. There is no information however on how many investigations Local Authorities have undertaken, costs and manpower used, or how many of those investigations have been referred to the Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service, and why prosecutions do not take place. Given the very low levels of prosecutions, in relation to the estimated number of flytipping incidents, it might be possible to state that the current system is not particularly effective at least in terms of the number of prosecutions.

The following Local Authority powers apply to litter, household waste, flytipping, dog fouling and noise.

#### Littering

- The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (Section 87, 88)
- The Litter (Fixed Penalty Notices) (Scotland) Order 2014

Local Authorities have a duty to ensure that roads and land under their control and to which the public have access are kept free of litter and refuse. They have the power to issue a Fixed Penalty Notice for littering. The Litter (Fixed Penalty Notices) (Scotland) Order 2014 is a statutory instrument that allows Local Authorities to issue a FPN of £80 for littering. A recent FOI enquiry indicates that falling numbers of community wardens across Local Authorities in Scotland are impacting on the number of fines issued for littering and dog fouling (see below) with fines collected falling from £0.97m from £1.6m in three years from 2015/16. In Glasgow which has been the major generator of fines in Scotland, 46% of fines were not paid, and no unpaid fines were referred to the Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service, in the 3 years up to March 2018. The city lost a third of all wardens from 2015/16 to 2018 with FPNs halving to 9,954.<sup>207</sup>

#### Litter Control Area

• The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (Section 90)

Local Authorities can designate certain types of littered land to which the public have access, but is usually privately owned, as Litter Control Areas if they consider that the presence of litter or refuse on that land is detrimental to the amenities of the area. This places a duty on each occupier of that land to ensure it is kept clear of litter and refuse, so far as is practicable. Land includes car, retail and business parks, industrial estates, cinemas, bingo halls, beaches, marinas, camping sites, amusement arcades, sports facilities, motorway service stations and picnic areas.

## **Street Litter Control Notices**

• The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (Section 93)

A principal litter authority may, to prevent the accumulations of litter or refuse in and around any street (e.g. 10 metres from an automated teller machine, up to 100 metres from a betting office, shops or fast food premises) or open land adjacent to any street, issue street litter control notices imposing requirements on occupiers of premises in relation to litter or refuse. Notices can include clearing litter (excluding on roads) and providing or emptying litter bins. If the litter authority believes that a person is failing to comply with any requirement imposed by a notice they could be fined up to £2,500.

#### Litter Abatement Notice

• The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (Section 92)

Local Authorities have the power to serve a litter abatement notice if they are satisfied that the relevant land of a duty body (e.g. local authorities and statutory undertakers such as Network Rail, and also schools, colleges and universities) is defaced by litter or refuse or that defacement by litter or refuse is likely to recur. The notice is served on the occupier of the land or, if there is no occupier, on the owner. If a person on whom a notice is served fails to comply with the notice, they will be guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction to a fine (£2,500 as at 2006).

#### Waste Collection

• The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (Section 59)

If controlled waste is unlawfully deposited on land in the area of a waste regulation authority or waste collection authority (including a Local Authority), the authority may serve a notice which requires the occupier to remove the waste within a specific period not less than 21 days and / or take, within such a period, specific steps to eliminate or reduce the consequences of the waste. If a person on whom a requirement has been imposed fails, without reasonable excuse, to comply with the requirement they may be liable to a fine of up to £5000 etc.

#### **Receptacles: Household waste**

• The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (Section 46)

Where a waste collection authority (including a Local Authority) has a duty to arrange for the collection of household waste, the authority may require the (household) occupier to place the waste for collection in a specified receptacle. Occupiers have a 21 day right of appeal against any requirements imposed on them. A person who fails, without reasonable excuse, to comply with any requirements imposed by this section may be liable to a fine of up to £1,000.

### **Receptacles: Commercial waste**

• The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (Section 47)

A waste collection authority may supply receptacles for commercial or industrial waste which the person has requested the authority to collect and may make a reasonable charge for receptacles supplied. If the authority believes that any commercial or industrial waste which, if not stored in an appropriate receptacle, could cause a nuisance or be detrimental to the amenities of the locality, the authority may require the premises occupier where the waste is stored to provide an appropriate receptacle(s) for waste storage. The authority may make provisions with respect to size, construction and maintenance of receptacles, the placing of receptacles and what may be placed into the receptacles. A person who fails, without reasonable excuse, to comply with any requirements imposed under this section may be liable to a fine of up to £1000.

#### Abandoned shopping and luggage trolleys

• Environmental Protection Act 1990 (Section 99)

Section 99 and Schedule 4 of the Act provide Local Authorities with a method of dealing with abandoned trolleys in their area.

(See also: Citizens and Litter: Environmental Protection Act 1990 (Section 91) - gives citizens aggrieved by the defacement by litter or refuse of relevant land the power to make a summary application to the Sheriff.) Also of relevance:

- Section 6 of the <u>Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978</u> gives Local Authorities the power to remove from land open to the air any 'thing' other than a motor vehicle which has been abandoned without lawful authority. If the land is occupied, the council must give notice of their intention to remove. Costs can be recovered from the person leaving the refuse or a person knowingly permitting it
- Section 179 of the <u>Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act</u> <u>1997</u> enables a Local Authority to require the owner and occupier of land to take specific steps to remedy the condition of the land, if they consider that the land's condition adversely affects the amenities of the area
- Section 92 of the <u>Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982</u> creates an offence of leaving litter in areas such as common back courts and passageways. A Local Authority may make byelaws for the regulation of their cleaning by the occupier and these may provide that persons contravening such provisions shall be liable, on summary conviction, to a fine
- Section 4 of the <u>Prevention of Damage by Pests</u> Act 1949 gives Local Authorities the power to serve a notice on the owner and / or occupier of

any land to remove accumulations of waste where damage by pests is likely to occur etc.<sup>211 212</sup>

## Fly-tipping

- Environmental Protection Act 1990 (Section 33)
- Controlled Waste (Fixed Penalty Notices) (Scotland) Order 2014

The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (Section 33) prohibits the deposit, treatment, keeping or disposal of controlled waste in or on land unless a permit authorising the deposit is in place. Anyone who commits an offence under this section could be imprisoned for up to six months, fined up to £40,000 or both (with higher penalties and longer sentences if prosecuted at the High Court). Recent FOIs indicate that there have been very few prosecutions, and convictions (not including FPNs, referral to community police or verbal and written warnings) under Section 33, for this offence. In 2017/18 there were 6 successful prosecutions, in 2016/17 there were 7. 2007/08 was a peak year for convictions (27). In most years convictions have been approximately 12 or 13.

A statutory instrument, the Controlled Waste (Fixed Penalty Notices) (Scotland) Order 2014 allows Local Authorities to issue a FPN for fly-tipping of up to £200. Penalties can be issued by the police, Local Authorities, and other public bodies including Loch Lomond and the Trossachs National Park.<sup>213</sup> <sup>214</sup> <sup>215</sup>

## Dog Fouling

- The Dog Fouling (Scotland ) Act 2003
- The Dog Fouling (Fixed Penalty) (Scotland) Order 2016

The Dog Fouling (Scotland) Act 2003 makes it an offence for a person to fail to clear up their dog's waste in certain public places, such as footpaths and pavements. Local Authorities must authorise at least one person to issue Fixed Penalty Notices for the offence and may issue a notice, under The Dog Fouling (Fixed Penalty) (Scotland) Order 2016, for £80.<sup>216</sup> Statistics gathered by *The National* newspaper indicate that there is tremendous variability in how many FPNs are issued to dog owners for dog fouling (1511 FPNs issued in Glasgow (2016) and Orkney (0), Shetland (0) and Aberdeenshire (1).<sup>217</sup>

## Noise Control

- Part 5 (sections 41 to 54) of the Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004
- Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982
- Environmental Protection Act 1990
- Control of Pollution Act 1974

Local Authorities have a range of powers to deal with noise problems. The provisions of Part 5 of the Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004 give Local Authorities power to implement a noise nuisance service for up to 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Local Authority officers have the power to issue warning notices, issue Fixed Penalty Notices and seize and remove noise making equipment.<sup>218</sup>

# 3.6. Recreation and Culture

- Public Libraries Consolidation (Scotland) Act 1887
- Local Government and Planning Act (Scotland) 1982
- Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973
- Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994
- Local Government in Scotland Act 2003

Local Authorities have a duty to ensure adequate provision of recreational, sporting, cultural and social facilities and activities (Local Government and Planning Act (Scotland) 1982). This duty was transferred to the new unitary authorities under Schedule 13 of the Local Government etc. (Scotland) Act 1994. They may contribute by way of a grant or loan towards the expenses of any organisation or body which, in the opinion of the authority, provides or promotes the provision of cultural activities or facilities whether inside or outside the area of the Local Authority concerned.<sup>219</sup> (The Scottish Government does not consider that it should define what constitutes <u>adequate</u> provision of facilities. In a written parliamentary answer, the Minister for Public Health and Sport in 2009 stated that "the Scottish Government believes it is for Local Authorities to determine according to local needs and circumstances".<sup>220</sup> Adequate provision is likely to have been interpreted in various ways by Local Authorities leading to variation dependent on local policy and resources.<sup>221</sup>)

Local Authorities have the <u>power</u> under the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994 to contribute by way of grant or loan towards the expenses of any organisation or body which, in the opinion of the authority, provides or promotes the provision of cultural activities or facilities etc. (to promote music, theatre, dance, opera, visual art or other art forms and museums and galleries).<sup>222</sup>

Section 20 of The Local Government (Scotland) Act 2003 provides that Local Authorities have the <u>power</u> to do anything which it considers is likely to promote or improve the wellbeing of its area and the persons within that area (see 'Advancing Well-being' power above).<sup>223</sup>

Local Authorities also have the <u>power</u> (under the Public Service Reform (Scotland) Act 2010) to work in partnership with Creative Scotland to support the creative sector in the local area.<sup>224</sup>

(Public Libraries: Consolidation (Scotland) Act 1887 – Local Authorities can purchase land or buildings suitable for libraries, museums and art galleries. They have a <u>duty</u> to manage, regulate and control these. Section 163(2) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 places a duty on authorities to secure the provision of adequate library facilities.)

# 3.7. Heat and Electricity: Generation and Sale

### <u>Background</u>

By 2030 the Scottish Government aims to generate 50% of Scotland's overall energy consumption from renewable sources, 100% of electricity demand equivalent from renewables by 2020, 11% heat demand from renewables by 2020, and by 2050 to have decarbonised the energy system almost completely.<sup>225 226</sup>

Given that a significant proportion of emissions are attributed to fossil fuel use for heating there has been growing interest in the use of low carbon district heating networks, to contribute to decarbonization goals. Heat networks have been considerably slower to develop in the UK, particularly in comparison with Nordic and Eastern European countries, primarily due to energy supply nationalization, subsequent liberalization in the 1980s, and the long-term strategy of developing domestic natural gas as a secure energy source. The UK government has been keen to accelerate the local development of district heat networks, with heat networks providing local stakeholders with an opportunity to address sustainability, climate change, economic development, fuel poverty, energy security and energy autonomy agendas.<sup>227 228</sup>

Local Authorities in Scotland have been encouraged, with support from District Heating Scotland,<sup>229</sup> on a voluntary basis, to develop district heating strategies, or to include a district heating element in wider strategies or plans such as Sustainable Energy Action Plans.<sup>230</sup> Scottish Planning Policy states that local development plans should support the development of heat networks in as many locations as possible, even if initially reliant on carbon-based fuels and where heat networks are not viable, microgeneration and heat recovery technologies associated with individual properties should be encouraged.<sup>231</sup>

There are 800 district and communal heating networks in Scotland, supplying c.25,000 customers. Scottish Government is considering legislation to regulate district and communal heating to set standards and identify the areas most appropriate for district heating (in 2015 it was estimated that 6.7% of Scotland's heat demand could be met by heat networks in 2025). Several funding sources support this work, as well as the Scottish Government generated heat map for Local Authorities to use to visualise and assess who needs heat, heat sources, and how these can be connected efficiently to reduce heat supply costs and the carbon intensity of heat generation.<sup>232</sup> <sup>233</sup>

It is recognised that costs for district heating systems remain higher than for other energy distribution networks, thus requiring a sufficient number of users over a long term to strike a balance between recouping costs and keeping bills affordable. Scottish Government have also funded 23 Local Authorities thus far to develop Local Heat and Energy Efficiency Strategies (LHEES), where it is anticipated that Local Authorities will seek to undertake authority-wide assessments of the energy performance and heat demand of the existing building stock, socio-economic assessment of potential energy efficiency and heat decarbonisation solutions etc.<sup>234</sup>

District heating networks deliver heat from single or multiple energy sources to a number of buildings. Heat sources might include from industrial processes, renewable technologies such as heat pumps, biomass,<sup>9</sup> solar thermal, and hydrogen, from Combined Heat and Power using traditional fossil fuels, energy from waste, anaerobic digestion or woodfuel, and from thermal storage heated by renewable technologies such as wind. Establishing such networks entails significant infrastructure investment, which is most cost-effective in urban centres.<sup>235</sup> Moreover designing a district heating network requires an understanding of the overall heat demand and patterns of use, as well as long term strategic planning to avoid 'island' developments.<sup>236</sup>

UK local government is at early stage in the development of district heating networks, which tend to be small scale, with energy related action tending to focus on efficiencies through building insulation, rather than area-wide investment, with various barriers, particularly lack of funding, staff and resources and high capital costs (so networks may be more suited to urban areas, with higher numbers of end users), lack of expertise and skills, and the absence of specific techniques, rules and contracts.<sup>237</sup> <sup>238</sup> Heat networks could signal a re-emergence of Local Authorities as key energy service providers, requiring the reallocation of decision making, expertise, ownership, and responsibility for energy services.<sup>239</sup>

## **Generation and Sale of Heat and Electricity**

• Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973

The Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 gives Local Authorities the power to generate heat and electricity, and power to purchase, sell and supply heat.<sup>240</sup> The extent of Local Authority activity in Scotland, which systems are applied, who the customers are and what the benefits of those schemes may be are difficult to identify. (See Box 5 below for an example of the use of district heating systems in Dundee City).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Scottish Government encourages adoption of biomass combustion to reduce emissions. However biomass combustion contributes to emissions of air pollutants, especially particulate matter. Evidence indicates that biomass boilers burning wood will not be a major source of PM10 and PM2.5 in urban areas, although where PM levels are already close to the 2010 PM10 objective, biomass might lead to exceedences in some urban areas. Large scale uptake of biomass in urban areas could increase the difficulty in achieving the PM2.5 exposure reduction target of 15% by 2020. Screening tools have been developed for use by Local Authorities to assess possible impact of biomass systems as part of the planning process. See:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-andguidance/2018/03/local-air-quality-management-policy-guidance-scotland/documents/00507617pdf/00507617-pdf/govscot%3Adocument

However examples of activity include Aberdeen Heat and Power Ltd, set up by Aberdeen City Council in 2002 as a not-for-profit independent company to develop Combined Heat and Power schemes (CHP) whereby electricity is generated locally for sale, at cost rather than market based heat tariffs, and the heat emitted by the generator is captured and used to heat properties, both residential and public, with the aim of reducing heating costs, fuel poverty and C02 emissions.<sup>241 242</sup>

#### Box 5:

Dundee City Council (with a history of district heating system provision in the 1920s to supply houses on the Logie Estate<sup>243</sup>) operates four district heating systems, in the form of hot water from central boiler houses, across residential buildings. The size and scale of Dundee (i.e. more compact than other major Scottish cities) has been deemed potentially one factor, amongst others, that has contributed to the development of these schemes.

The aim has been to link district heating schemes to areas of higher deprivation to address fuel poverty, poverty more broadly, emissions, heating efficiency, and to use the installation of district heating as a means of undertaking much wider regeneration. Central to this has been a need for economies of scale, which means that sufficient numbers of residents are required to make schemes (which tend to be very expensive to set up) more cost effective i.e. they are more suitable for high density housing versus individual homes. Hence the schemes have been applied to council multistory flats for example in the Dallfield, Lansdowne, Lochee and Whorterbank areas. Properties in Dallfield for example were inspected to address house quality, with new kitchens and bathrooms installed as well as external improvements including cladding and development of community spaces to contribute to making the flats more desirable, using funding from several sources. Renewable forms of energy also connect into this project in the form of solar panels used to generate lighting for stairwells.

A challenge is around how housing estates, and areas of deprivation, on the edge of the city may connect to existing district heating schemes. It is also deemed easier to link district heating into new builds than to retrofit to existing housing. Moreover the existing schemes are a feature of public sector housing and how these might be incorporated into (smaller scale) housing designed and delivered by the private sector will be dependent on national policy and the provision of funding streams (the District Heating Loan Fund in Scotland is open to SMEs), as well as the ambitions of housebuilders.

There are plans to generate power in Dundee using council owned assets (including the upcoming Regional Performance Centre for Sport) to develop a district energy hub (combining heat pumps, gas CHP, solar thermal, PVs, and large thermal stores, with gas boilers for peak times and back-up), generating more power than is required for these buildings to then link the energy hub to local housing estates, such as the recently regenerated Mill of Mains area.

Future activity is anticipated to link into electricity generated by waste from a private sector contractor (MVV Environment Baldovie Ltd) initially intended for the Michelin Tyre Factory, which is set for closure, and, potentially, to link up with several other public sector partners to supply district heating to a number of public buildings in the city centre.<sup>244</sup>

### Generation and Sale of Heat and Electricity from Renewable Sources

- Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973
- Sale of Electricity by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations 2010

The Sale of Electricity by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations 2010 permit Local Authorities to sell electricity generated from specific renewable sources (wind, solar, aerothermal, geothermal, hydrothermal and ocean energy, hydropower, biomass, landfill gas, sewage treatment plant gas, and biogases). Previously Local Authorities were only permitted to sell electricity produced from waste or in association with heat.<sup>245</sup> <sup>10</sup>

In relation to community and locally owned renewable energy sources (e.g. wind, hydroelectric, wave and tidal, solar photovoltaics, waste incineration, heat pumps, solar thermal panels, biomass (wood), solar air/solar ventilation systems etc.), a 2018 survey (full, contemporary information from all Local Authorities was not provided to the survey authors) found that the second largest proportion of operational community and local renewable capacity was held by Local Authorities (18% of capacity), behind farms and estates.

The largest number of individual installations were in housing association ownership, followed by Local Authorities. South Lanarkshire and Highland councils held the largest share of Local Authority owned renewable energy capacity (by MW) at June 2018. Stirling and South Lanarkshire councils had the largest numbers of installations by a considerable margin, with 2,260 primarily heat pumps and 1,780 primarily solar PV individual installations respectively. By comparison, Fife had 830 systems, City of Edinburgh had 55 and Dumfries & Galloway had 35. Across all Local Authorities included in the survey, biomass had the largest share of capacity, followed by heat pumps, solar PV, energy from waste and solar thermal and wind.<sup>246</sup>

Note: one Local Authority respondent mentioned that the business case for the development and extension of renewable forms of energy within the Local Authority area had to some extent been undermined by reduction to the

<sup>10</sup> For further information about what Local Authorities might do in relation to these powers see: http://www.districtheatingscotland.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/DistrictHeatingLegalPowerReportV2Nov2014.pdf

payments made by the UK Feed in Tariff scheme (now closed) i.e. a payment for generating power from renewable sources.

# 3.8. Alcohol Licensing

• Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005

Further Acts that impact upon the licensing regime in Scotland include:

- Alcohol etc. (Scotland) Act 2010
- Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010
- Alcohol (Minimum Pricing) (Scotland) Act 2012
- Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015<sup>247</sup>

The Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 gave local Licensing Boards the responsibility to grant or reject alcohol licenses and a statutory duty to focus on five 'licensing objectives' (preventing crime and disorder, securing public safety, preventing public nuisance, protecting and improving public health and protecting children from harm). These are to be viewed as an ongoing aspiration as opposed to a fixed standard.<sup>248</sup>

Licensing Boards are quasi-judicial bodies consisting of locally elected councillors, with support from Local Authority staff, including a qualified solicitor who provides legal advice. Licensing Boards are entirely separate legal entities from Local Authorities.<sup>249</sup> <sup>250</sup> Local Authorities must ensure there is a Board for a Local Authority area, although the Act allows Local Authorities the discretion to provide a single Board or to subdivide the local area and provide multiple Boards. Boards must publish a statement of licensing policy, assess overprovision of alcohol and to keep a public register etc. Policy statements must ensure that policies seek to promote the licensing objectives.<sup>251</sup>

Licensing Boards have discretion to determine appropriate licensing arrangements according to local circumstances and their own legal advice. They have discretion to grant a licence taking into account any police objections and Licensing Standards Officers' comments; and having regard to the licensing objectives, they may hold a hearing but this is not mandatory. They have the discretion to impose further conditions on premises licences under section 27(6) of the Act with consistency when imposing these for similar types of premises.<sup>252</sup>

In terms of overprovision, each licensing policy statement published by a Licensing Board must state the extent to which the Board considers there to be overprovision of all or particular licensed premises in any locality within the Board's area.<sup>253</sup> This provides the grounds for refusal of a premises licence application in areas identified as an overprovision locality. (Statements should provide the policy on which Boards will base their decisions in implementing their functions under the Act, however there appears to be flexibility, excluding overprovision, to some extent in what they might wish to include in those statements.<sup>254</sup> The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 places a

duty on Boards to publish an annual report, explaining how the Board has had regard to the licensing objectives etc.<sup>255</sup>)

It is a duty, but Licensing Boards have flexibility to decide if there is overprovision. They have a duty to consult and gather evidence but can determine the overprovision policy and how the evidence will be interpreted and weighted. Their assessment must also be based on credible evidence of a causal link between the engagement of one or more of the licensing objectives and a concentration of licensed premises in a locality. For a Board to find a harm will arise as a consequence of the sale of alcohol, there must exist a causal link between the alleged cause and the alleged harm etc.<sup>256</sup>

Critiques are emerging of the Scottish licensing system<sup>257</sup> <sup>258</sup> <sup>259</sup> (and recognition that considerable effort in promoting the licensing objectives and policy implementation has taken place, although with variation in this<sup>260</sup>) and e.g. as Wright states, Boards can act autonomously to interpret evidence about alcohol availability and to establish local thresholds for overprovision as they see fit, with no national 'example' or template overprovision statement that they can use.<sup>261</sup>

More broadly, the licensing system is designed to allow for local variation and discretion in decision-making, but the existence of objectives is intended to establish some degree of consistency. However this consistency is not always apparent between Boards or within them, with inconsistency and variability in how licensing is applied. Fear of litigation from licence applicants and lack of clarity e.g. in relation to overprovision and in effectively linking population level harms to individual premises are likely to be the key barriers in applying restrictive policies.<sup>262</sup>

In terms of accountability, Wright for example argues that legislation has placed 'councillors on quasi-judicial, administrative boards but has not developed a corresponding system to hold them accountable for their actions on it'. Moreover Boards sit independently from the established accountability regime for other local council committees, and when compared with others who have alcohol policy implementation duties (e.g. Alcohol and Drug Partnerships), may be deemed to be less accountable for their decisions than ADPs. The upshot is 'a system in which Licensing Boards continue to act with problematic levels of flexibility and autonomy from the rest of the alcohol policy implementation system' thereby creating a 'tension between licensing legislation and enacted licensing practices'.<sup>263</sup>

## Local Licensing Forums

Under the 2005 Act Local Authorities are required to establish Local Licensing Forums for their area, of 5 to 21 members. Where a council area is divided into licensing divisions, Local Authorities may, instead of establishing a Local Licensing Forum, establish separate such Forums for each division. In appointing members of a Forum, the Local Authority must ensure as far as possible that the membership of the Forum is representative of the interests of persons who have an interest which is relevant to the Forum's general functions. Membership includes the Licensing Standards Officer for the area and a representative of the local health board, the Chief Constable, and others with an interest in licensing (e.g. education, social work, local residents, licence holders), with links out to the Local Alcohol Action Teams, a representative of which might sit on the Forum. Local Authorities may also place a member of the Board on the Forum.

Forums (which should be independent and expert, and have an identity separate from the Board or any other interest groups) review the operation of the licensing system in their area and give general advice to the Board. They cannot comment on individual applications. The Board has a duty to 'have regard' to the Forum's views and must offer reasons where it takes decisions against the advice of the Forum.<sup>264</sup> <sup>265</sup> <sup>266</sup> <sup>267</sup>

According to a recent Scottish Parliament Local Government and Communities Committee meeting, 'concerns have been expressed that in some areas, Forums have not been fulfilling their statutory purpose, with irregular meetings due to a lack of participation by some members.'<sup>268</sup> There is a perception that Forums are not functioning as well as they should with variability across Scotland and, while there is evidence of good practice, there also appear to be questions for some Forums around leadership, their role and remit, lack of powers, competing interests on Forums, bias towards the licensed trade, involving and engaging specific groups and the community, and retaining members.<sup>269</sup> <sup>270</sup> <sup>271</sup>

#### Licensing Standards Officers

Local Authorities are responsible for employing Licensing Standards Officers (LSO) under the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005. Each council must appoint at least one LSO. LSOs have several functions and these include:

- providing information and guidance concerning the operation of the Act;
- supervising the compliance by the holders of premises and occasional licences with the conditions of their licences and other requirements of this Act (includes powers to issue notices to licence holders; and in relation to premises licences, to make licence review applications);
- providing information to Licensing Boards about any conduct of holders of, or persons applying for, personal licences in the area, which is inconsistent with the licensing objectives; and
- providing mediation services for the purpose of avoiding or resolving disputes or disagreements between licence holders etc.

The LSO has the power if they believe that licence holders are breaching conditions to e.g. issue a notice to the holder of the licence requiring action be taken to remedy the breach or to review the licence.

An LSO has power, for the purpose of determining whether the activities being carried out in any licensed premises in the area are being carried on in accordance with the licence, to enter the premises at any time to carry out an inspection.<sup>272</sup> <sup>273</sup>

### <u>Byelaws</u>

- Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973
- Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004

Under section 201(1) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, a Local Authority may make Byelaws for the good rule and government of the whole or part of their area, and for the prevention of nuisances (Byelaws cannot be made if there is a provision for that purpose under another piece of legislation).

Drinking bans in public places:

Byelaws may include banning the consumption of alcohol in designated public places under provisions contained in the 1973 Act subject to confirmation by the Scottish Ministers (see Circular LJ/02/2014<sup>274</sup>).

Sections 128 and 129 of the Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004 gives police the power to issue a Fixed Penalty Notice for drinking alcohol in contravention of Byelaws made under sections 201-203 of the 1973 Act. If an offender refuses to pay the FPN, or challenges the allegation in court and is found guilty, the offender is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 (£500) on the standard scale.<sup>275</sup>

27 Local Authorities have byelaws that prohibit the drinking of alcohol in designated public places (all times or specific times) in more than 480 towns and villages, together with built up areas in Glasgow and Edinburgh (see the Improvement Service for information about the availability of alcohol prohibition area datasets.)<sup>276</sup> For example, byelaws on drinking in public places in Glasgow were originally introduced in August 1996 under sections 201-203 of the 1973 Act and amended in 2008 under section 202A of the same Act. Under these Byelaws, subject to certain exceptions, any person who consumes alcoholic liquor in a designated place or is found to be in possession of an open container containing alcohol shall be guilty of an offence.<sup>277</sup>

## Anti-Social Behaviour (Scotland) Act 2004

Local Authorities have powers under the Anti-Social Behaviour (Scotland) Act 2004 to apply noise controls to specific areas and at specific times. Closing a venue can be authorised by a senior police officer, following consultation with the Local Authority.<sup>278</sup>

# 3.9. Gambling

• The Gambling Act (2005)

Gambling regulation is shared between Licensing Boards and the Gambling Commission. The Commission states that Licensing Boards (a separate legal entity from Local Authorities<sup>279</sup>) have a broad discretion to regulate local provision of gambling under the Gambling Act (2005), e.g. to: issue a statement of licensing policy, setting expectations about how gambling will be regulated in a particular area; grant, refuse or attach conditions to premises licences; review premises licences; and to proactively engage local operators to mitigate risks to the licensing objectives, prompted by justifiable concerns.

The Act places a legal duty on both the Commission and licensing authorities (Boards in Scotland) to aim to permit gambling, in so far as it is considered to be reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives. Licensing authorities have a duty to pursue the licensing objectives and all policy statements should begin by stating the three licensing objectives (s.1 of the Act), which the policy will promote:

- 1. preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime;
- 2. ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and
- 3. protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling.

In exercising its functions under the Act, Section 153 states that the licensing authority shall aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is:

- a. in accordance with any relevant code of practice under section 24;
- b. in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Commission under section 25;
- c. reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives (subject to a and b); and
- d. in accordance with the licensing authority's statement of licensing policy (policy statement) (subject to a to c above).

The 'aim to permit' framework in the Act provides wide scope for licensing authorities to impose conditions on a premises licence, reject, review or revoke premises licences etc. and engage with local operators to mitigate risks to the licensing objectives.

S.349 of the Act requires all licensing authorities to publish a statement of licensing principles they propose to apply in exercising their functions under the Act. This forms the licensing authority's mandate for managing local gambling

provision and sets out how they view local risks and its expectations in relation to operators with local premises.

Licensing Boards in Scotland were expected to review and publish their policy statements by January 2019. The statement is described by the Gambling Commission as 'an important part of the architecture of local gambling regulation and we expect that each licensing board will use it to set out the local issues, priorities and risks that inform and underpin its approach to local regulation.' The form of the statement can largely be determined by the licensing authority itself.

(See: http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/GLA5.pdf)

The statement should set out what factors it is likely to take into account when considering applications for premises licences and licence reviews etc. This may be informed by the licensing authority's local area profile (see below) and e.g. the proximity of gambling premises to schools, vulnerable adult centres and residential areas. A statement may set out whether there is a need for conditions to mitigate risks, in light of the third licensing objective (protecting children and other vulnerable persons). Where a statement makes clear reference to local risks, operators may be able to better understand and proactively mitigate risks. They are required to share their risk assessments with licensing authorities when applying for or varying a premises licence. Each application or review will be decided on its merits and will depend to a large extent on the gambling type proposed for the premises.

In terms of local area profiles the Commission states that licensing authorities may wish to complete an assessment to map local areas of concern. There is no requirement to do so but this is deemed helpful for the authority and operators, in having a better awareness of risks (potential and actual), using information held by the authority and partners with proactive engagement with local organisations (health, housing, education, community, GamCare or equivalent).

Local area profiles are viewed as supporting more constructive engagement with licensees to coordinate the response to local risks, providing greater clarity for operators around risk to inform their risk assessments and to support licensing authorities to make robust but fair decisions, based on a clear, published set of factors and risks that are less susceptible to challenge. There is no prescriptive template for a profile.<sup>280</sup> (See Glasgow City Council: Guidance on Undertaking Local Gambling Risk Assessments, 2019<sup>281</sup>).

### Licensing Standards Officers

- Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005
- The Gambling Act (2005)

LSOs are appointed under the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 and have various functions. They have a general duty to supervise compliance with the requirements of the 2005 Act and may enter and inspect licensed premises for that purpose. They provide information and guidance on the operation of the Act, supervising compliance with premises and occasional licences and seeking review of a premises licence where appropriate. A review may be sought where an LSO considers that illegal activity may be taking place on licensed premises, including illegal gambling etc.<sup>282</sup>

The picture, as far as can be gleaned from secondary sources in terms of how LSOs, working for Local Authorities and appointed under the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005, might operate under the Gambling Act 2005 as 'authorised persons' (section 304 of the Gambling Act) is complex. For example:

The perception, as COSLA have stated (2019), is that Local Authorities in Scotland have limited scope under existing licensing legislation, and planning, to address gambling, and particularly where they perceive that there are clear links between gambling, the location of gambling establishments and areas of lower economic activity.

COSLA further state that there is no firm legal basis for Local Authority officers to carry out enforcement activities in relation to gambling in Scotland. They state that section 304 of the Gambling Act conveys enforcement powers on authorised officers of the licensing authority. However in Scotland the licensing authority is the Licensing Board, a separate legal entity with no officers. They state that the wording of the Gambling Act causes problems for Scottish Local Authorities and that legislative changes are required to allow proper and legal enforcement activity to be conducted in Scotland, which would be less likely to be subject to legal challenge.<sup>283</sup>

The Gambling Commission had set out some advice around this (c.2015). They state that authorised persons in Scotland have an important role to play in securing compliance with the Gambling Act. An LSO of a Scottish local authority may be an 'authorised person' in terms of the Act, such as for example an environmental health officer, and where so they can carry out formal enforcement activity. Those powers are quite separate from the powers conferred on LSOs in relation to alcohol licensing by the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005.

The Commission's understanding is that the enforcement powers contained in the Gambling Act cannot be exercised 'as of right' by an LSO.

However the Act provides that 'an officer of an authority other than a licensing authority' is an 'authorised person' where the authority has statutory functions

relating to minimising or preventing the risk of pollution of the environment or harm to human health, and the officer is authorised by the authority for the purpose of exercising any of those statutory functions (under section 304(3)). This provision does not require any positive action by authorities (including local authorities) to designate officers of the authority as authorised persons for the purposes of the Act.

The Commission states that it is their view that any officers of authorities with the statutory functions described who have been authorised by the authority in connection with those functions will already, as a matter of law, be authorised persons in terms of the Act, such as environmental health officers. They state that it is a matter for Local Authorities and Licensing Boards to consider how those officers are currently discharging their statutory functions under the Act.

An LSO in Scotland is not, by virtue simply of being an LSO, an 'authorised person' in the Act, but LSOs may be authorised persons because they are as a matter of fact exercising other statutory powers on behalf of their Local Authority.<sup>284</sup>

#### Planning Policy

In terms of gambling, Local Development Plans and 'change of use' legislation, Local Authorities are required to produce a Development Plan to set out a long term vision for where development should and should not happen.<sup>285</sup> In Scottish Planning Policy (2014) there is scant mention of gambling, betting or pay day lenders etc. and where reference is made, the means by which Local Authorities might address these via the planning system remains vague.

The policy does state however that: plans should include policies to support an appropriate mix of uses in town centres, local centres and high streets. Where a town centre strategy indicates that further provision of particular activities would undermine the character and amenity of centres or the well-being of communities, plans should include policies to prevent such over-provision and clustering.<sup>286</sup>

Change of planning class:

• The Town and Country Planning (Miscellaneous Amendment and Transitional Saving Provision) (Scotland) Order 2016

The effect of the Order is that any change of use to a betting shop (or pay day lending premises) is likely to require a planning application. The Order also amends the General Permitted Development Order (GDPO) to ensure that a change of use from a Betting Office or from Pay Day Lending to Class 1 (shops) or Class 2 (financial, professional and other services) is permitted development.<sup>287 288</sup>

The extent to which Local Authorities are able to use the planning system successfully and to reject planning applications from gambling operators for physical premises without then risking or being subject to legal action by those operators is unclear. (The existing powers clearly have no traction on the growing online betting industry).

# 3.10. Sexual Entertainment Venues

• Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015

The provisions of the Act which relate to the licensing of sexual entertainment venues (SEV) came into force on 26 April 2019. The licensing of SEV is not mandatory and Local Authorities can determine if they wish to licence SEV, to limit their numbers and to determine individual licence applications.

When deciding if to licence a SEV, Local Authorities should obtain independent legal advice in order to ensure that they are able to mitigate the risks of legal challenge to an acceptable level, and take into account the Public Sector Equality Duty to which Local Authorities are required to pay 'due regard' when carrying out their functions and the specific duty to assess and review policies and practices.

Where Local Authorities choose (even where there are currently no SEVs in the area) to licence SEVs, they must pass a resolution for SEV licensing to have effect in their area, and prepare an SEV policy statement. The statement should set out and justify their position, provide details of possible impact of licensing SEVs e.g. in terms of nuisance, crime, disorder, public safety, protecting children and young people from harm and reducing violence against women.

When considering whether to pass a resolution to licence SEVs it is suggested that Local Authorities consider issues such as the location of schools, places of worship, residential areas, women's refuges and services for women, children and young people, anti-social behaviour incidents, sexual assaults, prostitution and incidents of human trafficking or exploitation locally.

Local Authorities may also seek the views of local people and businesses prior to deciding whether to pass a resolution, as well as operators of known SEVs, local police and Human Trafficking units. Local Authorities who choose to licence SEVs must determine the appropriate number of SEVs for their area and for each relevant locality within their area. They may refuse applications on the grounds that the Local Authority area or relevant locality is equal to or exceeds the number of SEVs that the authority considers appropriate (nil may be considered an appropriate number).<sup>289</sup> (Edinburgh and Glasgow City Council's have both sought to seek the views of the public around this).

# 3.11. Housing

### <u>Background</u>

Local Authorities have a legal duty to assess and respond to housing need, homelessness and threatened homelessness, to inspect houses to ensure they are of a tolerable standard (and where not, are closed or improved), licence Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) and keep a register of all private landlords. They must provide adaptations to private housing to meet the needs of disabled occupants.

Local Authorities have a duty to produce a Local Housing Strategy (LHS) designed to address housing need in the area. This should reflect the findings of a Housing Need and Demand Assessment (HNDA) and be linked to the area's Local Development Plan. A LHS is used to develop Strategic Housing Investment Plans. Once housing need has been assessed, councils must then identify the funding and developers to build the new homes needed. In the current financial climate this can be difficult. Since 2012/13, Local Authorities determine where Scottish Government subsidies for new homes within their area should be allocated, and for monitoring and ensuring local developments are built.<sup>290 291 292</sup>

Local Authorities have a range of powers that can be applied e.g. to cap rents and generate physical and environmental improvements and reduce the number of unoccupied homes. These include:

#### Housing - Rent Pressure Zones (private sector tenants)

• The Private Housing (Tenancies) (Scotland) Act 2016

Local Authorities have the power to apply to Scottish Ministers to have an area designated as a 'rent pressure zone' (RPZ) if they can prove that:

- rents in the area are rising too much;
- rent rises are causing problems for tenants; or
- the local council is coming under pressure to provide housing or subsidise the cost of housing as a result.

Zones apply to rent increases for tenants with a private residential tenancy. Rent increases for tenants with a short assured or assured tenancy are not affected.<sup>11</sup> If an area is designated a RPZ, a cap is set on how much rents are allowed to increase each year in that area. Scottish Ministers must consult landlord and tenant representatives before they make any area a RPZ.<sup>293</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> From December 2017 the private residential tenancy (which is open-ended, which means a landlord will no longer be able to ask a tenant to leave simply because the fixed term has ended) came into force, replacing the assured and short assured tenancy agreements for all new tenancies. See: https://www.gov.scot/policies/private-renting/private-tenancy-reform/

provisions entered into force on 1 December 2017. Currently there are no RPZs in Scotland.<sup>294</sup>

Note: A 2018 report from Shelter Scotland states that there are currently no private rent data sources that would provide the evidence needed to support a RPZ application. Any Local Authority data gathering exercise would require to be an on-going exercise, in order to build up information that tracks annual rent increases to both inform any application process and, thereafter, to police RPZ adherence. Cutbacks mean that Local Authority in-house research capacity is now thin on the ground; so authorities would more than likely need to commission consultants to gather and analyse the necessary data, which is likely to add to the cost of a challenging and speculative endeavour.<sup>295</sup>

## Housing - Enhanced Enforcement Areas

- Housing (Scotland) Act 2014 (SSI 2015/252)
- Enhanced Enforcement Areas Schemes (Scotland) Regulations 2015

Enhanced Enforcement Areas Scheme (Scotland) Regulations 2015 enable a Local Authority to apply for additional discretionary powers so that it can target enforcement action at an area characterised by poor housing conditions in the private rented sector. The powers are intended to be used to deal with the most exceptional cases of poor standards. e.g.:

- where there is a concentration of properties let by private landlords in a geographic area;
- where those properties are characterised as being of a poor environmental standard;
- there is overcrowding; and
- a prevalence of anti-social behaviour.

The Housing (Scotland) Act 2014 prescribes that the designation will last for five years once granted by Scottish Ministers and allows the Local Authority to reapply for designation before the five years has expired. Powers include the request for an enhanced criminal record check for landlords and a requirement for existing landlords applying for registration or renewing their registration, and the unregistered, to produce documents or evidence for inspection.<sup>296</sup> For the example of the application of the regulations see Govanhill, Glasgow.<sup>297</sup> Compulsory Purchase Orders (see below) are now being applied within the Govanhill Enhanced Enforcement Area.<sup>298</sup>

#### Compulsory Purchase Orders

• Acquisition of Land (Authorisation Procedure) (Scotland) Act 1947

Local Authorities, with several other public sector organisations and infrastructure providers, have powers to use Compulsory Purchase Orders

(CPOs) to purchase land, or property, without the agreement of the owner if there is considered to be a strong enough case such as economic benefits from investment, or environmental or social benefits or benefits derived from bringing a derelict property or vacant land back into use. (There are currently around 11,600 hectares, twice the size of Dundee, of derelict and urban vacant land in Scotland, and more than 37,000 long-term empty homes. The figures have not changed substantially since the late 1990s, making this an entrenched problem.<sup>299</sup>) Scottish Ministers will determine if the CPO submitted to them should be confirmed (with or without modification) or not confirmed.<sup>300 301</sup>

How far Local Authorities are willing to apply CPOs is unclear. The perception is that there is a reluctance to apply for CPOs because of concerns in relation to the cost, timescales, risks and the complexity of pursuing and securing a CPO. A CPO therefore might be viewed as a last resort, after a range of other options have been applied and exhausted, e.g. in relation to engaging with an owner to bring a property back into use. In terms of the latter a Local Authority must also consider if a property, or land purchased, can effectively be brought back into use (e.g. sold or used for social housing).

Local Authorities may also lack the capacity, resources or inclination to take on responsibility for a site themselves. A proposed additional enforcement power is the Compulsory Sale Order (CSO). This would allow local authorities to bring problematic vacant sites and buildings back into productive use to tackle long-term vacancy and dereliction by requiring that an empty home that has been vacant or derelict, for an undue period of time be sold by public auction to the highest bidder.<sup>302</sup>

#### Housing - other powers

- Building (Scotland) Act 2003
- Section 89 of the Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004
- The Housing (Scotland) Act 2006
- Private Rented Housing (Scotland) Act 2011
- The Housing (Scotland) Act 2014
- Local Byelaws

Local Authorities have a number of powers to enforce improvements and repairs on privately owned property, address overcrowding and remove landlords from Local Authority registers:

 Landlord Register - each Local Authority is expected to prepare and maintain a public register of all private landlords in their area. The registration regime should help landlords reach the standards required by legislation to privately let properties (the proportion of properties in Scotland in the private rented sector has risen to around 15%, around 382,000 dwellings<sup>303</sup>). Those landlords who are unwilling or unable to achieve these standards should be removed from the rental market. The register will provide some basic information about the private rented sector in a Local Authority area. If an individual fails the 'fit and proper' test, their application for registration will be refused. Information which comes to light after a person is registered can lead to them being removed from the register. Local Authorities have the power to remove a landlord from the register using Section 89 of the Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004. There is a right to appeal against these decisions.<sup>304 305 306</sup> (The perception is that the power is not used often enough, although there have been several high profile examples in the media).

• Third Party Applications - The Housing (Scotland) Act 2014 (Section 25) provides Local Authorities with the power to make a third party application to the Housing and Property Chamber of the First Tier Tribunal (FTT) to enforce the repairing standard. This includes a right of entry to any house in respect of which a third party application to the FTT may be made. This power was introduced because vulnerable tenants were often not willing to exercise their right to report their landlord to the FTT in case the landlord ended their tenancy. Once the landlord is notified about work that is needed to ensure that the house meets the repairing standard<sup>307</sup> (The Repairing Standard, contained in the Housing (Scotland) Act 2006, covers the legal and contractual obligations of private landlords to ensure that a property meets a minimum physical standard) the evidence suggests that in many cases the repairs are completed without need for further enforcement.

Where a landlord has failed to meet the repairing standard, the FTT will issue a Repairing Standard Enforcement Order. It is anticipated that where a landlord who is issued with an order, or fails to comply, it should be considered if they are a fit and proper person and they could therefore be refused or removed from the landlord register.<sup>308 309</sup> How often the 3<sup>rd</sup> party power is used is unclear (as at 30 June 2017, 75 third party applications had been made, from 15 Local Authority areas). All decisions are in the public domain and are available via the Tribunal website. See: https://www.housingandpropertychamber.scot/

- Work Notices the failure of a house to meet the tolerable standard (i.e. it is sub-standard) allows Local Authorities to take statutory action to improve, close or demolish a house. The Housing (Scotland) Act 2006 (section 30) (focused on condition and quality in private sector housing) widens the circumstances in which Local Authorities can use enforcement powers and replaces existing repair notices and improvement orders with a new power to serve a work notice.
- **Power of Majority to Cover Maintenance Costs** under The Housing (Scotland) Act 2006 (Section 50), where several home owners form part of the same premises, and a majority agree to carry out maintenance, where an owner has not complied with the requirement and is unable or it is unreasonable for them to contribute (or they cannot be identified) the Local Authority has the power to pay the share of the estimated costs of any owner who has not complied with a requirement to make such a deposit.<sup>310</sup>

- Housing Renewal Areas HRAs are powers under The Housing (Scotland) Act 2006 to deal with poor quality housing issues on an area basis. They replace the previous arrangements to designate Housing Action Areas, and Local Authorities will have more flexibility in when they can use them. Powers can be used where a significant number of properties are substandard and/or where any houses are adversely affecting the amenity of an area. HRA action plans must determine which houses are to be closed or demolished or have work carried out.<sup>311</sup>
- **Maintenance Orders** these can be issued by Local Authorities to ensure that properties in private ownership are maintained (e.g. repairs, painting, cleaning) under Section 42 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2006.<sup>12</sup>
- Defective Building Notices these can be used to ensure that if a building has defects (e.g. leaking roof, defective stonework) which are likely to cause significant deterioration of the building, the Local Authority has powers to deal with this by serving defective building notices under the Building (Scotland) Act 2003.<sup>312</sup>
- **Overcrowding** Overcrowding Statutory Notices (Private Rented Housing (Scotland) Act 2011) may be served to private sector landlords where there is overcrowding, setting out how the overcrowding may be addressed.<sup>313</sup>
- Local Byelaws using notices and orders to carry out work under local Byelaws, Local Authorities can also enforce cleaning or painting of common stairs and passageways and cleaning of back-courts in blocks of flats etc.<sup>314</sup>

#### **Schemes of Assistance**

• The Housing (Scotland) Act 2006

The scheme replaced the previous system of private sector home improvement grants. Local Authorities have powers to maintain and improve the condition of private sector housing in their area. If an owner needs help to look after their home, the scheme allows Local Authorities to provide assistance. This can include advice and guidance, practical help, or grants or loans. Local Authorities will determine what types of assistance are available locally. They must prepare a statement providing information about assistance, assist owners who have been served a statutory work notice requiring them to bring a house into a reasonable state of repair and provide grant assistance to adapt homes to meet the needs of disabled people, other than for home extensions (all other

<sup>12</sup> Note: Statistics indicate that maintenance order powers are used infrequently. The Commission for Housing and Wellbeing (2015) recommended that the Scottish Government review the use of a number of powers in the Housing (Scotland) Act, 2006 (renewal areas, works notices, and maintenance orders). Sources: http://www.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefingsAndFactsheets/SB\_16-96\_Housing\_Subject\_Profile.pdf / http://housingandwellbeing.org/assets/documents/Commission-Final-Report.pdf

assistance is discretionary). In 2017-18, total spend was almost £38.6 million and 5,599 grants were paid to disabled households totalling £21.9 million.<sup>315</sup>

## Housing - Stair lighting

• Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 (Section 90)

Councils have the power to maintain and repair stair lighting under Section 90 of the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 but they are not obliged to do so. However the Occupiers' Liability (Scotland) Act 1960 states that occupiers / owners have a legal duty of care to look after people entering their premises. <sup>316 317</sup> Since 2016, Edinburgh City Council has provided stair lighting services only in blocks of flats where the council owns properties.<sup>318</sup>

### Affordable Housing

Local Authorities, as both the statutory housing and planning authority, are responsible for assessing housing requirements, ensuring housing land supply and the delivery of both market and affordable housing. Affordable housing is defined broadly as housing of a reasonable quality that is affordable to those on modest incomes. It may include social rented accommodation, mid-market rented accommodation, shared ownership, shared equity, housing sold at a discount (including plots for self-build), and low cost housing without subsidy.

Local Housing Strategies are expected to draw on the findings of the Housing Need and Demand Assessment to inform its approach to housing investment and delivery and link to Local Development Plans. Strategies should set out the Local Authority's view of the type and level of housing to be delivered over the period of the plan in its Housing Supply Target taking into account wider economic, social and environmental factors, issues of capacity, resource and deliverability. Where the HNDA and housing strategy identify a shortage of affordable housing, the Local Development Plan should set out the role that planning will take in addressing this.<sup>319 320</sup>

Local Authorities have discretion therefore to:

- determine the nature and extent of housing need and demand;
- develop a locally-based affordable housing policy framework;
- secure contributions from developers for affordable housing provision;
- bring forward their own resources to provide new affordable houses; and
- support affordable housing provision by Registered Social Landlords.<sup>321</sup>

Private housing developments are required to provide an element of affordable housing, with Scottish Planning Policy suggesting up to 25% of the homes on each site. Local Authorities may seek a percentage affordable housing contribution from developers of new housing developments where this is justified by the HNDA and included in the LHS and development plan. The benchmark figure is that each site should contribute 25% of the total number of housing units as affordable housing. If a different percentage is required locally, justified by the HNDA and identified in the LHS and development plan, then the 25% benchmark does not apply.<sup>323 324</sup>

## Houses of Multiple Occupancy

• The Housing (Scotland) Act 2006

It is mandatory for a Local Authority to introduce a HMO licensing regime. They have the power to refuse a HMO license if there is already an overprovision of HMOs in an area or if the occupation of the accommodation as an HMO would breach planning control. They inspect a property if it is believed that it is not in a satisfactory state, and impose an amenity order if required, requiring work to be carried out. If the owner does not carry out the work the Local Authority can carry out the work and recover costs. Local Authorities have the power to fix a limit on the number of individuals who can live in an HMO to prevent or reduce overcrowding.<sup>325 326</sup>

## Council Tax (second homes / unoccupied properties)

 The Council Tax (Variation for Unoccupied Dwellings) (Scotland) Regulations 2013

Councils set the Council Tax rate for their area although Scottish Government and COSLA have agreed that increases be capped at 3% during 2017/18 and 2018/19.

Councils have discretion to apply a discount of between 10%-50%, or may apply no discount, on second homes (not a main residence and occupied for at least 25 days a year). Job-related dwellings or purpose-built holiday homes must have a 50% discount applied.

Councils also have discretion to vary the council tax payable on unoccupied properties. Initially a discount of between 10%-50% is required, but after a property is unoccupied for 12 months (or 24 months if being actively marketed for sale or let), an increase of up to 100% can be imposed to encourage owners to bring empty homes back into use. The Regulations are designed to help local authorities encourage owners to bring empty properties back into use, to increase housing supply and reduce the blight on communities caused by houses being left empty and in a state of disrepair.<sup>327</sup>

Revenue generated from applying Council Tax to second homes and unoccupied properties is reserved for spending that supports the provision of new affordable housing. Any additional revenue raised from further reduced discounts, or applying a levy, can be used as the Local Authority sees fit.<sup>328</sup>

Information supplied by Shelter Scotland indicates that most Local Authorities are using these powers to some extent, and most are now using the powers to increase council tax to 100% (or more), with a small number who are currently not doing so proposing or discussing how they may use the powers. Where the tax is applied effectively it is deemed to be useful in bringing homes back into use but where applied uniformly, without discretion in individual cases it might have the opposite effect by adding to the financial hardship owners may be facing, further limiting their resources to bring a property back to a condition where it is suitable for sale or rent.

(For further information about Local Authority activity to address empty homes, such as the employment of Empty Homes Officers, see the Scottish Empty Homes Partnership:

https://scotland.shelter.org.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0006/1539483/Shelter\_E mptyHomes\_AnnualReport\_2018.pdf)

# 3.12. Local Food Environment

## Planning Policy

There appear to be relatively few powers at the disposal of Local Authorities that allow them to modify the local food environment. One area of interest has been around the planning system. This includes Local Authority Development Plans, the means by which they set out what is desirable and acceptable in terms of future development. Local Authorities can therefore respond to planning applications based on the aspirations of Development Plans. In theory, Local Authorities could limit the number of food outlets in a particular area if there is reason to do so (e.g. to limit particular types of food outlet around schools) in line with Development Plans.<sup>329</sup>

In practice, it is not necessarily the case that the planning system is being used by Local Authorities to effect change in local food environments. For example, recent research indicates that the opportunities by which Local Authorities are able to use the planning system (deemed to play a key role in delivering high quality places<sup>330</sup>) to make changes to the local food environment, on the grounds of improving health and reducing obesity levels, are slight (including in comparison with Local Authorities in England). The findings indicate that planning policy in Scotland, in the form of National Planning Framework 3 (2014) and Scottish Planning Policy (2014) are not expressly focused on modifying local food environments or on addressing obesity. Moreover Local Authority planning policies, as stated in Development Plans, are not linked to local food environments e.g. to address issues such as obesity and the food environment around schools.

In terms of hot food takeaways, the research identified that there is no planning policy framework in Scotland against which to determine hot food takeaway planning applications on health grounds. Therefore the absence of relevant planning policy means that applications for hot food takeaways cannot be rejected by Local Authorities on the basis of health.

The research found however that in England, several Local Authorities have sought via development and local plans and /or supplementary planning documents or public health evidence (typically setting out a need for exclusion zones around schools), to provide a means whereby food takeaway planning applications, or change of use from one class of use to another (i.e. change of property use from retail use to takeaway use<sup>13</sup>), can be judged on health grounds. These have largely stood up to planning appeals and challenges.<sup>331</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Scotland) Order 1997 is applied in Scotland to categorise different properties by type (use classes), with planning permission required for change of use e.g. from a shop to a hot food takeaway. In England, The Statutory Instrument 2005/84, amended The Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, in 2005, and offers greater disaggregation of use classes in comparison with Scotland. See: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/research-and-

If the Planning (Scotland) Bill is passed, it is anticipated that this could provide the opportunity to consider how health and the planning system might better interact, and health and obesity, be factored into local decision making around the food environment.

## Street Traders (within the vicinity of schools)

• The Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982

In terms of hot food takeaway vans / kiosks, the licensing of street traders falls under The Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982. A Local Authority has discretion to attach conditions to licences as it sees fit, that relate to local situations and / or are appropriate for a particular Local Authority area. It may be that the Local Authority's resolution in respect of street traders will require to be amended in accordance with the statutory process detailed in section 9 of the Act in order that a new condition can be attached to the licence.

All 32 Local Authorities (at 2014) licence street traders, 14 placed a condition / restriction on trader's licences to restrict their operation within the vicinity of schools. Restrictions might relate to the area and / or times within which street traders can operate and, in effect, this means that there is an exclusion zone in place around schools within which street traders are not allowed to trade. The degree of any condition or restriction is determined by local circumstances and will vary between Local Authorities.

Local Authorities must have a firm basis and rationale for introducing a policy in terms of taking action to encourage healthy eating in the vicinity of schools. This must be informed by, and complement, local and national initiatives and policies to encourage and support healthy eating among this group (children and young people) and the wider community.

Note: Several Local Authorities have prevented snack vans from operating close to schools (North Lanarkshire, East Ayrshire, Glasgow, Renfrewshire, Aberdeen). It is not clear if any of those bans remain in operation given that burger van operators in North Lanarkshire successfully defeated a council ban which stopped them from trading near schools, on the grounds that the Civic Government (Scotland) Act does not allow Local Authorities to restrict street vendor licensing on the basis of the nutritional quality of the food being served. <sup>332 333</sup>

analysis/2018/11/research-project-explore-relationship-between-food-environment-planning-system/documents/00543003-pdf/00543003-pdf/govscot%3Adocument

## **Other Food Related Powers**

#### Food (Scotland) Act 2015: Fixed Penalty Notices

Under the Food (Scotland) Act 2015, authorised officers (such as environmental health officers) have the power to issue Fixed Penalty Notices, to someone who they believe has breached a relevant offence, for some food safety offences. The offences have not been defined by the Act or the sum to be collected. The Scottish Ministers will specify the sum of money to be paid as a penalty for the FPNs.<sup>334</sup> <sup>335</sup> FPNs have been viewed as useful given the low levels of prosecution for food related offences, and costs associated with prosecution. Further consultation, and identification of offences, by Food Standards Scotland is ongoing.

#### The Food Hygiene (Scotland) Regulations 2006

It is a duty for Local Authorities to enforce the regulations. The regulations also provide Local Authority officers with powers to:

- serve Hygiene Improvement Notices where a food business operator is failing to comply with the hygiene regulations;
- serve Hygiene Prohibition Orders, to prohibit a business from trading;
- procure and analyse samples of food; and
- gain entry to premises.336

## The Novel Foods (Scotland) Regulations 2017

These regulations place a duty on Local Authorities to enforce the novel food requirements and they give authorised officers powers of inspection and seizure where food is suspected of not complying with the food law requirements.<sup>337</sup>

#### The Consumer Protection from Unfair Trading Regulations 2008

The regulations aim to protect consumers from unfair or misleading trading practices, and ban misleading omissions and aggressive sales tactics. Local Authorities have a duty to enforce these and they have powers to make test purchases, to enter premises and investigate and seize goods.<sup>338</sup>

#### Food Safety Act 1990

The Food Safety Act 1990, as amended, provides the framework for all food legislation in England, Wales and Scotland. The Act aims to ensure that businesses do not include anything in food, remove anything from food or treat food in any way which means it would be damaging to health, that food businesses serve or sell food of the nature and quality consumers expect and that food is labelled, advertised and presented in a way that is not false or misleading.<sup>339</sup>

The Act provides that authorised officers of food authorities can take samples of food and ingredients, enter food premises unannounced to investigate possible offences and inspect food to see if it is safe. Officers may also detain suspect food or seize it.<sup>340</sup>

# 3.13. Economic Development, Regeneration and Procurement

## Economic Development

Economic development covers a wide range of activities including large-scale inward investment projects, businesses support, employment, skills and training programmes, tourism, environmental and transport projects as well as regeneration; and Local Authorities are key economic players in their own right in the form of major employers and procurers of goods and services etc. (Glasgow City Council guidance states that economic powers are now contained within the power to advance wellbeing in Section 20 of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003 – and this includes the power to promote economic development e.g. in the form of grants, loans, guarantee or indemnity as part of a financial package, or contributions in cash or kind.)<sup>341</sup>

The historical context has been one of the re-positioning of local government as a key player in economic renewal and regeneration from the late 1990's onwards, with a shift away from the channelling of this work via government agencies, and on to partnership working (e.g. in the form of community planning).<sup>342</sup> However the regeneration and economic development landscape has been complex with devolved policy structures across multiple Local Authorities and Local Authority led city and regional deals and partnerships, regeneration companies and other actors.

Economic development is not a statutory responsibility for Local Authorities and will compete for resources, within the context of austerity, although Local Authority activity, in partnership with national bodies and other local institutions and communities, is normally critical to the success of area-based initiatives. Local Authorities can set priorities and pursue activity at local level (e.g. with emphasis on partnership working, reflected in their CPP role, deemed important in planning and co-ordinating improvement to local economies) with other types of activity pursued at a regional level, such as city deals and other regional partnerships, or at national level.<sup>343 344 345</sup>

City region deals are agreements between the UK and Scottish Governments and Local Authorities to generate long-term strategic approaches to improving regional economies, with Local Authorities able to operate strategically with various public and private sector partners at a regional level. Examples of 'city region deals' include the Glasgow,<sup>14</sup> Aberdeen, Inverness and Highland, Stirling and Clackmannanshire, Edinburgh and South East Scotland and Tay city region deals and a growth deal (the Ayrshire Growth Deal).<sup>346 347</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> For example, the Glasgow deal has included activity such as the regeneration of Sighthill and the Avenues project (including streetscape improvements in various city centre locations) to improve the public realm around the city. See: https://www.gov.scot/policies/cities-regions/city-region-deals/

## Local Employment

Local Authorities have a number of economic levers at their disposal, including via their role as major employers, asset owners and procurers of goods and services. They are major employers in their own right, and have tended to be viewed as bastions of good practice in providing 'decent work'. There are concerns however that the current economic, social and political climate might be undermining this, although recent research indicates that these principles appear to remain embedded. Local Authorities employ around 233,000 individuals, ranging from 1,283 employees in the Western Isles, to around 19,000 in Glasgow City Council. Employees tend to reside within the same employing Council area, and their employment therefore tends to make a substantial contribution to the total resident employment in their area.

Recent work from the Improvement Service indicates that relatively low paid, part time working is prevalent in many Local Authorities (part time employment status being 50% of headcount or greater in 11 councils, with an average salary of £11.8k), viewed as making a substantial proportion of the workforce potentially vulnerable to changes in welfare reform, particularly for a minority of Local Authorities where a higher share of employees are from the most disadvantaged areas.

For a number of Local Authorities, the level of payroll spend in Scotland's most deprived areas can be very significant, e.g. in Glasgow, reflecting the significant number of staff the Local Authority employs from these areas. However for many Local Authorities the proportion of staff from the most disadvantaged areas is relatively low and therefore addressing poverty in the most disadvantaged areas may be supported by finding new ways for Local Authorities and community planning partners to recruit more staff from their most disadvantaged areas.<sup>348 349</sup>

## Living Wage

The Scottish Living Wage applies to all Scottish Government employees but Local Authorities are independent, autonomous bodies that set their own rates of pay (which have experienced a pay cap since 2013). (Note: From October 1st 2016 the Living Wage, as part of the 2016/17 settlement has been paid to care workers providing direct care and support to adults in care homes, care at home, and housing support.)<sup>350</sup>

Accredited (with Living Wage Scotland) living wage Local Authorities in Scotland (£9 per hour) include: Aberdeen, Dundee, Edinburgh, Falkirk, East Dunbartonshire, Fife, Inverclyde, South Lanarkshire, North Ayrshire, North Lanarkshire, Midlothian, Stirling, West Lothian, Perth and Kinross, Renfrewshire and Dumfries and Galloway (others may not be accredited but may be paying at least £9 per hour).<sup>351</sup> Glasgow City Council has applied the 'Glasgow Living Wage' (£8.75 per hour), £9 per hour from 1<sup>st</sup> April 2019.<sup>352</sup>

Increased tax contributions of higher income tax payments and reduced benefits expenditure could recover part of the cost borne by local government of the payment of the living wage. The benefits of a living wage include tackling in work poverty, child poverty and given that wages are also spent locally, would contribute to boosting local economies.<sup>353</sup>

#### **Procurement**

Local Authority annual procurement spend provides opportunities to promote fair and decent work, local employment, training and environmental sustainability.<sup>354</sup>

In 2016/17, Local Authorities procured goods and services valued at £7bn, of which around £2bn was local spend, although the share of local spend, on average, has actually decreased by 3%, to 27% between 2008-2017, and this spend has been with a significantly reducing number of local suppliers, likely representing changes in contracting approaches and aggregation in the local supply base. The proportion of local spend as a share of total procurement spend in Local Authorities has varied, e.g. from 12% in West Dunbartonshire, to 46% in the Shetland Isles, with an average share of 27% across all Local Authorities.

As the Improvement Service point out, a key challenge for councils in relation to procurement is in ensuring that the impact of the money they spend, whether locally or outwith the area, is maximised in terms of benefits to the local community or economy.<sup>355</sup> (Local spend and how it may benefit local communities is of increasing interest in the UK – see 'The Preston Model' below in Box 6.)

In terms of how Local Authorities influence those they contract services and goods from, Local Authorities do have some powers to influence the procurement process around procurement contracts that aim to support / encourage contractor fair work practices and the employment and training of vulnerable or disadvantaged groups. To achieve Best Value (i.e. to secure continuous improvement in performance, balancing quality and cost with regard to economy, efficiency, effectiveness, equal opportunities and sustainable development) when deciding between procurement options, Local Authorities will consider these factors and any wider community benefits.<sup>356 357</sup>

Recent research indicates that in relation to the procurement process, Local Authorities may wish to see a strengthening of their limited powers around procurement practices i.e. to have influence over external stakeholders, outside Local Authority employment, in their provision of 'decent work'. However any desire to strengthen these powers might also be undermined by a desire for value for money as a consequence of austerity, thus placing less emphasis on whether contractors provide 'decent work'.<sup>358</sup>

Box 6:

The Preston Model - Local spend, and maximising the benefits of that spend locally, is of growing interest (most notably in Preston) with greater emphasis placed on the generation and retention of local wealth. For example, in Preston in 2012/13, of £750m spent on goods and services by six 'Anchor Institutions' (major spenders in the local area including the city and county councils, colleges, university, a housing association and the police), 5% was spent in Preston and 39% in Lancashire as a whole. By 2016/17, of £620m spent on goods and services by the same institutions, 19% was spent in Preston and 81% in Lancashire (the total spend has fallen as a consequence of austerity).

The Preston Model recognises and acknowledges the various EU directives, incorporated into UK law (that do not apply to all contracts) but also makes reference to the use of the Social Value Act (2012) as a means of weighting and scoring contracts to take account of various factors such as attitudes to skills and training and local labour recruitment etc. Preston has been working with EU URBACT and EU partners to develop best practice on procurement that aims to work for local residents and businesses as well as for anchor institutions letting the contracts.<sup>359 360 361 362 363</sup>

## Procurement - Community Benefit

- The Procurement (Scotland) Regulations 2016
- The Public Contracts (Scotland) Regulations 2015
- The Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014

Community Benefit Clauses (CBCs) have been a key strand of procurement policy and practice since 2008. The Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014 expects that where a procuring organisation is to let a contract valued at £4 million or more, it must consider whether to impose CBC requirements. The impetus has come from the public sector, but contractors may also wish to demonstrate wider societal commitments and to deliver on Corporate Social Responsibility agendas.

The Act states that organisations (including Local Authorities) must act in accordance with the sustainable procurement duty and to consider how the procurement process can:

- improve the local economic, social, and environmental wellbeing;
- facilitate the involvement of SME's, third sector bodies and supported businesses; and
- promote innovation.

Within the Act, a community benefit requirement is a contractual requirement imposed by a procuring organisation relating to:

- training and recruitment;
- the availability of sub-contracting opportunities; and
- other activities aimed at improving the local economic, social or environmental wellbeing.

There is no obligation under the Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014 for public bodies to consider applying community benefit requirements in contracts under £4m, but in line with policy and best practice, public bodies are urged to consider the application of CBCs in all contracts irrespective of value. <sup>364 365 366</sup>

When deciding to apply community benefits, contracting authorities are asked to consider potential opportunities from doing so such as:

- generating employment and training opportunities for priority groups;
- vocational training;
- up-skilling the existing workforce;
- equality and diversity initiatives;
- making sub-contracting opportunities available to SMEs, the 3<sup>rd</sup> sector and
- supported businesses;
- supply-chain development activity;
- building capacity in community organisations;
- educational support initiatives;
- working with schools, colleges and universities to offer work experience; and
- minimising negative environmental impacts (e.g. vehicle emissions).

Where community benefits have not been included, the contracting authority must provide a reason for this e.g. they are not considered appropriate, relevant and/or proportionate. Urgency is unlikely to be a suitable reason for not including community benefit requirements.<sup>367</sup>

Note: Research conducted in 2015 of a snapshot of 24 contracts in Scotland, identified the increasing use of CB clauses, variability in terms of benefits accrued (e.g. recruitment) but also clear evidence of the recruitment and training of individuals from priority groups (e.g. unemployed people) who would, in the main, not have gained access to training or employment without the inclusion of CB clauses. The conclusion drawn is that building awareness of the CB clauses is necessary, as is better evidence capturing about their use.<sup>368</sup>

The use of CB clauses in public contracts (not solely Local Authorities) has increased, from 81 to 843 between 2015/16 and 2017/18 and benefits have typically revolved around training and qualifications, work placements, job creation and community facilities (improvements in employment conditions were infrequently a benefit).<sup>369</sup> At Local Authority level, CB benefits have grown e.g. around job creation (from 78 in 2013/14 to 146 in 2017/18) but as the

Improvement Service indicates, more progress is required in further testing the types of community benefits, including poverty reduction, that Local Authorities could include when determining the benefits to be accrued from contracts.<sup>370</sup>

## Procurement - Supported Businesses / Employment

- The Public Contracts (Scotland) Regulations 2015
- The Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014

The ability for public bodies to restrict participation in tender exercises for supported businesses has been part of national procurement legislation since 2006. The provision within the legislation is referred to as 'Reserved Contracts'. Public bodies are encouraged to use these where appropriate (those with an annual procurement spend of £5m or greater are required to publish an annual procurement report with summary of any steps taken to facilitate the involvement of supported businesses).

Changes introduced by European Directive 2014/24/EU and given effect through the Public Contracts (Scotland) Regulations 2015 means that the criteria to participate in a Reserved Contract tender exercise has been amended to a new two-part test:

1) The main aim of the bidding organisation must be to socially and professionally integrate disabled or disadvantaged people

2) At least 30% of the employees of the bidding organisation must be disabled or disadvantaged (A bidding organisation meeting both tests is a supported business.)

Note: there is no single authoritative definition of 'disadvantaged'

The Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014 similarly includes a provision allowing public bodies to restrict participation in the tendering process to supported businesses only.<sup>371 372</sup>

#### Procurement - Living Wage, Fair and Equal Pay

• Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014

A contracting authority (including Local Authorities) can under Section 9 of the Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014 adopt policies to promote fair work practices in relevant public contracts e.g. fair and equal pay, including the Living Wage, as part of a package of positive fair work practices to be delivered for the duration of the contract. In setting out its general policy, a contracting authority should state measures to promote the payment of the Living Wage in its procurements. In doing so, a contracting authority should consider becoming a Living Wage Accredited Employer and promoting this through relevant public contracts etc.<sup>373</sup>

Contracting authorities are unable to make payment of the Living Wage a mandatory requirement as part of a competitive procurement process where the Living Wage is greater than any minimum wage set by or in accordance with the law (National Minimum Wage.)<sup>374 375</sup>

# 3.14. Welfare and Financial Inclusion

Local Authorities are responsible for the payment of several grants and benefits, with some flexibility for Local Authorities to determine who will receive a payment, what form they will take (money, or in kind) and how much recipients will receive.

Moreover they seek to support local populations via advice and assistance to e.g. address financial exclusion and increase incomes, either via their services or by channelling support through third sector providers, such as Citizens Advice Bureau.

For example Glasgow City Council have set up Universal Credit Hubs in the city (at a cost of £2m) established across library service venues to support and enable access to this benefit. The council is also linking the birth registration process to entitlement to a range of benefits to then link that information to entitlement for new parents to the Best Start Grant, a package of three payments delivered by Social Security Scotland.<sup>376 377</sup>

### School clothing grants

• Education (Scotland) Act 2016

Scottish Government and COSLA agreed in 2018 that Local Authorities would support some families via financial help towards the cost of buying a school uniform through the payment of a grant. It has been agreed that eligible families will receive at least £100 from all Local Authorities. Who is eligible for the payment will be set by Local Authorities (there will be variation across Scotland) and how much more, if any, they will distribute above the £100 minimum payment.<sup>378 379</sup> Following gaps in the take up of the clothing grant in Glasgow in the past (around 6,000 eligible families did not claim the grant) the council data matched those in receipt of certain benefits, such as council tax reduction, to ensure payment to all of those who were eligible. Glasgow City Council now pay £110, up from around £50 previously.

## Scottish Welfare Fund (SWF)

• The Welfare Funds (Scotland) Act 2015

The Act places a statutory responsibility on Local Authorities to maintain a Welfare Fund. They have extensive discretion over how the scheme is delivered, from taking and processing applications to fulfilment of grants. This is deemed to allow the scheme to be tailored to specific local needs and to make links across services and local organisations. There are two types of grants in the Scottish Welfare Fund (SWF):

 Crisis Grants – to help those with low-incomes in crisis due to a disaster or emergency  Community Care Grants – to help vulnerable people establish or maintain a home in the community and to help families under exceptional pressure.

This is a duty but Local Authorities have discretion about e.g. what they provide (cash, vouchers, a fuel card, or goods) and how they link the scheme to existing services, but there is an expectation on Local Authorities to work with applicants to identify any other support they may need or be entitled to and signpost them to relevant services, with transparency required around decision making.<sup>380</sup> Local Authorities were allocated £33m for Scottish Welfare Fund awards in 2018/19. Around 73% has been spent, with considerable variation in the percentage of the budget spent, e.g. 25% for Eilean Siar and 92% in Dundee City with a number of Local Authorities spending below the Scottish average (South Ayrshire, Shetland Islands, East Ayrshire, West Lothian, Angus, Argyll and Bute. North Lanarkshire, Perth and Kinross. Midlothian, Clackmannanshire, Moray, Falkirk, Highland, Scottish Borders and Aberdeenshire).<sup>381</sup>

## **Discretionary Housing Payments**

• Scotland Act 2016

The Scottish Government became responsible for funding DHP in 2017, from the Department for Work and Pensions. DHP is aimed at those who rent or who are in receipt of either Housing Benefit or an award of Universal Credit which includes an element to meet housing costs. The payment is administered by Local Authorities and they must decide on what basis they award DHPs and how much they will pay. The Scottish Government seeks to mitigate the bedroom tax through DHPs (and so those affected will receive a payment via the DHP). In terms of funding (2018/19), Scottish Government allocated £10.9m to Local Authorities to fund non-bedroom tax DHPs, and expect to spend £50.1m to mitigate the bedroom tax. There is variation in the proportion of estimated 2018/19 DHP funding spent or committed, at 30 September 2018, ranging from 40% (East Renfrewshire) to 120%+ in Stirlingshire.<sup>382</sup> <sup>383</sup>

# 3.15. Children and Young People

The following are a list of Local Authority powers that relate specifically to children and young people:

## Free School Meals (primary years 1 to 3)

• Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014

The Act gives the Scottish Government power to require Local Authorities to provide fee school meals to children in selected year groups (not solely those in receipt of specific benefits). Food or drink can be provided free of charge at any time of the day. Scottish Government is currently funding Local Authorities to provide free school meals for all children in primary 1 to 3 in Local Authority schools across Scotland. This extends the previous policy of offering free school meals only to children and young people, aged 5 to 18, whose families are on low incomes and/or in receipt of certain qualifying benefits.<sup>384 385</sup>

### Free School Meals

• Education (Scotland) Act 2016

The education authority must provide or secure the provision of a school lunch, free of charge, to pupils where the pupil or their parents are in receipt of (i) income support, (ii) an income-based jobseeker's allowance, (iii) an incomerelated allowance under the Welfare Reform Act 2007 or the (b) the parents of the pupil are in receipt of support provided under Part 6 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999.

The authority may also provide or secure the provision of (a) other food or drink to these pupils or (b) food or drink to other pupils. The authority may do so free of charge or charge pupils. The authority may exercise this power to provide or secure the provision of food or drink free of charge (a) in relation to pupils who satisfy such conditions as the authority thinks fit (b) at such times of the day as the authority thinks fit.<sup>386</sup>

Authorities can use their discretion to provide school meals to those outwith the groups identified above (on low incomes and/or in receipt of certain qualifying benefits) and to provide school meals outside term-time e.g. for all primary 4 pupils (Glasgow City Council<sup>387</sup>) and during school holidays for those entitled to free school meals (North Lanarkshire Council).<sup>388</sup>

#### School Snacks

• Schools (Health Promotion and Nutrition) Scotland Act 2007

The Act imposes duties on the Scottish Ministers, education authorities and managers of grant-aided schools to endeavour to ensure that public schools

and grant-aided schools are health-promoting. The Act also provides education authorities with the power to provide pupils with snacks, either free of charge or subject to a charge.<sup>389</sup>

## School Transport

• Education (Scotland) Act 1980 (Section 51)

Under Section 51 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, as amended, education authorities are required to make such arrangements as they consider necessary for the provision of school transport e.g. where the school is not within 'walking distance' - in general free travel is available to pupils who live outwith the statutory walking distance, defined in section 42(4) of the 1980 Act as being 2 miles for any pupil under the age of 8 and 3 miles for any other pupil (among a number of other reasons for providing free transport).

These arrangements are determined by each Local Authority, there is variability in the level of provision, and they may use their discretionary powers to provide transport where they wish to do so. Parental income is not a consideration in the provision of free school transport.<sup>390 391 392</sup>

## Early Learning and Childcare (ELC)

The Scottish Government provides funding to Local Authorities for the delivery and implementation of funded ELC. Funded ELC is commonly understood as the number of 'free' hours of childcare a child is entitled to. Currently, all 3 and 4 year olds and eligible 2 year olds are entitled to 600 hours a year of funded ELC, usually taken as 16 hours a week, over 38 weeks. This will increase to 1,140 hours per year in 2020.

## School deferral

• Education (Scotland) Act 1980 Act (Section 1(1C))

Children born in September to December can start school at either 4 years and 8 to 11 months in the August term before their 5<sup>th</sup> birthday; or, at 5 years and 8 – 11 months the August term following their birthday. However, if their parent(s) or carers choose to defer starting to the August following their 5th birthday, they are not entitled to an additional year of ELC.

Therefore, for all children whose 5th birthday falls in September to December, the education authority is not under a duty to provide ELC following the term that the child can start school. However, the education authority has discretionary power under section 1(1C) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 Act to provide additional ELC to any child. This would be based on an assessment of wellbeing.<sup>393</sup>

## Provision of ELC Prior to Age Three

• Provision of Early Learning and Childcare (Specified Children) (Scotland) Order 2014

The Order provides that children are eligible for funded ELC from the first term after their third birthday, unless the child's birthday falls in August (when they will be eligible from the autumn term). Local Authorities are not legally required to provide funded ELC as soon as a child turns three, only from the term commencing after their birthday. However, Local Authorities can use their discretion to provide funded ELC earlier than that first term.

#### Entitlement to Funded ELC for Some Two Year Olds

• Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014

Looked after two-year olds, including those subject to a kinship care order or with an appointed guardian are eligible for funded ELC, as are those two-year olds whose parents are in receipt of certain benefits. About 10% of all two-year-olds have been registered for funded ELC although around 27% are eligible. Local Authorities do not have a statutory duty to identify eligible two-year-olds and their parents, but they should promote the entitlement locally.<sup>394 395</sup>

#### Additional Support

• Education (Additional Support for Learning) Scotland Act 2004 (as amended)

The Act gives education authorities the power to help children and young people belonging to their area who have or may have additional support needs and for whose school education they are not responsible. Those who may be supported include children and young people sent to independent schools by their parents and those being educated at home. Support can include e.g. the provision of learning and teaching support, resources or advice.<sup>396</sup>

#### <u>Sunbeds</u>

• Regulation of Provision of Sunbeds - Public Health Act 2008

Section 102 of the Act provides authorised officers of the Local Authority power to inspect premises (including dwelling houses) in order to ascertain whether or not an offence under section 95, 96, 98, 100 or 101 of the Act has been or is being committed.

- 95: Prohibition on allowing use of sunbeds by persons under 18
- 96: Prohibition on sale or hire of sunbeds to persons under 18
- 98: Prohibition on allowing unsupervised use of sunbeds
- 100: Duty to provide information to sunbed users
- 101: Duty to display information notice.

Section 205 of the Act enables the Local Authority officer to issue a Fixed Penalty Notice (£100 for an offence under section 95 (allowing use of sunbeds by persons under 18) and £50 for an offence under section 98, 100 or 101) to the operator of the premises where the officer has reason to believe an offence has taken place under section 95, 98, 100 or 101.<sup>397</sup>

### Post Looked After Young People

- Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014
- Children (Scotland) Act 1995

Local Authorities have a duty to provide aftercare support to all compulsorily supported persons for whom they are the relevant authority. A compulsorily supported young person is one who has ceased to be looked after on or after their 16th birthday but who is under 19 to whom a Local Authority has a duty under section 29(1) of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 Act to provide advice, guidance and assistance.

Local Authorities also have the power under section 29(5A)(b) of the 1995 Act, regardless of the outcomes of a pathway assessment, to provide <u>Aftercare</u> (advice, guidance and assistance) to those care leavers aged 19-26 having regard to the person's welfare. Scottish Government expects that Local Authorities should always consider employing this power.

Section 66(3) of the Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014 amends Section 30 of the 1995 Act, which sets out when a Local Authority may give <u>financial assistance</u> towards the education or training expenses of young people who have ceased to be looked after. From April 2015 the upper age to which this financial support can be requested is up to the age of 26.

The Scottish Government states that Section 30 payments should always be considered for care leavers irrespective of age and the type of care placement they have previously been provided with. Section 30 of the 1995 Act (as amended by section 66 of the 2014 Act) sets out when Local Authorities may give financial assistance towards expenses of education or training to those who have left care:

- A Local Authority may make grants to young people in their area to enable them to meet expenses connected with relevant education or training (if over 16 but not yet 26 and were on their 16th birthday or at any subsequent time, but are no longer looked after by a Local Authority).
- A Local Authority may make contributions toward the living expenses (accommodation and maintenance) of a young person near to where they are employed, or seeking employment, or receiving education or training.<sup>398</sup>

#### Parenting Orders / ASBO

• Antisocial Behaviour (Scotland) Act 2004

Local Authorities have the power to apply to a Sheriff for a parenting order under the Antisocial Behaviour (Scotland) Act 2004. These orders are for one year, and require parents to participate in programmes designed to improve their parenting by receiving support from services which they had previously refused and for their compliance to be monitored by a named officer. Local Authorities must consult with other agencies in a multi-agency planning process, and consult with the reporter to the children's panel, before considering with its legal advisors whether an application for a parenting order should be made.

They may also apply for an ASBO under the Act 2004. Non-attendance at school is not anti-social behaviour in itself, but while a young person is not at school, their activities may include anti-social behaviour. Improving school attendance may be made a condition of an ASBO, and services are expected to ensure that the conditions applied enhance the potential for a young person to be engaged in learning, whether in school or in the community. <sup>399</sup>

## 3.16. Carers

• Carers (Scotland) Act 2016

The Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 is designed to support carers' health and wellbeing and help make caring more sustainable. The measures from 1 April, 2018 include a duty for Local Authorities to provide support to carers, based on the carer's identified needs which meet the local eligibility criteria.<sup>400</sup>

The responsible Local Authority—

(a) <u>must</u> provide support to the carer to meet the carer's eligible needs, and
(b) may provide support to the carer to meet the carer's other identified needs<sup>401</sup>

Local Authorities have a discretionary power to provide support to meet the carer's other identified needs (those which cannot be met through support to the cared-for person, or services available generally, but which do not meet the threshold for support set by the eligibility criteria.<sup>402</sup>

## 3.17. Miscellaneous

## Smoke Control Areas

• The Clean Air Act (1993) (Section 18)

Local Authorities have the power to designate the whole area of the authority, or part of the area, a Smoke Control Area under section 18 of the Clean Air Act 1993. It is an offence therefore to produce smoke from a chimney of a building, fixed boiler or industrial plant, unless the fuel burned or appliance used is authorised. The Local Authority has the power to require adaptation of fireplaces in private dwellings where a Smoke Control Order is in force.<sup>403 404</sup>

### Public Toilets

• Public Health Act 1936 (Section 87)

No statutory duty is placed on Local Authorities to provide public toilets but they have powers to do so. In light of recent closures of public toilets, provision might now extend to providing access to toilets within council buildings or via setting up schemes such as the 'Community Toilet Scheme' to encourage local businesses to provide access to toilets, in return for a small payment from the Local Authority.<sup>405 406</sup>

#### Parades and Processions

• Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982

Under the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982, organisers of processions are required to notify a Local Authority of their intention to process. The Local Authority may agree to the parade or procession as the organiser intended, attach conditions to the holding of the parade or procession such as changes to the proposed route or start time, or under very limited circumstances, prohibit the parade or procession.

Local Authorities can consider a range of issues to support decisions around allowing or preventing a procession or to place conditions on it. They must consider the effect of holding the procession on public safety and order, damage to property, disruption to the life of the community and the potential burden on the police before deciding whether to restrict a procession.<sup>407</sup>

In dealing with a procession notification Local Authorities must also recognise the fundamental rights contained within the European Convention on Human Rights in relation to freedom of assembly and of association. As a public authority, Local Authorities must act within current European and domestic legislation and balance the rights of individuals and groups to hold processions, with the rights of others to go about their business without unnecessary disruption. Local Authorities are required to examine all factors before deciding whether it would be appropriate to place conditions on a procession, or prevent it from taking place, and any decision must be proportionate taking account of the aim it is trying to tackle, all in accordance with the legislation.

## Control of Dogs

• Control of Dogs (Scotland) Act 2010

Local authorities have a responsibility for dealing with stray dogs and may seize and detain any dog believed to be a stray. Under the Act a Local Authority has a duty to appoint an officer who is skilled in the control of dogs and has the capacity to instruct and advise others in matters relating to the control of dogs. Local Authorities have the power to issue dog control notices when a dog has been out of control.<sup>408</sup>

## **Community Councils**

• Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973

Local Authorities may make such contributions as they think fit towards the expenses of community councils within their areas, may make loans to those councils and may, at the request of such community councils, provide them with staff, services, accommodation, furniture, vehicles and equipment, on such terms as to payment or otherwise as may be agreed between the councils concerned.<sup>409</sup>

# References

1 Glasgow City Council. A Guide to Glasgow City Council's Statutory Duties and Powers. 2019. Available from:

https://glasgow.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=41179&p=0

2 Transport (Scotland) Bill:

https://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/Bills/108683.aspx 3 Planning (Scotland) Bill:

https://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/Bills/106768.aspx 4 Scottish Government. Reforming the Planning System:

https://www.gov.scot/policies/planning-architecture/reforming-planning-system/ 5 Scottish Government. Local Authorities: Factsheet. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/publications/local-authorities-factsheet/

6 BBC. Scotland Bill: House of Lords continues scrutiny of new devolution powers. BBC News: 19 January 2016. Available from: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/ukscotland-scotland-politics-35345250

7 COSLA. Local Matters:

http://www.Cosla.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local\_matters.pdf 8 Whitaker, A. Scotland most 'centralised' in Europe – Cosla. The Scotsman: 24 April 2014. Available from: https://www.scotsman.com/news-2-15012/scotland-mostcentralised-in-europe-Cosla-1-3387590

9 The Herald. Scottish government centralising too much power, peers told. 19 January 2016. Available from:

https://www.heraldscotland.com/news/14215522.scottish-government-centralising-too-much-power-peers-told/

10 The Scottish Parliament. Local Government and Regeneration Committee 8th Report, 2014 (Session 4). Flexibility and Autonomy in Local Government. 27 June 2014. Available from:

http://www.parliament.scot/S4\_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/Report s/lgR-14-08w.pdf

11 House of Commons. Communities and Local Government Committee Devolution in England: the case for local government. First Report of Session 2014–15. Available from:

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/cmcomloc/503/503.pdf 12 Mitchell, J. Audit 2017: How democratic is local government in Scotland? Democratic Audit. Available from: http://www.democraticaudit.com/2017/05/24/audit-

2017-how-democratic-is-local-government-in-scotland/

13 Deerin, C. Scotland's new budget shows it's finally escaping the curse of centralisation. New Statesman. 1 February 2019. Available from:

https://www.newstatesman.com/politics/staggers/2019/02/scotland-s-new-budget-shows-it-s-finally-escaping-curse-centralisation

14 Local government in Scotland. Financial overview 2017/18. Prepared by Audit Scotland. November 2018. Available from: https://www.audit-

scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr\_181129\_local\_government\_finance.pdf 15 Danson, M. Stirzaker, R. Cooper, C and Whittam, G. (On behalf of the Jimmy Reid Foundation) The contribution local government makes to our communities and the local economy. Available from: https://www.unison-scotland.org/library/jrf-unisonreport-2018.pdf

16 COSLA. Fair Funding for Essential Services 2019/20. Invest in Local Government. Available from:

http://www.Cosla.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/fairfundingforessentialservices 2019-20v2\_1.pdf

17 Joseph Rowntree Foundation. The cost of the cuts: the impact on local government and poorer communities. York: JRF; 2015. Available from: https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/Summary-Final.pdf 18 Local Government in Scotland Act 2003:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/1/section/20

19 Scottish Executive. The Local Government in Scotland Act 2003. Power to Advance Well-Being Guidance. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive; 2004. Available from: https://www.webarchive.org.uk/wayback/archive/20180602083305/http://www.gov.sc ot/Publications/2004/04/19276/36156

20 Transport Scotland. Transport and Travel in Scotland 2017. Available from: https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/43105/sct08183658301.pdf

21 Transport Scotland. 525 million public transport journeys were made in 2017/18: https://www.transport.gov.scot/news/525-million-public-transport-journeys-were-made-in-201718/

22 Transform Scotland. Fairer funding: http://transformscotland.org.uk/what-we-want/fairer-funding/

23 Transform Scotland. Fairer prices: http://transformscotland.org.uk/what-we-want/fairer-prices/

24 Transform Scotland. Scottish Budget 2017-18. Briefing from Transform Scotland. 22 February 2017. Available from: http://transformscotland.org.uk/wp/wp-

content/uploads/2017/02/Scottish-Budget-2017-18-Briefing-from-Transform-Scotland-2017-02-23.pdf

25 Transport Scotland. Strategic Transport Projects Review. October 2009. Final Report. Glasgow: Transport Scotland; 2009. Available from:

https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/26366/j11260a.pdf

26 Transport Scotland. Strategic Transport Projects Review update:

https://www.transport.gov.scot/news/strategic-transport-projects-review-update/ 27 Transport Scotland. Active Travel Budget Allocation 2018–19. Available from: https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/43939/active-travel-budget-allocation-2018-2019.pdf

28 Transport Scotland. Active Travel Task Force Report. Glasgow: Transport Scotland; 2018. Available from: https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/42284/active-travel-task-force-june-2018.pdf

29 Scottish Government. Cycling action plan for Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2010. Available from:

https://www2.gov.scot/resource/doc/316212/0100657.pdf

30 Transport Scotland. Scottish Transport Statistics. No 37, 2018. Available from: https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/44207/sct01193326941.pdf

31 The Scotsman. Hundreds fall foul of new parking restrictions in Glasgow. 8th July 2019. https://www.scotsman.com/news/hundreds-fall-foul-of-new-parking-restrictions-in-glasgow-1-4960767

32 Restricted Roads (20mph Speed Limit) (Scotland) Bill:

https://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/Bills/109191.aspx.

33 Transport Scotland. Active Travel Task Force Report, op. cit.

34 Energy Saving Trust. Scottish Bus Emissions Abatement Retrofit Programme. Available from: https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/scotland/businesses-

organisations/transport/scottish-bus-emissions-abatement-retrofit-programme

35 Transport Scotland. Scottish Transport Statistics. No 37, 2018, op. cit. 36 Transport (Scotland) Bill:

https://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/Bills/108683.aspx

37 Clark, A. Transport Bill is 'missed opportunity' to have publicly owned local bus services, claims Unite trade union. Commonspace: 12 June 2018. Available from: https://www.commonspace.scot/articles/12877/transport-bill-missed-opportunity-have-publicly-owned-local-bus-services-claims-unite

38 BBC. MSPs call for changes to transport bill. 7 March 2019. Available from: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-scotland-politics-47468992

39 O'Brien, F. Spice Briefing: Air quality in Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament; 2016. Available from:

http://www.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefingsAndFactsheets/S5/SB\_16-35\_Air\_Quality\_in\_Scotland.pdf

40 Scottish Government. Part IV of the Environment Act 1995. Local Air Quality Management. Policy Guidance PG(S) (16). Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2018. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2018/04/local-air-quality-management-policy-guidance-pg-s-

16/documents/00534614-pdf/00534614-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00534614.pdf 41 lbid.

42 Transport Scotland. Building Scotland's Low Emission Zones: A Consultation. Glasgow : Transport Scotland; 2017. Available from:

https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/39673/low-emission-zones-consultation.pdf 43 Scottish Government. A nation with ambition. The government's programme for Scotland, 2017-18. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2017. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/nation-ambition-governments-programme-

scotland-2017-18/

44 Glasgow City Council. LEZ Q and A .:

https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=23026

45 Friends of the Earth. What is a LEZ?: https://foe.scot/campaign/air-pollution/whatis-a-lez/

46 Friends of the Earth. Responding to the launch of Glasgow's Low Emission Zone: https://foe.scot/press-release/responding-to-the-launch-of-glasgows-low-emissionzone/

47 Rehfisch, A. Spice Briefing: Transport (Scotland) Bill: low emission zones. Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament; 2018. Available from:

https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefings/Report/2018/9/5/Transport--Scotland--Bill--Low-Emission-Zones

48 City of Edinburgh Council. Transport and Environment Committee. Thursday, 16 May 2019. Tackling Air Pollution – Low Emission Zones. Available from:

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/60745/item\_72\_-

\_tackling\_air\_pollution\_-\_low\_emission\_zones

49 Transport for London: https://tfl.gov.uk/modes/driving/

50 Transport Scotland. Building Scotland's Low Emission Zones, op. cit.

51 Scottish Government. Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, op. cit.

52 Rehfisch A. SPICe Briefing. Transport in Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament; 2016. Available from:

http://www.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefingsAndFactsheets/S5/SB\_16-

55\_Transport\_in\_Scotland.pdf

53 O'Brien, op. cit.

54 Scottish Government. Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, op cit.

55 Butcher, L. Local Road Charges. House of Commons. Briefing Number SN01171, 14 March 2018 Available from:

http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN01171/SN01171.pdf 56 Williams, M. Glasgow under fire for dropping congestion charge plan to tackle "pollution crisis". Glasgow Herald: 14 June 2018. Available from:

https://www.heraldscotland.com/news/16291986.glasgow-under-fire-for-dropping-congestion-charge-plan-to-tackle-pollution-crisis/

57 Durham County Council. Durham Road User Charge Zone (congestion charge): http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3437/Durham-Road-User-Charge-Zone-congestion-charge

58 Butcher, op. cit.

59 Transport Scotland. Switched on Scotland: A roadmap to widespread adoption of plug in vehicles. 2016 review. Glasgow: Transport Scotland; 2016. Available from: https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/20291/j457836.pdf

60 Transport Scotland. Switched On Scotland Phase Two: An Action Plan For Growth. Glasgow: Transport Scotland; 2017. Available from:

https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/39306/switched-on-scotland-phase-2.pdf 61 Scottish Government. A nation with ambition, op, cit.

62 Scottish Government. Low carbon transport.

https://www.gov.scot/policies/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy/low-carbon-transport/

63 Transport Scotland. Switched On Scotland Phase Two, op cit.

64 Edinburgh City Council. Residents' parking permit prices:

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/info/20277/parking\_permits/442/residents\_parking\_permit\_prices

65 Transport Scotland. Improving Parking in Scotland. A Consultation. Glasgow: Transport Scotland; 2017. Available from: https://consult.gov.scot/road-

policy/improving-parking-in-scotland/user\_uploads/695337\_v8\_20170605.pdf 66 Urban Foresight. National Framework of Local Incentives for Electric Vehicles. Newcastle Upon Tyne: Urban Foresight; 2016. Available from:

https://urbanforesight.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/REP-1409-TS-A-National-Framework-for-Local-Incentives.pdf

67 Urban Foresight. Electric Nation. Newcastle Upon Tyne: Urban Foresight; 2018. Available from: https://urbanforesight.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/REP-TS-ELECTRIC-NATION-2018.pdf

68 Urban Foresight. National Framework, op. cit.

69 Dundee City Council:

https://www.dundeecity.gov.uk/news/article?article\_ref=3165 70Dundee City Council:

https://www.dundeecity.gov.uk/news/article?article\_ref=3236

71 Dundee City Council:

https://www.dundeecity.gov.uk/news/article?article\_ref=3284

72 Scottish Executive. Local Authority powers to require drivers to switch off engines when parked. Guidance Issued Under Section 88 of the Environment Act 1995. April 2003. Paper 2003/16. Available from:

https://www.webarchive.org.uk/wayback/archive/20180516220745/http://www.gov.sc ot/Publications/2003/04/16984/21416

73 Information supplied by Scottish Government (Directorate For Environment & Forestry).

74 Ferguson, A. Just nine fines issued in Glasgow for excessive engine idling. Evening Times. 6 July 2018. Available from:

https://www.eveningtimes.co.uk/news/16337906.just-nine-fines-issued-in-glasgow-for-excessive-engine-idling/

75 Scottish Executive. Local Authority powers to require drivers to switch off engines when parked, op. cit.

76 Information supplied by Scottish Government (Directorate For Environment & Forestry).

77 Miller, D. Legal threat over air pollution levels. Available from: 13 January 2016. https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-35304167

78 Transport Scotland. Improving Parking in Scotland, op. cit.

79 Day C and Wylie J. Scottish Government transport bill. Getting the bill right. Edinburgh: Transform Scotland. Available from:

http://transformscotland.org.uk/wp/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Transform-Scotland-Getting-the-Bill-Right-v2.1.pdf

80 Scottish Government. Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, op. cit.

81 LocalGov. Traffic management: High occupancy takes its place: https://www.localgov.co.uk/Traffic-management-High-occupancy-takes-itsplace/5734

82 City of Bradford: Report of the Strategic Director (Regeneration and Culture) to the joint meeting of the Bradford South and Bradford East Area Committees to be held on 27th January

2011. Available from:

https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/Data/134/20110127/Agenda/Report%20-%20PROPOSED%20COMBINED%20HIGH%20OCCUPANCY%20VEHICLE%20(H OV)%20AND%20BUS%20LANE%20ON%20THE%20A650%20WAKEFIELD%20RO AD%20AND%20WESTGATE%20HILL%20STREET.pdf

83 Dixon, C and Alexander K. Literature Review of HOV Lane Schemes.

Unpublished Project Report UPR/T/002/05. Highways Agency; 2005. Available from: http://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/ha/standards/pilots\_trials/files/trl2005a.pdf 84 Scottish Government. Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, op. cit.

85 The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 1999. Available from: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1999/614/regulation/8/made 86 Transport Scotland. Active Travel Task Force Report, op. cit.

87 Transport Research Laboratory. A Guide to Improving School Transport Safety: Casualty risk, responsibilities and legal requirements, and ten ways to reduce risk on the school journey. TRL, 2010. Available from;

https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/6116/improving\_school\_transport\_safety\_\_\_guide\_-\_final.pdf

88 Edinburgh City Council:

https://consultationhub.edinburgh.gov.uk/sfc/schoolstreets-phase3/

89 Glasgow City Council. School Car Free Zones To Be Trialled In Glasgow:

https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=23914

90 Glasgow City Council. School Car Free Zones (S-CFZ's) pilot:

https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=45167&p=0

91 Perth and Kinross Council: https://www.pkc.gov.uk/article/17611/Schoolexclusion-zones

92 Perth and Kinross Council: https://www.pkc.gov.uk/media/35409/16-03-23-Item-14-16-137-/pdf/16-03-23\_-\_Item\_14\_(16-137)

93 Buchan, J. Traffic ban at Perthshire schools could be expanded. The Courier. 15 March 2019. Available from: https://www.thecourier.co.uk/fp/news/local/perthkinross/848859/traffic-ban-at-perthshire-schools-could-be-expanded/

94 East Lothian Courier. Traffic ban outside Haddington schools made permanent. 11 June 2015. Available from:

https://www.eastlothiancourier.com/news/13564781.traffic-ban-outside-haddington-schools-made-permanent/

95 East Lothian Courier . Traffic ban on Haddington school streets reintroduced after 18-month gap. 22 January 2017. Available from:

https://www.eastlothiancourier.com/news/15038252.traffic-ban-on-haddington-school-streets-reintroduced-after-18-month-gap/

96 Scottish Executive. Setting Local Speed Limits: Guidance for Local Authorities: ETLLD Circular 1/2006. Available from:

https://www2.gov.scot/Publications/2006/08/14134225/8

97 Scottish Government. Planning Advice Note, PAN 65. Planning and Open Space. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2008. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2008/06/planning-advice-note-pan-65-planning-open-

space/documents/0060935-pdf/0060935-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/0060935.pdf 98 Transport Research Series. Home Zones in Scotland. Evaluation Report. Scottish Executive, 2007. Available from:

https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/Doc/194895/0052348.pdf

99 Scottish Government. Designing Streets: A Policy Statement for Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2010. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/publications/designing-streets-policy-statement-scotland/ 100 See:

https://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/27791/local\_development\_pla n\_2018\_adopted\_270918.pdf

101 See:

https://highland.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/19287/inverness\_east\_development\_ brief.pdf

102 See: https://hopscotland.files.wordpress.com/2018/08/fife-council-ppf7-2018.pdf 103 The City of Edinburgh Council, 9 February 2012 (page 19).

http://www.spokes.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/1202-

Administration\_Budget\_Motion\_2\_.pdf

104 Spokes. Edinburgh sets new standard:

http://www.spokes.org.uk/2012/02/edinburgh-sets-new-standard/

105 Scottish Government. Cycling action plan for Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2010 op cit.

106 Improvement Service. National Benchmarking Overview Report 2017-18. Livingston: Improvement Service. Available from:

http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/documents/benchmarking/overviewreport1718.pdf

107 Transform Scotland. Fairer funding, op. cit.

108 Footway parking and double parking (Scotland) Bill:

http://www.parliament.scot/S4\_Bills/Footway%20Parking%20and%20Double%20Parking%20(Scotland)%20Bill/b69s4-introd-pm.pdf

109 Living Streets. Footway, Dropped Kerb and Double Parking in Scotland. 2015. Available from: https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/1476/lsscotland-pparkingmarch16.pdf

110 Scottish Government. Cycling action plan for Scotland, op. cit.

111 Transform Scotland. Transport (Scotland) Bill. Evidence to Scottish Parliament Rural Economy & Connectivity Committee Friday 28 September 2018. Available from: http://transformscotland.org.uk/wp/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Evidence-to-REC-Committee-on-Transport-Bill-Transform-Scotland-2018-09-28.pdf

112 Rehfisch, A. Spice Briefing: Transport (Scotland) Bill: Pavement Parking and Double Parking. Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament 2018. Available from:

https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefings/Report/2018/10/30/Tran sport--Scotland--Bill--Pavement-Parking-and-Double-Parking

113 Transport Scotland. Improving Parking in Scotland, op. cit.

114 Scottish Government. Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, op. cit.

115 Urban Foresight. National Framework, op. cit.

116 Edinburgh City Council: https://consultationhub.edinburgh.gov.uk/sfc/parking-permit-diesel-surcharge/

117 Transport Scotland. Decriminalised parking enforcement. Local Authorities income and expenditure, 2017 to 2018. Glasgow: Transport Scotland; 2018. Available from:

https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/43636/decriminalised-parking-enforcement-income-expenditure-annual-report-2017-18.pdf

118 Transport Scotland. Improving Parking in Scotland, op. cit.

119 Transport Scotland. DPE – Q&A. Available from:

https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/38655/decriminalised-parking-enforcement.pdf 120 Nicolson, S. Workplace parking tax: Will you have to pay to park at work? BBC. 1 February 2019. Available from: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-scotland-politics-47089134

121 Spice Spotlight: The proposed workplace parking levy: https://spicespotlight.scot/2019/05/10/the-proposed-workplace-parking-levy/ 122 BBC News. MSPs back plans for tax on workplace car parking spaces. 19 June 2019. Available from: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-scotland-politics-48689103

123 Spice Spotlight, op. cit.

124 Dale, S. Frost, M. Ison, S. Quddus, M and Warren, P. Evaluating the impact of a workplace parking levy on local traffic congestion: The case of Nottingham UK. Transport Policy Volume 59, October 2017, Pages 153-164. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0967070X16306400?via%3Di hub

125 Dale, S. Frost, M. Ison, S. Nettleship, K and Warren, P. An evaluation of the economic and business investment impact of an integrated package of public transport improvements funded by a workplace parking levy. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice Volume 101, July 2017, Pages 149-162. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0965856415302986?via%3Dihub 126 Centre for Cities: https://www.centreforcities.org/reader/funding-financinginclusive-growth-cities/reviewing-funding-finance-options-available-city-combinedauthorities/1-nottingham-workplace-parking-levy/

127 Nottingham city Council: http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-forresidents/transport-parking-and-streets/parking-and-permits/workplace-parking-levy/ 128 Rehfisch, A. Spice Briefing: Restricted Roads (20mph Speed Limit) (Scotland) Bill. Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament, 2019. Available from: https://sp-bpr-en-prodcdnep.azureedge.net/published/2019/1/22/Restricted-Roads--20-mph-Speed-Limit---Scotland--Bill/SB%2019-04.pdf

129 Scottish Executive. Setting Local Speed Limits, op. cit.

130 Transport Scotland. Good practice guide on 20mph speed restrictions, version 2. Glasgow: Transport Scotland; 2016. Available from:

https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/38640/20-mph-good-practice-guide-update-version-2-28-june-2016.pdf

131 Transport Research Laboratory, op. cit.

132 20mph Research Study: Process and Impact Evaluation Technical Report. November 2018. Report by Atkins, AECOM, and Professor Mike Maher (UCL). November 2018. Available from:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/757302/20mph-technical-report.pdf

133 SPICe. The Restricted Roads (20mph Speed Limit) (Scotland) Bill. Evidence on the impact of 20mph Speed Limits. Available from:

https://www.parliament.scot/S5\_Rural/Research\_evidence\_20mph\_blLL.pdf 134 Scottish Parliament. Rural Economy and Connectivity Committee. Stage 1 Report on the Restricted Roads (20 mph Speed Limit) (Scotland) Bill. 31 May 2019 SP Paper 546, 11th Report, 2019 (Session 5). Available from: https://sp-bpr-en-prodcdnep.azureedge.net/published/REC/2019/5/31/Stage-1-Report-on-the-Restricted-Roads--20-mph-Speed-Limit---Scotland--Bill/RECS052019R11.pdf

135 Restricted Roads (20mph Speed Limit) (Scotland) Bill:

https://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/Bills/109191.aspx.

136 Rehfisch, A. Spice Briefing: Restricted Roads (20mph Speed Limit) (Scotland) Bill, op. cit.

137 Roads (Scotland) Act 1984:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/54/contents

138 Scottish Government. Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, op. cit.

139 Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (section 75):

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1997/8/section/75

140 Scottish Government: Scottish Planning Policy. Scottish Government:

Edinburgh; 2010. Available from:

https://www2.gov.scot/resource/doc/300760/0093908.pdf

141 KPMG. Integrating the planning and delivery of sustainable transport with new housing development. A report commissioned by Greener Journeys for the Transport Knowledge Hub.

2019. Available from: https://transportknowledgehub.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2019/02/20190213\_KPMG-Sustainable-Transport-and-New-Housing-Report-for-TKH\_FINAL....pdf

142 Sustrans. Linking active travel and public transport to housing growth and planning toolkit part 1: Aligning housing growth and planning with active travel and public transport. Bristol: Sustrans, 2017. Available from:

https://www.sustrans.org.uk/sites/default/files/activetraveltoolbox\_housinggrowthand \_planning\_part1v6.pdf

143 Tasker, M. Progress on low car neighbourhoods in Scotland. Carplus Bikeplus, 2018. Available from: https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3750/progress-on-low-car-neighbourhoods-in-scotland-phase-two-finalcompressed.pdf

144 Rehfisch A. Spice Briefing. Planning (Scotland) Bill: How the planning system currently works. Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament, 2018. Available from: https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/2018/1/8/Planning--Scotland--Bill--How-the-planning-system-currently-works/SB%2018-01.pdf

145 Scottish Government. Designing Streets: A Policy Statement for Scotland, op. cit.

146 Transport Scotland. Local Bus Services in Scotland - Improving the Framework For Delivery: A Consultation. Glasgow: Transport Scotland; 2017. Available from: https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/39681/local-bus-services-in-scotland-aconsultation.pdf

147 Transport Scotland. Bus Services Operators' Grant:

https://www.transport.gov.scot/public-transport/buses/bus-services-operators-grant/ 148 Transport Scotland. Local Bus Services in Scotland, op. cit.

149 Rehfisch A. SPICe Briefing. Transport in Scotland, op. cit.

150 Rehfisch, A. Spice Briefing: Transport (Scotland) Bill: Buses. Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament, 2018. Available from: https://sp-bpr-en-prod-

cdnep.azureedge.net/published/2018/9/3/Transport--Scotland--Bill--Buses/SB%2018-54.pdf

151 Transport Scotland. Scottish Transport Statistics. No 37, 2018, op. cit.

152 Scottish Parliament. Official Report. Meeting of the Parliament 31 January 2018 (Bus services). Available from::

http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=11337&mode=html# iob\_103152

153 Campaign for Better Transport. The future of rural bus services in the UK. London: Campaign for Better Transport. Available from:

https://bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/research-files/The-Future-of-Rural-Bus-Services.pdf

154 Transport Scotland. Transport and Travel in Scotland, 2017, op. cit.

155 Transport Scotland. Local Bus Services in Scotland, op. cit.

156 Scottish Parliament. Official report. Meeting of the Parliament 31 January 2018 (Bus services), op. cit.

157 Connecting Glasgow: creating an inclusive, thriving liveable city. 2019. Available from: https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=45064&p=0

158 Leeds City Council. Over £180million bus improvements proposed in new transport plan for Leeds: https://news.leeds.gov.uk/over-180million-bus-improvements-proposed-in-new-transport-plan-for-leeds/

159 Transport Scotland. Local Bus Services in Scotland, op cit.

160 Scottish Government. Statutory quality partnership (sQP). Best practice guidance, executive summary. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2009. Available from: https://www2.gov.scot/resource/doc/277937/0083501.pdf

161 Transport Scotland. Local Bus Services in Scotland, op cit.

162 Rehfisch, A. Spice briefing: Transport (Scotland) Bill: Buses, op. cit.

163 Transform Scotland. Transport (Scotland) Bill. Evidence to Scottish Parliament, op. cit.

164 Transform Scotland. Local bus services in Scotland. Response to Scottish Government consultation

5 December 2017. Available from: http://transformscotland.org.uk/wp/wpcontent/uploads/2017/12/Local-Bus-Services-in-Scotland-Transform-Scotlandresponse-2017-12-05.pdf

165 For example, see plans for the Glasgow and Clyde Valley Green Network: https://www.gcvgreennetwork.gov.uk/

166 Scottish Natural Heritage: https://www.nature.scot/professional-advice/land-and-sea-management/managing-land/habitat-networks/types-network

167 Scottish Government. Planning Advice Note, PAN 65, op. cit.

168 Scottish Natural Heritage, 'Wayfinder Guide' to the preparation of Open Space Audits and Strategies. SNH, 2013. Available from:

https://www.nature.scot/sites/default/files/2019-

01/%E2%80%98Wayfinder%20Guide%27%20to%20the%20preparation%20of%20Open%20Space%20Audits%20and%20Strategies.pdf

169 Rehfisch A. Spice Briefing. Planning (Scotland) Bill, op. cit.

170 Scottish Government. Scottish Planning Policy. Scottish Government; 2014. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2014/06/scottish-planning-policy/documents/00453827-pdf/00453827-pdf/00453827-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00453827.pdf

171 Local Government and Planning (Scotland) Act 1982:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/43/section/14

172 House of Commons. Communities and Local Government Committee. Public parks. Seventh Report of Session, 2016–17. Available from:

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmcomloc/45/45.pdf 173 Scottish Parliament. Local government and communities committee agenda.

17th Meeting, 2018 (Session 5) Wednesday 23 May 2018. Available from:

http://www.parliament.scot/S5\_Local\_Gov/Meeting%20Papers/20180523\_MeetingPapers.pdf

174 Greenspace Scotland: https://www.greenspacescotland.org.uk/statistics 175 Edinburgh City Council:

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/5625/the\_value\_of\_city\_of\_edinburgh\_c ouncils\_parks

176 Heritage Lottery Fund: State of UK public parks, 2016. Available from: https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/sites/default/files/media/attachments/state\_of\_uk\_pu blic parks 2016 final for web%281%29.pdf

177 See: https://www.greenspacescotland.org.uk/Pages/Category/climate-resilience

178 See: https://www.greenspacescotland.org.uk/Pages/Category/health

179 See: https://www.greenspacescotland.org.uk/News/ground-breaking-atsaughton-park-for-micro-hydro-parkpower-project

180 See: https://www.greenspacescotland.org.uk/news/parkpower-is-rethinkingparks-project

181 See for example: https://www.greenspacescotland.org.uk/news/outdoornurseries-social-enterprise-fund-open-for-applications

182 See: https://www.nationaltrust.org.uk/features/our-vision-for-the-future-of-parks

183 See: https://www.edinburghlivinglab.org/blogposts/introducing-parklife

184 Scottish Natural Heritage. Local nature reserves in Scotland. A Guide to their Selection and Declaration. SNH, 2000. Available from:

https://www.nature.scot/sites/default/files/2017-07/A314445%20-

%20Local%20Nature%20Reserves%20in%20Scotland%20-

%20A%20guide%20to%20their%20selection%20and%20declaration%20-%20SNH%202000%232.pdf 185 Scottish Natural Heritage: https://www.nature.scot/professionaladvice/safeguarding-protected-areas-and-species/protected-areas/localdesignations/local-nature-reserves 186 Scottish Natural Heritage: https://www.nature.scot/professionaladvice/safeguarding-protected-areas-and-species/protected-areas/localdesignations/country-parks 187 Scottish Natural Heritage: https://www.nature.scot/professionaladvice/safeguarding-protected-areas-and-species/protected-areas/localdesignations/regional-parks 188 Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1997/8/section/160 189 Scottish Government. Scottish Planning Series: Planning Circular 1 2011: Tree Preservation Orders: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/corresponden ce/2011/02/scottish-planning-series-planning-circular-1-2011-tree-preservationorders/documents/0112643-pdf/0112643-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/0112643.pdf 190 Scottish Government. Scottish Planning Policy (2014), op. cit. 191 Scottish Natural Heritage and Historic Environment Scotland. DRAFT - Guidance on Local Landscape Areas. 2017. Available from: https://www.nature.scot/sites/default/files/2017-07/A2170571%20-%20Local%20Landscape%20Designations%20-%20consultation%20draft%20-%20published%2021%20December%202016%232.pdf 192 Scottish Natural Heritage: https://www.nature.scot/professionaladvice/safeguarding-protected-areas-and-species/protected-areas/localdesignations/local-nature-conservation-sites 193 Scottish Government. Scottish Planning Policy (2010), op. cit. 194 Scottish Government. Scottish Planning Policy (2014), op. cit. 195 Scottish Government. Conservation areas in Scotland: guide. 2005. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/guide-to-conservation-areas-in-scotland/ 196 Scottish Executive. A guide to conservation areas in Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-andguidance/2005/03/guide-to-conservation-areas-in-scotland/documents/045d3e05-8659-4c59-ad3b-1ef5b0b1964e/045d3e05-8659-4c59-ad3b-1ef5b0b1964e/govscot%3Adocument 197 Scottish Government. Scottish Planning Policy (2010), op, cit. 198 Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003. https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/2/contents 199 The Land of Scotland and the Common Good. Report of the Land Reform Review Group. 2014. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/progressreport/2014/05/land-reform-review-group-final-report-land-scotland-commongood/documents/00451087-pdf/00451087-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00451087.pdf 200 Countryside (Scotland) Act 1967: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1967/86/contents 201 Zero Waste Scotland. https://www.zerowastescotland.org.uk/litter-flytipping/prevention-action-plans 202 Scottish Government. Zero waste. Towards a litter free Scotland: A strategic approach to higher quality local environments. Edinburgh: Scottish Government, 2014. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategyplan/2014/06/towards-litter-free-scotland-strategic-approach-higher-guality-localenvironments/documents/00452542-pdf/00452542-

pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00452542.pdf

203 Keep Scotland Beautiful. Scotland's local environmental quality in decline. Keep Scotland Beautiful: 2016. Available from:

https://www.keepscotlandbeautiful.org/media/1560094/state-of-the-nation-final-100316-low-res.pdf

204 Keep Scotland Beautiful. Local environmental quality in decline: Further analysis by Keep Scotland Beautiful. Keep Scotland Beautiful: 2017. Available from:

https://www.keepscotlandbeautiful.org/media/1560107/leq-in-decline-report-oct-2017-final-131017.pdf

205 Zero Waste Scotland. Evidence Review of fly-tipping Behaviour. 2017. Available from:

https://www.zerowastescotland.org.uk/sites/default/files/Evidence%20Review%20of %20Flytipping%20Behaviour.pdf

206 Audit Scotland. Charging for services: are you getting it right? Audit Scotland, 2013. Available from: http://www.audit-

scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2013/nr\_131031\_hcw\_charging\_services.pdf 207 Scottish Government. Litter and fly-tipping:

https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Environment/waste-and-pollution/Waste-

1/whodoeswhat/SharedResponsibilities/Litterandfly-tipping

208 Zero Waste Scotland. Litter and fly-tipping legislation:

https://www.zerowastescotland.org.uk/litter-fly-tipping/legislation

209 Macnab, S. Fines fall as community wardens axed across Scotland. The Scotsman. 8 September 2018. Available from: https://www.pressreader.com/uk/the-scotsman/20180908/283523681735797

210 Tibbett, A. Thousands of Glaswegians let off with £1.5m in litter fines. The Ferret. 17 January 2019. Available from: https://theferret.scot/glasgow-litter-fine-unpaid/

211 Zero Waste Scotland. Litter and fly-tipping legislation, op. cit.

212 Scottish Government. Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse (Scotland) 2018. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2018. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2018/05/code-practice-litter-refuse-scotland-2018/documents/00535494-pdf/00535494-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00535494.pdf

213 BBC. Fly-tipping prosecutions fall by two-thirds in Scotland. 16th April 2019. Available from: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-scotland-business-47950036 214 Scottish Government. Illegal disposal of waste (fly-tipping) in Scotland: EIR release. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/foi-18-00357/

215 Zero Waste Scotland. Litter and fly-tipping legislation, op. cit.

216 Hirst D and Baker J. Dog Fouling. House of Commons Library. Debate pack.

Number CDP2017/0081, 10 March 2017. Available from:

http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CDP-2017-0081/CDP-2017-0081.pdf

217 Learmonth, A. How many dog poo fines did your council issue?. The National. 10th February 2018. Available from:

http://thenational.scot/news/15985521.How\_many\_dog\_poo\_fines\_did\_your\_council \_issue\_/

218 Scottish Executive. Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004: noise nuisance guidance. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive, 2004. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-andguidance/2004/10/antisocial-behaviour-etc-scotland-act-2004-guidance-noisenuisance/documents/0025278-pdf/0025278-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/0025278.pdf 219 Local Government and Planning (Scotland) Act 1982:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/43/contents

220 Scottish Parliament. Health and Sport Committee Report. 5th Report, 2009 (Session 3) Pathways into sport and physical activity. (Section four: local, integrated sports provision). Available from:

http://archive.scottish.parliament.uk/s3/committees/hs/reports-09/her09-05-00.htm 221 COSLA / Scottish Executive. Implementation of the national cultural strategy: guidance for Scottish local authorities. 2003. Available from:

https://www.webarchive.org.uk/wayback/archive/20180517062120/http://www.gov.sc ot/Publications/2003/03/16870/20684

222 Local Government etc. (Scotland) Act 1994:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1994/39/schedule/13/crossheading/the-local-government-and-planning-scotland-act-1982-c43

223 Local Government in Scotland Act 2003:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/1/section/20

224 Glasgow City Council. A Guide to Glasgow City Council's Statutory Duties and Powers, op. cit.

225 Scottish Government. Renewable and low carbon energy:

https://www.gov.scot/policies/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy/

226 Scottish Government. 2020 Routemap for Renewable Energy in Scotland.

Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2011. Available from:

https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/Doc/917/0118802.pdf

227 Webb, J. Improvising Innovation in UK Urban District Heating: the Convergence of Social and Environmental Agendas in Aberdeen. Energy Policy, vol. 78, 2015, pp. 265-272. Available from:

https://www.pure.ed.ac.uk/ws/files/25507664/REVISED\_Abd\_JEPO\_S\_14\_01332\_2.pdf

228 Karvonen, A. and Guy, S. Urban Energy Landscapes and the Rise of Heat Networks in the United Kingdom. Journal of Urban Technology, 2018: 25:4, 19-38. Available from:

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/10630732.2018.1463034?

229 District Heating Scotland: http://www.districtheatingscotland.com/

230 Scottish Government. Scotland's energy efficiency programme: second consultation on local heat and energy efficiency strategies and regulation of district and communal heating. Edinburgh: Scottish Government, 2017. Available from: https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/0052/00527606.pdf

231 Scottish Government. Scottish Planning Policy (2014), op. cit.

232. Scottish Government. Scotland heat map:

https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotland-heat-map-documents/ 233 See Highland heat map:

https://www.highland.gov.uk/info/1034/land\_and\_property/146/highland\_heat\_mapping\_project

234 Scottish Government. Energy Efficient Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2019. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/consultation-paper/2019/03/energy-efficient-scotland-consultation/documents/energy-efficient-scotland-consultation/documents/energy-efficient-scotland-

consultation/govscot%3Adocument/energy-efficient-scotland-consultation.pdf 235 Webb, op. cit.

236 District Heating Scotland: http://www.districtheatingscotland.com/technology/ 237 DECC. Research into barriers to deployment of district heating networks. London: DECC; 2013. Available from:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm ent\_data/file/191542/Barriers\_to\_deployment\_of\_district\_heating\_networks\_2204.pdf 238 Webb, op cit.

239 Karvonen and Guy, op. cit.

240 DECC. Allowing Local Authorities to Sell Electricity: Consultation on making regulations under The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and The Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973. DECC; 2010. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm ent\_data/file/42524/1225\_20100301120238\_e\_\_\_\_localautheleccondoc.pdf

241 Aberdeen Heat and Power: https://www.aberdeenheatandpower.co.uk/ 242 Webb op cit.

243 See: https://www.dundeecity.gov.uk/service-area/city-development/developmentmanagement/logie-conservation-area

244 Dundee City Council. District Heating Strategy 2018-2028. Available from: https://www.dundeecity.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/districtheating.pdf 245 COSLA, Scottish Futures Trust. Report on the Commercial Aspects of Local Authority Renewable Energy Production. 2011. Available from:

https://www.scottishfuturestrust.org.uk/storage/uploads/Commercial\_Aspects\_Local\_ Authority\_Renewable\_Energy\_Production\_Main\_Report.pdf

246 Usmani L. Community and locally owned renewable energy in Scotland at June 2017. A report by the Energy Saving Trust for the Scottish Government. Energy Saving Trust, 2017. Available from:

https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/Community%20and%20locall y%20owned%20renewable%20energy%20report%202018.PDF

247 Scottish Government. Policy in detail: Alcohol licensing:

https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Justice/policies/drugs-alcohol/alcohol-licensing 248 Scottish Government. Consultation on: Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 – Section 142

Draft Revised Guidance for Licensing Boards. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2019. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/consultation-paper/2019/03/consultation-licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-142-draft-revised-guidance-licensing-boards/documents/consultation-licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-142-draft-revised-guidance-licensing-boards/consultation-licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-142-draft-revised-guidance-licensing-boards/consultation-licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-142-draft-revised-guidance-licensing-boards/consultation-licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-142-draft-revised-guidance-licensing-boards/consultation-licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-142-draft-revised-guidance-licensing-boards/consultation-licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-142-draft-revised-guidance-licensing-boards/consultation-licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-142-draft-revised-guidance-licensing-

boards/govscot%3Adocument/consultation-licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-142draft-revised-guidance-licensing-boards.pdf

249 Scottish Parliament. Local government and communities committee agenda, 17th Meeting, 2018, op. cit.

250 Scottish Government. Consultation on: Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 – Section 142, op. cit.

251 Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2005/16/contents

252 Scottish Government. Consultation on: Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 – Section 142, op. cit

253 Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2005/16/contents

254 Scottish Government. Consultation on: Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 – Section 142, op. cit

255 Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2015/10/part/2/enacted

256 Scottish Government. Consultation on: Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 – Section 142, op. cit

257 Fitzgerald, N. Winterbottom, Jo and Nicholls, J. Democracy and power in alcohol premises licensing: A qualitative interview study of the Scottish public health objective. Drug and Alcohol Review. Volume37, Issue 5, July 2018 pp. 607-615.

Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/dar.12819

258 Wright, A. Local Alcohol Policy Implementation in Scotland: Understanding the Role of Accountability within Licensing. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2019, 16(11), 1880. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/16/11/1880/htm 259 Alcohol Focus Scotland. Taking Stock: Views and experiences of alcohol licensing in Scotland in 2016/17. Available from: https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/287034/Taking-Stock-Summary.pdf

260 Alcohol Focus Scotland. Review of Licensing Board Annual Functions Reports 2017-2018.

March 2019. Available from: https://www.alcohol-focus-

scotland.org.uk/media/310853/afs-annual-functions-report.pdf

261 Wright, op. cit.

262 Fitzgerald et al, op. cit.

263 Wright, op. cit.

264 Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2005/16/contents

265 Scottish Parliament. Local government and communities committee agenda, 17th Meeting, 2018, op. cit.

266 Scottish Government. Consultation on: Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 – Section 142, op. cit.

267 Scottish Government. Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 – section 142. Guidance for licensing boards. 2007. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-142-guidance-licensing-boards-local-authorities/pages/16/268 Scottish Parliament. Local government and communities committee agenda, 17th Meeting, 2018, op. cit.

269 Fitzgerald, N. Influencing the Implementation of a Public Health Objective in Scottish Alcohol Licensing: A Qualitative Interview Study – Summary Report. December 2015. Available from:

https://www.stir.ac.uk/media/stirling/services/faculties/sport-and-healthsciences/documents/Public-Hlth-Efforts-to-Influ-Alc-Licensing-in-Scot-A-Qual-Interview-Study.pdf

270 Fitzgerald et al, op. cit.

271 Alcohol Focus Scotland. Taking Stock: Views and experiences of alcohol licensing in Scotland in 2016/17. Available from: https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/287043/Taking-Stock-Report.pdf

272 Scottish Government. Consultation on: Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 – Section 142, op. cit.

273 Licensing (Scotland) Bill:

http://www.parliament.scot/S2\_Bills/Licensing%20(Scotland)%20Bill/b37s2-stage2.pdf

274 Scottish Government. Circular No. LJ/02/2014. Byelaws prohibiting the consumption of alcohol in designated public places. Available from: https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/0045/00457061.pdf

275 Glasgow City Council. A Guide to Glasgow City Council's Statutory Duties and Powers, op. cit.

276 Alcohol Prohibition Areas – Scotland: https://www.spatialhub.scot/get-data/ 277 Glasgow City Council. Byelaws:

https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=17749

278 Scottish Government. Consultation on: Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 – Section 142, op. cit.

279 Scottish Government. Consultation on: Update of The Licensing (Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2007. Edinburgh: Scottish Government, 2018. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/consultation-update-licensing-procedure-scotland-regulations-2007/

280 Gambling Commission. Guidance to licensing authorities 5th edition September 2015. Available from: http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/GLA5.pdf

281 City of Glasgow Licensing Board. Guidance on Undertaking Local Gambling Risk Assessments Gambling Act 2005. Available from:

https://glasgow.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=33599&p=0

282 Gambling Commission. Gambling Commission Advice Note. The Role of Authorised Persons – Scotland only. Available from:

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/The-role-of-authorised-persons-in-Scotland-advice-note.pdf

283 Cosla. Response to Gambling Commission's Consultation. Available from:

http://www.Cosla.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/19-03-08\_cwb\_item\_-

\_3.8\_response\_to\_gambling\_commission\_consultation.pdf

284 Gambling Commission. Gambling Commission Advice Note, op. cit. 285 Scottish Government. Planning and architecture:

https://www.gov.scot/policies/planning-architecture/development-plans/

286 Scottish Government. Scottish Planning Policy (2014), op, cit.

287 Scottish Government. Development management newsletter: February 2017. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/development-management-newsletter/

288 Scottish Statutory Instruments. 2016 No. 421. Town and Country Planning. Available from: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2016/421/pdfs/ssi\_20160421\_en.pdf 289 Scottish Government. Provisions for licensing of sexual entertainment venues and changes to licensing of theatres: guidance. Scottish Government: Edinburgh; 2019. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/guidance-provisionslicensing-sexual-entertainment-venues-changes-licensing-theatres/pages/1/ 290 Glasgow City Council. A Guide to Glasgow City Council's Statutory Duties and Powers. op. cit.

291 Berry, K. SPICe Briefing. Housing: Subject Profile. 5 December 2016. 16/96. Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament, 2016. Available from:

http://www.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefingsAndFactsheets/SB\_16-96 Housing Subject Profile.pdf

292 Accounts Commission. Housing in Scotland. Audit Scotland; 2013. Available from: http://www.audit-

scotland.gov.uk/docs/local/2013/nr\_130711\_housing\_overview.pdf

293 Scottish Government. Rent Pressure Zones:

https://beta.gov.scot/policies/private-renting/rent-pressure-zones/

294 Scottish Government. Rent Pressure Zone checker:

https://www.mygov.scot/rent-pressure-zone-checker/

295 Robertson D and Young G. An Evaluation of Rent Regulation Measures within Scotland's Private Rented Sector. A report to Shelter Scotland. Shelter; 2018. Available from:

https://scotland.shelter.org.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0011/1527590/Shelter\_RentRep ort\_May18\_screen3\_1.pdf/\_nocache

296 Scottish Government. Enhanced Enforcement Areas Scheme (Scotland) Regulations 2015 Local Authority guidance. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2017. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/guidance/201 7/03/enhanced-enforcement-areas-scheme-scotland-regulations-2015-local-

authority-guidance/documents/00514444-pdf/00514444-pdf/govscot%3Adocument 297 Glasgow City Council. Enhanced Enforcement Area (EEA):

https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=21862

298 Big Issue. Scottish council first to take homes out of hands of slum landlords. 25 March 2019. Available from: https://www.bigissue.com/latest/scottish-council-first-to-take-homes-out-of-hands-of-slum-landlords/

299 Scottish Land Commission. Compulsory Sales Orders. A Proposal from the Scottish Land Commission. 2018. Available from:

https://landcommission.gov.scot/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/CSO-Proposal-final.pdf

300 Scottish Government. Compulsory purchase orders: introduction: https://www.gov.scot/publications/compulsory-purchase-orders-introduction/ 301 Scottish Government. Confirming a compulsory purchase order. Procedural guidance for Scottish Government and its agencies. July 2018. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-andguidance/2018/07/confirming-compulsory-purchase-orders-proceduralguidance/documents/f1329c34-2363-46e7-906d-a761d0c0b6fe/f1329c34-2363-46e7-906da761d0c0b6fe/govscot%3Adocument/Procedural%2Bguidance%2Bon%2Bconfirmin g%2Ba%2BCPO.pdf 302 Scottish Land Commission, op. cit. 303 Scottish Government. Housing statistics 2018: key trends summary: https://www.gov.scot/publications/housing-statistics-scotland-2018-key-trendssummary/pages/5/ 304 Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2004/8/part/8 305 Scottish Government. Landlord Registration Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2017. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-andguidance/2017/09/landlord-registration-statutory-guidance-local-authorities-2017statutory-guidance-local/documents/00524140-pdf/00524140pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00524140.pdf 306 Scottish Executive. Guide to the Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive, 2014. https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-andguidance/2004/10/guide-antisocial-behaviour-etc-scotland-act-2004/documents/0025272-pdf/0025272-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/0025272.pdf 307 Scottish Government. The repairing standard: https://www.gov.scot/publications/repairing-standard/ 308 Scottish Government. Landlord Registration Statutory Guidance, op. cit. 309 Housing (Scotland) Act 2014: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2014/14/section/25 310 Housing (Scotland) Act 2006: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2006/1/section/50 311 Scottish Government. Implementing the Housing (Scotland) Act 2006, Parts 1 and 2. Advisory Guidance for Local Authorities Volume 2. Housing Renewal Areas and Repair, Improvement and Demolition. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2009. Available from: https://www2.gov.scot/Publications/2009/03/25154921/4 312 Building (Scotland) Act 2003: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/8/part/4 313 Private Rented Housing (Scotland) Act 2011: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2011/14/contents 314 Citizens Advice Scotland. House repairs: statutory notices and orders: https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/scotland/housing/repairs-and-improvementss/house-repairs-statutory-notices-and-orders/ 315 Scottish Government. Housing Statistics for Scotland - Scheme of Assistance: https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Statistics/Browse/Housing-Regeneration/HSfS/SoA 316 Edinburgh City Council. Stair Lighting - Frequently Asked Questions and Answers: http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/8106/stair lighting fags and a nswers.pdf 317 Occupiers' Liability (Scotland) Act 1960 :

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Eliz2/8-9/30/contents

318 Edinburgh City Council: https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/stairlighting

319 Scottish Government. Local housing strategy guidance. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2014. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2014/08/local-housing-strategy-guidance/documents/00458185-pdf/00458185-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00458185.pdf

320 Scottish Government. Scottish Planning Policy (2014), op, cit.

321 Scottish Government. Planning Advice Note PAN 2/2010. Affordable housing and housing land audits. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2010. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-andguidance/2010/08/planning-advice-note-2-2010-affordable-housing-housing-landaudits/documents/0103970-pdf/0103970-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/0103970.pdf 322 Shiel, L. and Battye, J. Planning to meet the need: Delivering affordable housing through the planning system in Scotland. Shelter Scotland, 2014. Available from: https://scotland.shelter.org.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0011/794639/Planning\_to\_meet the need.pdf/ nocache

323 Scottish Government. Planning Advice Note PAN 2/2010, op. cit.

324 Homes for Scotland. Delivering More Homes for Scotland: barriers and solutions. Available from:

https://www.homesforscotland.com/Portals/HomesForScotland/Publications/HFS%20 Solutions%20Paper.pdf

325 Scottish Government. Licensing multiple occupied housing: statutory guidance for Scottish local authorities. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2012. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/licensing-multiple-occupied-housing-statutory-guidance-for-scottish-local-authorities/

326 Shelter Legal. Local authority powers in relation to HMOs:

http://scotland.shelter.org.uk/legal/security\_of\_tenure/houses\_in\_multiple\_occupation /local\_authority\_powers\_in\_relation\_to\_hmos\_post\_august\_2011

327 Scottish Government. Revised supplementary guidance on Local Authority discretion to reduce council tax discount on second and long term unoccupied homes; and apply an increase to long term unoccupied homes. 2018. Available via: https://www.gov.scot/publications/council-tax-on-second-and-long-term-unoccupied-homes-guidance/

328 Scottish Government. Council tax: https://www.gov.scot/policies/local-government/council-tax/

329 Scottish Government. Beyond the School Gate. Improving food choices in the school community. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2014. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2014/06/beyond-school-gate-improving-food-choices-school-

community/documents/beyond-school-gate-improving-food-choices-schoolcommunity/beyond-school-gate-improving-food-choices-school-

community/govscot%3Adocument

330 Scottish Government. Scottish Planning Policy (2014), op, cit.

331 Scottish Government. Research Project: To Explore the Relationship Between the Food Environment and the Planning System. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2018. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/research-andanalysis/2018/11/research-project-explore-relationship-between-food-environmentplanning-system/documents/00543003-pdf/00543003-pdf/govscot%3Adocument 332 Scottish Government. Beyond the School Gate. Op cit.

333 Scottish Legal News. Burger vans win fight against council to trade near schools. 3 December 2015. Available from: https://www.scottishlegal.com/article/burger-vanswin-fight-against-council-to-trade-near-schools

334 Food (Scotland) Act 2015:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2015/1/contents/enacted

335 Food (Scotland) Bill, explanatory notes:

http://www.parliament.scot/S4\_Bills/Food%20(Scotland)%20Bill/b48s4-introd-en.pdf

336 The Food Hygiene (Scotland) Regulations 2006:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2006/3/contents/made

337 The Novel Foods (Scotland) Regulations 2017:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2017/415/contents/made

338 Conway, L. House of Commons Library. Consumer Protection from Unfair Trading Regulations 2008. Briefing Paper. Number CBP 4678, 16 May 2017:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2008/1277/contents/made

339 See: https://www.food.gov.uk/about-us/key-regulations

340 Food Standards Agency. The Food Safety Act 1990. A guide for food businesses. Available from:

https://www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/media/document/Food%20standards%20s afety%20act%201990%20PDF.pdf

341 Glasgow City Council. A Guide to Glasgow City Council's Statutory Duties and Powers, op. cit.

342 Robertson, D. Regeneration and poverty in Scotland: Evidence and policy review. Sheffield Hallam University, Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research, 2014. Available from:

https://www4.shu.ac.uk/research/cresr/sites/shu.ac.uk/files/jrf-regeneration-poverty-scotland.pdf

343 Christie, L. Gibb, K. McGregor, A and McTier A. What Works Scotland. Economic Regeneration in Scotland

Past Lessons; Current Practice; Future Challenges: A Report for What Works Scotland. What Works Scotland, 2017. Available from:

http://whatworksscotland.ac.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2017/08/WWSEconomicRegenerationinScotlandLessonsPracticeCh allenges.pdf

344 Audit Scotland. The role of community planning partnerships in economic development. Audit Scotland, 2011. Available from:

http://www.audit-

scotland.gov.uk/docs/central/2011/nr\_111103\_community\_planning\_km\_bw.pdf 345 Improvement Service. Economic Outcomes Programme Overview Report: Leveraging Council Resources for Increased Economic Impact. Livingston: Improvement Service, 2018. Available from:

http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/documents/econdev/eop-overview-report-aug18.pdf

346 Scottish Government. City Region Deals: https://www.gov.scot/policies/cities-regions/city-region-deals/

347 Scottish Government. Enterprise and skills review: report on phase 2 regional partnerships. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/enterprise-skills-review-report-phase-2-regional-partnerships/

348 McGuire, A. Scottish Local Authorities' Economic Development. Improvement Guide. Livingston: Improvement Service; 2011. Available from:

http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/documents/econdev/slaed%20main%20report%20email%20version.pdf

349 Improvement Service. Economic Outcomes Programme Overview Report, op. cit.

350 COSLA. Guidance to support delivery of the Living Wage Commitment to Care at Home and Housing Support. Available from:

http://www.Cosla.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/joint\_guidance\_to\_support\_delivery\_of\_the\_living\_wage\_-\_scottish\_governm....pdf

351 Scottish Living Wage: https://scottishlivingwage.org/

352 Glasgow Living Wage:

https://www.glasgowlivingwage.co.uk/index.aspx?articleid=1835

353 Danson, et al op. cit.

354 Ibid.

355 Improvement Service. Economic Outcomes Programme Overview Report op. cit. 356 Audit Scotland. Procurement in councils. Audit Scotland, 2014. Available from: http://www.audit-

scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2014/nr\_140424\_procurement\_councils.pdf 357 Scottish Government. Scottish Public Finance Manual:

https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-public-finance-manual/best-value/best-value/

358 Ishaq, M. Gibb, S and Hussain AM. Scotland's local authorities: still 'bastions of decent work'?. Decent Work in Scotland: Thematic Report No 4. Available from: http://uwsoxfampartnership.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Decent-Work-in-LA-No-4-Booklet.pdf

359 Manley, J. Local democracy with attitude: the Preston model and how it can reduce inequality. Available from: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/local-democracy-with-attitude-the-preston-model/

360 Centre for Local Economic Strategies: https://cles.org.uk/the-preston-model/ 361 Preston City Council: https://www.preston.gov.uk/thecouncil/the-prestonmodel/preston-model/

362 Chakrabortty, A. In an era of brutal cuts, one ordinary place has the imagination to fight back. The Guardian. 6 March 2019. Available from:

https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2019/mar/06/brutal-cuts-fight-back-preston-dragons-den

363 Baqueriza-Jackson, M. Procure final report: How we spend public money can make a difference. URBACT, 2018. Available from:

https://urbact.eu/sites/default/files/media/procure\_final\_report.pdf

364 Sutherland V, McTier A and McGregor A. Analysis of the impact and value of community benefit clauses in procurement: final report. June 2015. TERU, University of Glasgow; 2015. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/research-and-analysis/2015/06/analysis-impact-value-community-benefit-clauses-

procurement/documents/analysis-impact-value-community-benefit-clausesprocurement-final-report-june-2015/analysis-impact-value-community-benefitclauses-procurement-final-report-june-2015/govscot%3Adocument/00480510.pdf 365 Scottish Government. Changes to Scotland's Public Procurement Legislation frequently asked questions (FAQS). Available from:

https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Government/Procurement/policy/ProcurementReform/procurementlegislationfaqs

366 Improvement service. Community benefit clauses – report, 2013. Available from: http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/documents/econdev/CBC%20Summary.pdf 367 Scottish Government. Guidance under the Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2016.

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2016/03/guidance-under-procurement-reform-scotland-act-

2014/documents/00496919-pdf/00496919-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00496919.pdf 368 Sutherland et al op. cit.

369 Scottish Government. Annual report on procurement activity in Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2019. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/publication/20 19/04/annual-report-procurement-activity-scotland-2019/documents/annual-reportprocurement-activity-scotland/annual-report-procurement-activity-

scotland/govscot%3Adocument/annual-report-procurement-activity-scotland.pdf 370 Improvement Service. Economic Outcomes Programme Overview Report, op. cit.

371 The Public Contracts (Scotland) Regulations 2015. Available from: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2015/446/contents

372 Scottish Government. Reserving contracts for supported businesses: SPPN 04/2017: https://www.gov.scot/publications/reserving-contracts-for-supported-businesses-sppn-042017/

373 Scottish Government. Guidance under the Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014, op. cit.

374 Scottish Government. Statutory Guidance on the Selection of Tenderers and Award of Contracts Addressing Fair Work Practices, including the Living Wage, in Procurement. Scottish Government; 2015. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/guidance/201 5/10/statutory-guidance-selection-tenderers-award-contracts-addressing-fair-workpractices/documents/00486741-pdf/00486741-pdf/govscot%3Adocument

375 Scottish Government. Addressing fair work practices, including the real living wage, in procurement: best practice. Scottish Government; 2015. Available from: Edinburgh:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/guidance/201 8/07/addressing-fair-work-practices-including-real-living-wage-procurementbest/documents/00537973-pdf/00537973-pdf/govscot%3Adocument

376 Scottish Government. Best Start Grant: https://www.gov.scot/policies/social-security/best-start-grant/

377 Glasgow City Council. New Birth Registration Scheme Makes it Easier for Babies to Have the Best Start: https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/article/24122/New-Birth-Registration-Scheme-Makes-it-Easier-for-Babies-to-Have-the-Best-Start

378 Scottish Government. School Clothing Grant: https://news.gov.scot/news/schoolclothing-grant

379 School clothing grant minimum set at £100. BBC. 25 May 2018. Available from: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-44257672

380 Scottish Government. Scottish welfare Fund:

https://www.gov.scot/policies/social-security/income-related-benefits/

381 Scottish Government. Scottish Welfare Fund Statistics: Update to 31 December

2018. Available from; https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/0054/00547198.pdf

382 Scottish Government. Discretionary Housing Payments:

https://www.gov.scot/policies/social-security/support-with-housing-

costs/#discretionary-housing-payments

383 Scottish Government. Discretionary Housing Payments in Scotland: as at 30 September 2018: https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/0054/00543743.pdf

384 Explanatory notes. Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014 (asp 8):

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2014/8/pdfs/aspen\_20140008\_en.pdf

385 Scottish Government. Free school meals:

https://www.gov.scot/policies/maternal-and-child-health/free-school-meals/ 386 Education (Scotland) Act 2016:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2016/8/section/22/enacted

387 McIvor, J. Glasgow City Council agrees free school meals for P4 children. BBC. 22 February 2018. https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-scotland-politics-43141802

388 North Lanarkshire Council. 365 club:

https://www.northlanarkshire.gov.uk/club365

389 Scottish Government. Schools (Health Promotion and Nutrition) Scotland Act. Health promotion guidance for local authorities and schools. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-andguidance/2008/05/schools-health-promotion-nutrition-scotland-act-health-promotionguidance-local/documents/0059811-pdf/0059811-pdf/govscot%3Adocument 390 Citizens Advice Bureau. Help with school costs:

https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/scotland/family/education/school-and-pre-school-education-s/help-with-school-costs-s/#h-school-transport

391 Education (Scotland) Act 1980:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1980/44/section/51

392 Free school transport: https://www.mygov.scot/free-school-transport/

393 Scottish Government. Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014 Early Learning and Childcare Statutory Guidance. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2014. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2014/08/early-learning-childcare-statutory-guidance/documents/00457025-pdf/00457025-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00457025.pdf

394 Wane, K. SPICe Briefing. The expansion of early learning and childcare. Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament, 2019. Available from: https://sp-bpr-en-prodcdnep.azureedge.net/published/2019/4/16/The-expansion-of-early-learning-andchildcare/SB%2019-20.pdf

395 Audit Scotland. Early learning and childcare. Audit Scotland, 2018. Available from: http://www.audit-

scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr\_180215\_early\_learning.pdf 396 Scottish Government. Supporting Children's Learning: Statutory Guidance on the Education (Additional Support for Learning) Scotland Act 2004 (as amended) Code of Practice (Third Edition) 2017. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2017/12/supporting-childrens-learning-statutory-guidance-education-additional-support-learning-scotland/documents/00529411-pdf/00529411-pdf/00529411-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00529411.pdf

397 Public Health etc. (Scotland) Act 2008, explanatory notes:

https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/0039/00398168.pdf

398 Scottish Government. Children and young people (Scotland) Act 2014. Guidance on Part 10: Aftercare. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2016. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-andguidance/2016/11/guidance-part-10-aftercare-children-young-people-scotland-act-2014/documents/00509198-pdf/00509198-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00509198.pdf 399 Scottish Government. Included, engaged and involved, part 1: attendance in Scottish schools. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2007. Available from https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-

guidance/2007/12/included-engaged-involved-part-1-attendance-scottish-

schools/documents/0054747-pdf/0054747-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/0054747.pdf 400 Scottish Government. Carers (Scotland) Act 2016:

https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Support-Social-Care/Unpaid-

Carers/Implementation/Carers-scotland-act-2016

401 Carers (Scotland) Act 2016: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2016/9/section/24 402 Scottish Government. Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 Statutory Guidance.

Edinburgh: Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2018. Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2018/03/carers-scotland-act-2016-statutory-

guidance/documents/00533009-pdf/00533009-

pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00533009.pdf

403 Clean Air Act 1993: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1993/11/part/III

404 Smoke Control Areas – Scotland: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/5ca1b9be-d2ae-4525-b2ed-1a32f21fcc9a/smoke-control-areas-scotland

405 House of Commons. Communities and Local Government. The Provision of Public Toilets. Twelfth Report of Session 2007–08. Available from:

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200708/cmselect/cmcomloc/636/636.pdf 406 Community Ownership Support Service. Public Toilets – How communities are responding to the closure of public toilets. The real cost of spending a penny. Edinburgh: Community Ownership Support Service; 2018. Available from: https://dtascommunityownership.org.uk/sites/default/files/Public%20Toilet%20Publica tion%20Final.pdf

407 Scottish Government. Review of Marches and Parades In Scotland: Guidance for Scottish Local Authorities. Available from:

https://www2.gov.scot/Publications/2006/12/06144351/5

408 Glasgow City Council, A Guide to Glasgow City Council's Statutory Duties and Powers, op. cit.

409 Ibid.



For further information contact:

**ScotPHN** c/o NHS Health Scotland **Meridian Court 5 Cadogan Street** Glasgow G2 6QE

Email: nhs.healthscotland-scotphn@nhs.net Web: www.scotphn.net Twitter: @NHS\_ScotPHN